
 1

 

 
 
 

Board Meeting Agenda 
 
 

Russ Baggerly, Director 
Mary Bergen, Director 
Bill Hicks, Director 

Pete Kaiser, Director 
James Word, Director 

 
 

CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
September 12, 2012 

3:00 P.M. – DISTRICT OFFICE 
 

Right to be heard:  Members of the public have a right to address the Board directly on any 
item of interest to the public which is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the Board.  The 
request to be heard should be made immediately before the Board's consideration of the item. 
No action shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda unless the action is 
otherwise authorized by subdivision (b) of  ¶54954.2 of the Government Code and except that 
members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly respond to statements made or questions 
posed by persons exercising their public testimony rights under section 54954.3 of the 
Government Code. 

 
 

1. Public Comments 
     
2. General Manager comments.   
 
3. Board of Director comments. 

 
4. Consent Agenda 
 

a. Minutes of the August 6, 2012 Board Meeting. 
b. Recommend approval of a purchase order to C.D. Lyon 

Construction, Inc. in the amount of $25,800.00 for the 
refurbishment of Casitas Dam’s #9 intake screen and articulating 
cart. 

c. Resolution authorizing the agreement with United States Geological 
Survey for the Cooperative Stream Gaging Program. 

d. Recommend approval of a purchase order to Travis Agriculture 
Construction, Inc. in the amount of $24,250.00 to install temporary 
tanks and piping. 
 

  RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt Consent Agenda 
 
5. Bills 
 
 
 
 



 2

6. Committee/Manager Reports 
 

a. Executive Committee Minutes 
b. Recreation Committee Minutes 
c. Water Resources Committee Minutes 
d. Finance Committee Minutes 

 
7. Presentation of plans for renovation of the Bait & Tackle building by Gary 

Wolfe and recommend approval of concept plan. 
 
  RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Motion approving concept plan. 
 
8. Resolution approving a grant from California Department of Boating & 

Waterways for $15,000.00 in miscellaneous equipment for the Rogue 
Patrol Boat. 

 
  RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Adopt Resolution 
 
9. Recommend approval of the Lake Casitas Recreation Pest Management 

Plan. 
 
  RECOMMENDED ACTION:  Motion approving recommendation 
 

Recess Casitas Board Meeting 
 
10. Lake Casitas Improvement Foundation Meeting 
 
 a. Review of the Treasurer’s report. 

b. Recommend allocation of funds in the amount of $4,205.00 to be 
used to supplement the 2012/2013 purchase of trout. 

 
Reconvene Casitas Board Meeting 

 
11. Recommend approval of revisions to the Business Ordinance to include a 

policy on the use of credit cards. 
 
  RECOMMENDED ACTION: Adopt Ordinance 
 
12. Presentation and discussion on the 2011 Fisheries Report. 
 
13. Discussion regarding the State Regional Water Quality Control Board 

Ventura River TMDL and impairments. 
 
  RECOMMENDED ACTION: Direction to Staff 
 
 
 
 



 3

14. Information Items: 
 

a. Monthly Cost Analysis for operation of Robles, fisheries and fish 
passage. 

b. Casitas Reservoir Water Inventory Summary. 
c. Lake Casitas Storage Volume Comparison. 
d. Recreation Area Report for July.  
e. News articles are available at the District Office. 
f. Investment Report. 

 

15. Adjournment  
 

If you require special accommodations for attendance at or participation in this 
meeting, please notify our office 24 hours in advance at (805) 649-2251, ext. 
113.  (Govt. Code Section 54954.1 and 54954.2(a). 



 1

Minutes of the Casitas Municipal Water District 
Board Meeting Held 

August 6, 2012 
 

 A special meeting of the Board of Directors was held August 6, 2012 at 
Casitas' Office, Oak View, California.  Directors Baggerly, Word, Hicks, Bergen 
and Kaiser were present. Also present were Steve Wickstrum, General Manager, 
Rebekah Vieira, Clerk of the Board, and Attorney, John Mathews.  There was 
one staff member and no members of the public in attendance.  President 
Baggerly led the group in the flag salute. 
 

1. Public Comments 
 

None 
     
2. General Manager comments.   
 

Mr. Wickstrum reported on the incident near Lake Casitas.  Staff worked 
well coordinating and doing things or not doing things as requested by the 
Sheriff’s department. It was resolved with the individual by 2:30 that afternoon.  
Our staff worked well and in coordination with Command Center.   

 
Mr. Wickstrum informed the board of his attendance at a meeting with 

LARWCB regarding TMDL and pumping in the Ventura River.  The meeting is on 
the 15th from 1 – 3:30. 
 
3. Board of Director comments. 
 

President Baggerly asked about the siren. Mr. Wickstrum explained the 
issue was resolved.  We received a complaint from a gentleman who wanted the 
sirens to stop.  Every night at dusk he would hear sirens in the Foster Park area.  
It turns out that our staff decided that they would drive the boat around the lake 
and turn on the siren. I’ve asked that they take the trip around the lake without 
the siren.  
 
 Director Hicks mentioned he attended the Tri County Fish meeting and I 
can see why the Federal government is broke.  There were about 40 people 
working for the State and Feds around the table.  I don’t think we did anything in 
2.5 hours.  They are kicking around making us put a fish ladder around the dam.  
Mr. Wickstrum added that is right out of the steelhead recovery plan. Director 
Bergen asked what the meeting objective is.  Mr. Wickstrum replied they were 
discussing the implementation of the Steelhead Recovery Plan.  
 
4. Consent Agenda       ADOPTED 
 

a. Minutes of the July 25, 2012 Board Meeting. 
b. Resolution approving agreement with Ernst & Young for audit 

services for State Water Project. 



 2

c. Recommend approval of a purchase order to Aqua Metric for 
$191,843.44 for the purchase of 1,325 Sensus Technology meter 
transducer units for upgrading of meter registers. 

d. Recommend approval of a purchase order to Harrington Industrial 
Plastics in a not to exceed amount of $144,071.58 for the purchase 
and delivery of sixteen 12,500 gallon plastic tanks. 

 
 The consent agenda was offered by Director Word, seconded by Director 
Hicks and passed by the following roll call vote: 
 

AYES: Directors: Kaiser, Bergen, Hicks, Word, Baggerly  
  NOES: Directors: None 
  ABSENT: Directors: None 
 
  Resolution is numbered 12-30. 
 
5. Bills        APPROVED 
 

Director Hicks questioned #02325 for electro fishing survey.  Mr. 
Wickstrum explained that this was several months ago while Scott was applying 
for permits for electro shocking for tagging fish.  Fish & Wildlife Service stopped 
everything to determine the effect on red legged frogs.     The mini study we did 
shows there are no impacts to the frogs relative to the electro shocking.   
 
 On the motion of Director Hicks, seconded by Director Bergen and 
passed, the bills were approved. 
 
6. Committee/Manager Reports   APPROVED FOR FILING 
 

a. Executive Committee Minutes 
 

On the motion of Director Word, seconded by Director Bergen and 
passed, the Committee/Manager Reports were approved for filing. 
 
7. Discussion regarding Ventura LAFCo ballot and selection of a candidate 

to support.        APPROVED 
 
 On the motion of President Baggerly, seconded by Director Word and 
passed the Board decided to nominate Marianne Rooney. 
 
8. Discussion regarding the funding request of the Ventura County 

Watershed Protection District regarding the San Antonio Creek Spreading 
Grounds Rehabilitation Project. 

   
President Baggerly informed the board that this started out to be a good 

idea and it was a favorite project but to get it approved it had to go through a lot 
of permitting and it was determined it needed a well and a streambed alteration 
agreement.  It was difficult and costly.  The amount of water that could be 



 3

injected into the aquifer was reduced down to 120 acre feet per year.  The cost of 
the project for the amount of water you will get makes it almost useless.  Director 
Word added the bids received are considerably over the estimate. President 
Baggerly added there is not enough left in the grant to pay for the whole project.   
Casitas is on line for $15,000 a year for maintenance.  They asked if we wanted 
to provide more money.  They are almost $500,000 short.  Director Bergen 
added the models are pitiful.  They have to put in a fish screen and an automated 
intake structure.  The operation will be a nightmare.  
 
 On the motion of Director Word, seconded by Director Hicks and passed 
the Board determined that Casitas is not interested in investing in the request for 
additional funding for this project. 
 
9. Information Items: 
 

a. Monthly Cost Analysis for operation of Robles, fisheries and fish 
passage 

b. Memo from General Manager regarding his attendance at the 
CSDA General Manager Leadership Summit. 

c. News articles. 
d. Investment Report 

 
 President Baggerly moved the meeting to closed session at 3:36 p.m. 
 
10. Closed Session 
 

a. (Govt. Code Sec. 54956.9 (a)) 
  Conference with Legal Counsel – Existing Litigation 

Name of Case: Stanley Revell vs. Roger Herbison, Lake Casitas 
Marina, Inc, and Casitas Municipal Water District  

  Case No. 56-2012-00415946-CU-PO-VTA  
 

President Baggerly moved the meeting back to open session at 3:43 p.m. 
and Mr. Mathews reported that staff was provided an update on the case and 
reported a demurrer on behalf of the district was granted to the district without 
leave to amend. 
 
11. Adjournment  

 
President Baggerly adjourned the meeting at 3:44 p.m. 
 
 
     ___________________________ 
     Bill Hicks, Secretary 
 



 1

CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO:  GENERAL MANAGER 

FROM: TREATMENT PLANT MANAGER 

SUBJECT: CASITAS DAM INTAKE GATE #9  REFURBISHMENT 

DATE:  SEPTEMBER 4, 2012  

 

 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that the General Manager approve a purchase order for C.D. Lyon Construction, Inc. in 
the amount of $25,800.00 for the refurbishment of Casitas Dam’s #9 intake screen and articulating cart. 
 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 
 
The FY 2012/13 budget contains funds in the amount of $30,000.000 for the refurbishment of an intake 
screen and associated articulating cart on Casitas Dam’s intake structure.  
 
A job walk was conducted and three contractors attended.   Only one firm submitted a bid.  It was 
indicated that the specification requirement for offsite blasting and coating was the reason for the two 
“decline to bid” responses.  The offsite blasting and coating requirement addresses red lead primer issues. 
  
 
 
C.D. Lyon Construction, Inc.             Joaquin Silva                   $25,800.00 
PO Box 1456  
Ventura, Ca  93002 
 
 
Clark Engineering                               Tomo Cuzic                  Decline to bid 
2235 N. Ventura Ave 
Ventura, Ca  93001 
 
 
West Coast Welding                          Randy Mock                  Decline to bid 
2201 Celsius Ave 
Oxnard, Ca   
 
 
 
 
 



U:\Management\Agendas\Board meetings\2012\09-12-12\STREAMEM.2012-13.doc 

 CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 Interdepartmental Memorandum 
 
DATE:  August 30, 2012 
 
TO:   Steven E. Wickstrum, 
   General Manager 
 
FROM:  Neil Cole, 
   Principal Civil Engineer 
 
SUBJECT:  USGS-CMWD Cooperative Stream Gaging Program for November 1, 

2012 to October 31, 2013 - Ventura River near Ventura Gaging Station 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve continuing the cooperative stream gaging 
program with the U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) for the Ventura River near Ventura station and 
adopt the resolution. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
Since 1961 Casitas and the USGS have maintained agreements for the USGS operation of various 
stream and reservoir gaging stations within the District.  In 1988, Casitas assumed the operation of 
all subject stations, with the exception of the Ventura River near Ventura gaging station that is 
located near the Foster Park Bridge.  The USGS has reliably provided Casitas, City of Ventura and 
Ventura County with information gathered from this key gaging station. 
 
Attached is a letter from the U.S. Geological Survey dated August 9, 2012 that outlines the 
proposed source of funding for the gaging station program.  The local cost share portion of the 
agreement remains at $13,550 for the 2012-13 water year.  The City of San Buenaventura (Ventura) 
and Ventura County Watershed Protection District (VCWPD) will continue to be partners with 
Casitas and divide this cost equally.  The actual cost to Casitas will be $4517. 
 
USGS has provided two copies of a Joint Funding Agreement for Casitas to sign and return.   
 
 
 
Attachment – USGS letter and Joint Funding Agreement 
           











 

CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 
 
 

RESOLUTION DIRECTING EXECUTION OF A 
JOINT FUNDING AGREEMENT BETWEEN 

UNITED STATES GEOLOGICAL SURVEY AND 
CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 

 
 

WHEREAS, Casitas Municipal Water District and the U.S. Geological Survey, U.S. 
Department of the Interior, have previously entered into a cooperative agreement involving 
matching funds covering the operation and maintenance of a certain stream gaging stations in the 
Ventura River watershed;  and 
 

WHEREAS, it is desirable that arrangements for the U.S. Geological Survey to perform 
the operation and maintenance of the Ventura River near Ventura stream gaging station during 
the November 1, 2012 to October 31, 2013 period;  and 
 

WHEREAS, the U.S. Geological Survey has indicated that subject to the availability of 
Federal matching funds, the U.S. Geological Survey will provide $6,850 in funds;  and 

 
Whereas, Casitas Municipal Water District’s cost to have the U.S. Geological Survey 

operate and maintain the Ventura River near Ventura stream gaging station during the November 
1, 2012 to October 31, 2013 period will remain the same as last year at $13,550; and 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Casitas 
Municipal Water District that the General Manager is hereby authorized and directed on behalf 
of Casitas to sign the Joint Funding Agreement in the form provided by the U.S. Geological 
Survey, and request continuation of said cooperative arrangements during the period November 
1, 2012 through October 31, 2013 at a fixed total cost of $13,550 to Casitas.  Further, direct staff 
to seek reimbursement of two-thirds of the $13,550 upon receipt of the billing from the U.S. 
Geological Survey. 

 
 

ADOPTED this                                day of                                                            , 2012. 
 

__________________________________ 
    Russ Baggerly, President                               
    Casitas Municipal Water District 

ATTEST: 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Bill Hicks, Secretary 
Casitas Municipal Water District 
 
 



CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
INTEROFFICE MEMORANDUM 

TO:  STEVEN E. WICKSTRUM, GENERAL MANAGER 

FROM: NEIL COLE, CIVIL ENGINEER 

SUBJECT: AUTHORIZE THE GENERAL MANAGER TO SIGN A PURCHASE ORDER 
WITH TRAVIS AGRICULTURAL CONSTRUCTION, INC TO INSTALL 
TEMPORARY TANKS AND PIPING 

DATE: SEPTEMBER 5, 2012 

 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors authorize the General Manager to sign a purchase 
order with Travis Agricultural Construction of Ventura for a not to exceed amount of $24,250.00 
to install temporary tanks and piping at the Upper Ojai Reservoir site. 
 
BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION: 
 
Casitas has been in the process of completing interior repairs and coating for all of the steel 
reservoirs in the system.  The reservoirs completed to date have all been sites with two 
reservoirs.  This has allowed one reservoir to remain operational while the repairs and coating 
were completed.  All of the reservoirs on two reservoir sites have been repaired and their 
interiors coated. 
 
Casitas has five reservoir locations with only one reservoir.  It is now time to begin repairing and 
coating the interior of the single reservoir sites.  Upper Ojai Reservoir is schedule for repair and 
coating in this fiscal year. Upper Ojai Reservoir will be the first single reservoir site completed.  
 
Temporary water storage is required to allow the reservoir to be out of service while the interior 
repairs and coating are completed.  Sixteen 12,500 gallon plastic tanks are proposed to provide 
the temporary storage.  The Board has previously authorized the purchase of the tanks.  Casitas 
has ordered the pipe and valve materials necessary to connect the temporary tanks to the system. 
 This project will set the temporary tanks in the proper location and install all of the Casitas 
supplied material. 
 
Request for proposals were sent to six firms. Three firms submitted proposals.   
 
Firm Bid price 
Travis Agricultural 
Construction 

$24,250.00 

SH Construction $33,556.00 



Toro Enterprises $44,240.00 
 
Travis Agricultural Construction has successfully completed projects for Casitas in the past. 
 
FUNDING: 
 
Funding for this work is included in the FY 2012-13 Capital Budget under the Upper Ojai 
Reservoir Structural Repair Project.   
 
 
 

















































































CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
                                                Inter-Office Memorandum 
 
DATE:  September 5, 2012 
 
TO:         Board of Directors 
 
FROM: General Manager, Steve Wickstrum 
 
Re:  Executive Committee Meeting of September 5, 2012  
          
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors receive and file this report. 
 
MEETING:    

 

1. Roll Call.  Directors Baggerly and Word 
 General Manager Steve Wickstrum  

 
2. Public Comments.  None. 
 
3. Board/Manager comments.   

Director asked that the Executive meeting of October 2nd be moved to October 
9th.  The Committee agreed to this change. 
 
The General Manager commented on the recent meeting with the State Regional 
Water Quality Control Board concerning the upcoming decisions on the pumping 
and diversion TMDL.  It was suggested that a letter be written with respect to 
historical patterns of Ventura River Reach 4 (Matilija Dam to Foster Park) in 
reconsideration of developing a decision by the State Regional Water Quality 
Control Board. 
 

4. Update on State Water.  
The General Manager is continuing to investigate alternatives for its allocation of 
State Water.  The Department of Water Resources and State Water Contractors 
are attempting to develop language for alternatives that may be applicable to 
Casitas.  The State Water Contractors are proposing an alternative market-price 
based turn-back pool that would allow agreements for a two-year sale of water.  
This proposal is under further refinement before it is presented to the SWC Board 
and the Department of Water Resources.  The General Manager is also 
continuing to investigate temporary transfer options in conjunction with the City of 
Ventura and discussing temporary transfer opportunities with the United Water 
Conservation District.   

 
5. Update on the City Ventura Agreement. 

The Committee discussed the recent renegotiation of the water service 
agreement.  The City is in review of Casitas’ draft agreement and may provide a 
response within the week. 

 



CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
                                                Inter-Office Memorandum 
 
DATE:  September 4, 2012 
 
TO:         Board of Directors 
 
FROM: General Manager, Steve Wickstrum 
 
Re:  Recreation Committee Meeting of September 4, 2012 
           
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors receive and file this report. 
 
BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW: 

    
1. Roll Call.  Directors Kaiser and Hicks,  
 General Manager Steve Wickstrum 
 Park Services Manager Carol Belser  

 Public:  Gary Wolfe 
 
2. Public comments.  None. 

 
3. Board/Management comments. 

Director Hicks shared his neighbor’s comment regarding the good water quality of 
Casitas water at the tap, noting a difference from water the neighbor received in 
another town.   
 
Director Kaiser asked about the revenue for the park compared to other years.  PSM 
Belser reported on the revenues of June 2012 being better than that of June 2011.  

 
4. Review of plans for Bait and Tackle building remodel. 

Mr. Gary Wolfe presented the architectural drawings for the building remodel, which is 
actually a replacement of the older structure.  The building size is the same as the 
existing building with a slight change in the orientation, and also matching the exterior 
appearance of the café building.  This project has been well received by the Bureau of 
Reclamation.  Mr. Wolfe will provide a presentation to the Board of Directors on 
September 12, 2012. 

 
5. Department of Boating and Waterways non-matching grant in the amount of 

$15,000 for Rogue vessel equipment. 
PSM Belser presented to the Committee that staff are able to obtain non-matching 
funding for additional safety equipment for the Rogue vessel.  The Committee was 
appreciative of Staff’s efforts to seek grant funding for the equipment.  The grant 
application will be moved to the Board meeting of September 12, 2012. 

 
6. Update on Labor Day Weekend. 

PSM Belser represented that the weekend was very busy.  Approximately one-half of 
the campsites had been reserved for a group function, and the group was very well 
organized with their participants.   There were no issues or incidents that staff could 



not resolve.  Gary Wolfe commented that it appeared that boat rentals were down, 
which may have resulted because the group did not come over to rent boats.  After 
this past weekend, the Water Adventure will be closed for the winter. 
 
 

7. Draft update of the Pest Management Plan. 
PSM Belser presented the draft update of the Pest Management Plan.  The Plan is 
required as a condition of the Recreation Agreement with the Bureau of Reclamation, 
and provides a guide for the assessment of the best methods to control pests.  The 
Committee discussed current efforts to control pests and a recent occurrence with 
bees at the Recreation Area.  The Plan will be brought forward to the Board on 
September 12, 2012. 

 
8. Review of Incidents and Comments. 

PSM Belser reported on various incidents that occurred in the LCRA.  One situation on 
August 3rd was handled by the Sheriff’s department.   Several other minor incidents 
were reported to the Committee. 



CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
                                                Inter-Office Memorandum 
 
DATE:  August 21, 2012 
 
TO:         Board of Directors 
 
FROM: General Manager, Steve Wickstrum 
 
Re:  Water Resources Committee Meeting of August 20, 2012 
           
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors receive and file this report. 
 
BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW: 

    
1. Roll Call.   Director Baggerly and Director Hicks.   

 General manager Steve Wickstrum 
 Staff – Ron Merckling 

 
2. Public Comments.  None. 
 
3. Board Comments.  

Director Baggerly noted that he was busy with water supply and flooding 
subcommittees on the Ventura River Watershed Council and representing the Ojai 
Groundwater Basin Management Agency. 
 

4. Manager Comments.   
The General Manager reported on the consultant’s progress with the aeration system 
analysis and possible improvements to the existing system. 
 
Ron Merckling reported that the update MOU for landscape grant is in its final stages 
of development and will come before the Board when ready. 

 
5. Water Supply Status. 

The Committee discussed the current storage condition of Lake Casitas and the 
diversion events of Water Year 2011-12.  It was noted that there has been a decline in 
lake storage every month of the water year and that Lake Casitas was at 
approximately 77% capacity on June 30, 2012.  The information will be provided in the 
Board agenda. 
 

6. Conditional Exemption from Acreage Limitation – Reclamation Reform Act. 
The Bureau of Reclamation has issued a letter that grants a conditional exemption 
from the ownership and full-cost pricing provisions of the Reclamation Reform Act 
(RRA) of 1982.  The RRA requires annual reporting by agricultural landowners that 
own more than 40 acres.  The RRA also provides for an exemption from the RRA 
requirements when the district has fully repaid its construction cost obligation in 
accordance with the terms of the repayment contract.  The District completed the 
repayment obligation in February 2012.  The Conditional exemption is not official until 
the Bureau proceeds through a formal review to confirm that all administrative bills and 



charges have been paid and that all appeals by the District related to RRA issues are 
resolved.  The District will continue to gather annual reporting forms until the 
conditional exemption is officially granted by the Bureau. 

 
7. Status of Landholding Audit Appeal. 

The District has received a letter from the Bureau regarding the District’s appeal of 
June 28, 2011 concerning minor discrepancies and perceived late reporting of RRA 
forms by landholders.  The Bureau did not agree in all cases with the District’s appeal, 
and staff does not agree with the Bureau’s determination on each landholder’s appeal. 
The Committee discussed the General Manager’s direction to move forward without an 
additional appeal, which may cause years of delay in the Bureau’s granting of the 
conditional exemption from acreage limitation requirements (RRA).  Given the staff’s 
concerns of the Bureau’s determination, staff recommended not forwarding the 
administrative charges to each individual agricultural customer.  The General Manager 
will proceed in this direction and issue a letter to the Bureau that addresses the appeal 
and the desire to proceed with the RRA conditional exemption. 

 
8. Ventura River Pumper/Diverter – Draft MOA 

The Committee discussed the recent meeting with the staff of the State Regional 
Water Quality Control Board and US Environmental Protection Agency regarding the 
Ventura River pumper/diverter TMDL.  The USEPA appears to be looking to an 
alternative solution to the TMDL, such as a Memorandum of Agreement, to address 
the impairment listing.  It is unknown at this time how the MOA will address the listing, 
but time is short and the Ventura River group is motivated to work on the MOA in lieu 
of a TMDL requirement.  The Committee and Board will be kept posted as the MOA is 
developed. 



 1

CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
                                                Inter-Office Memorandum 
 
DATE:  August 21, 2012 
 
TO:         Board of Directors 
 
FROM: General Manager, Steve Wickstrum 
 
Re:  Finance Committee Meeting of August 16, 2012 
           
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors receive and file this report. 
 
BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW: 

    
1. Roll Call.    
 Director Bergen and Director Word  

 General Manager Steve Wickstrum 
   

2. Public comments.  None. 
 
3. Board/Management comments. 

The General Manager commented on the District’s rate set for Temporary water service 
being lower than that set by most other water purveyors in Ventura County.  The 
Committee may consider a review of the Temporary water rate. 
 

4. Review of the Financial Statement for June 2012. 
The Committee reviewed the financial statement for June 2012.  The Committee 
recognized variations in Water Storage Valuations due to the decline in water currently in 
storage at Lake Casitas.  Revenues are very close to budget values.  Revenues in 
Recreation budget appear to be slightly above budget values. 

 
5. Review of the Water Consumption for June and July 2012. 

The Committee reviewed the fiscal year water consumption numbers.  Water sales 
totaled 14,655 acre-feet.  The sales number is up over 1,000 acre-feet over the FY 2010-
11 water sales.  The water sales numbers for July 2012 were not available at the time of 
the meeting. 
 

6. Review of proposed amendment  to the Business Ordinance to include a policy on 
the use of district credit cards. 
The Committee reviewed a draft revision of the Business Ordinance that addressed the 
use of district credit cards.  This item is to be moved to the Board of Directors for 
consideration of adoption.  
 



 CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 Interdepartmental Memo 
 
DATE:  September 4, 2012  
 
TO:  Steve Wickstrum, General Manager  
 
FROM: Carol Belser, Park Services Manager  
 
SUBJECT: Consideration for the Board to Approve Renovation of the Bait and Tackle Building at 

Lake Casitas Recreation Area      
 
Recommendation: 
It is recommended that the Board approve the Bait and Tackle building renovation project conducted 
and funded by our Concessionaire Gary Wolfe.     
 
Background: 
In 2010, the BOR adopted Final Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) and Record of Decision 
(ROD) 10-111 for the Lake Casitas Resource Management Plan (RMP) and Reclamation’s subsequent 
Management Agreement 11-LC-20-0216, paved the way to facilitate improvements and renovations of 
facilities at the Lake Casitas Recreation Area.  
 
The Bait and Tackle Concession building belonging to Gary Wolfe located at the Santa Ana Launch 
Ramp area was purchased in 1969 and subsequently moved on skids and placed on a concrete slab in 
its present location. Due to structure damage over the years caused by wind, rain and sun, the current 
bait shop is in a state of decay: water damaged floors, moisture leaks in the subfloor and general 
deterioration of the building’s structure and wiring.  
 
Gary Wolfe proposes to tear down and rebuild the bait shop in order to bring it into compliance with 
current building and electrical codes paying all expenses. The proposed layout and an aerial view of 
the project footprint taken from BOR’s project document is attached. The proposed building plans will 
be posted at the Board meeting. 
  
Reclamation supports the project, has reviewed the plans and is moving towards final environmental 
approvals. The Casitas Municipal Water District Recreation Committee has reviewed and approves of 
the renovation plans.  
 
Analysis: 
It is recommended the Board review and approve the project. If approved and after it clears the 
Reclamation NEPA team, we anticipate completion sometime this winter or early spring 2013.  



Project Description 12-063
For Internal Use Only

5

Figure 5   Conceptual Construction Plan











 

 

 CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 Interdepartmental Memo 
 
 
DATE:  September 4, 2012  
 
TO:  Steve Wickstrum, General Manager  
 
FROM: Carol Belser, Park Services Manager  
 
SUBJECT: Consideration for the Board to Approve the Lake Casitas Recreation Area Integrated 

Pest Management Plan     
 
 

Recommendation: 
It is recommended that the Board adopt the attached Integrated Pest Management Plan for the Lake 
Casitas Recreation Area.    
 
Background: 
The District and the Bureau of Reclamation (BOR) entered into a Management Agreement in October 
2011 for managing the Lake Casitas Recreation Area.  A requirement of that Agreement includes a 
Pest Management Plan approved by the Casitas Board and the BOR.  The BOR requested the plan be 
completed within two years of the Agreement date or by October 2013.   
 
Casitas submitted a draft Pest Management Plan to the BOR in December 2011. The plan was 
reviewed and approved by our BOR liaison, Dave Woolley, and sent on to the Denver office for final 
approval.  Apparently, in addition to Casitas’ Plan, twenty-two other Recreation Areas within the BOR 
submitted Pest Management Plans using various formats. The BOR is in the process of creating a 
uniform template for all agencies but the delivery date is unknown.  
 
The Recreation Committee reviewed and approved the Plan at their September 4, 2012 meeting. It is 
important to note that the Lake Casitas Recreation Area/Integrated Pest Management Plan is a plan for 
the Recreation Area only, and not intended to address pest management protocols within the entire 
District boundaries.  A subsequent plan will be developed for the Casitas Municipal Water District.  
 
Analysis: 
Our BOR Liaison, Dave Woolley, has recommended that Casitas Board review and approve the plan 
to comply with the Lake Casitas Recreation Area’s Management Agreement time line of two years.  
When the BOR has produced their template the Casitas Board can then update the plan to meet the 
format requirements. 
  



 

  

 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

Lake Casitas Recreation Area  
 

Integrated Pest Management Plan 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

August 2011 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 

  

Integrated Pest Management Program 
 

Table of Contents 

INTRODUCTION ...........................................................................................................................1 
 
SUMMARY.....................................................................................................................................1 
 
PROCEDURES ...............................................................................................................................1 
 
I. GENERAL – IPM BEST MANAGEMENT PRACTICES ................................................1 
         
 A. Identify All Potential Pests ......................................................................................2 
  B. Determination of Pest management Action Level ................................ 2 
 C. Determine Acceptable Pest Management Practices .............................. 2 
 D. Establish a Record Keeping System ................................................... 3 
 E. Consideration of Endangered Species................................................. 4 
 
II. ONGOING IPM PROGRAM REVIEW ......................................................... 4 
 
III. PESTICIDE USAGE PRACTICES ............................................................... 5 
 
 General District Pesticide Use Practices ...................................................... 5 
 
IV. APPROVED PESTICIDE LIST ................................................................... 6 

V. TRAINING AND CERTIFICATION ............................................................ 7 

VI. PESTICIDE STORAGE .............................................................................. 7 

VII. PESTICIDE DISPOSAL.............................................................................. 8 

VIII. PESTICIDE SPILL RESPONSE .................................................................. 8 

IX. PESTICIDE USAGE REPORTS .................................................................. 9 

 
Appendices: 
A Species and Natural Communities in the Plan Area 
B. Pest Management Program Matrix 
C. Site Monitoring Evaluation Form 
D. D1 CMWD Aquatic Pesticide Application Plan for PAK27 / D2 Sodium Carbonate 
 Peroxyhydrate Monitoring Plan 
 
Exhibits: 
1. Map of Service Area – Lake Casitas Recreation Area   
2. Invasive Species Site Map 



  

 
1 

 

CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
INTEGRATED PEST MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 

August 2011 
 

INTRODUCTION 

Integrated pest management (IPM) is an ongoing process that minimizes human health and 
environmental impacts while effectively suppressing pest populations. To be truly effective, the 
process requires established procedures that not only must be practiced, but undergo a periodic 
review. These procedures must properly identify pests, monitor pest populations, evaluate a 
wide variety of pest control strategies, implement the appropriate strategies, continually 
evaluate the effectiveness and impacts of implementation, and modify the control strategies as 
necessary. 

SUMMARY 

The goal of the District's Integrated Pest Management (IPM) Program is to employ a 
comprehensive set of procedures that optimally combines chemical, biological, and mechanical 
control alternatives for pest control in a manner that: 

1. Maximizes protection of all surface waters; 
2. Minimizes pesticide use and requires use of "least toxic" pesticides or methods of 
pest control; 
3. Manages pests effectively using environmentally safe and cost effective practices. 
4. Manages and facilitates fire protection areas including that include weed/grass 
abatement as identified in Casitas Fire Management Plan   

Environmentally safe practices are those that ensure the adequate protection of the public and 
District employees, are protective of potable water sources, other aquatic and terrestrial 
resources, and public and private property. An IPM Committee, consisting of members 
including: the District’s General Manager, Recreation Manager, a Qualified Applicator, 
Certified staff and the District’s Safety Officer will ensure adaptive management strategies 
allow for future modification of control methods over time, based on the level and risk 
associated with the pest species, treatment method alternatives and results.  These procedures 
are to be provided to managers, supervisors and staff who perform pest management as part of 
their District responsibilities. It is to be strictly followed in implementation of all pest 
management activities. 

PROCEDURES 

I .   G E N E R A L  -  I P M  B E S T  M A N A G E M E N T  P R A C T I C E S  

The following procedures (Best Management Practices) will be implemented and followed by 
all District personnel who perform pest management in the Lake Casitas Recreation Area and 
in the Reservoir Area property as indentified in Exhibit 1.  District personnel shall document 
their control activities and maintain records as noted in these procedures. 



CMWD IPMP 

 2 
 

 

 A. Identify All Potential Pests.  The Maintenance Foreman, under the Park Services 
Manager, is the person with the responsibility for pest management and will be trained to accurately 
identify pest species of animals and plants, the damage they can cause, and the control alternatives 
available. Field manuals, a list of Noxious Weeds as identified, outside terrestrial biologist and 
other resources may be made available to staff to assist in pest identification as necessary. A 
listing of Pests, Plant Species and Noxious Weeds (identified with an asterisk) is found in 
Appendix A and a map of invasive pants is shown in Exhibit 2. 
 
 B. Determination of Pest Management Action Level.  District personnel with 
responsibility for pest management shall determine the annual and seasonal infestation levels 
that are unacceptable. These unacceptable levels are pest management action levels that indicate 
appropriate action must be taken to prevent damaging infestation. The determination of these 
levels will be completed using, in most cases, the following criteria: 

 It is determined that the pest population will reach a critical level if left untreated 

 Biological or environmental factors cannot be expected to reduce the pest problem 
within a reasonable time; and 

 Pest management costs (including any environmental or health impacts) are less than the 
potential pest damage. 

 
If the determination concludes that pest management control action is necessary, District 
personnel responsible for pest management shall identify and/or implement the appropriate 
management practice per Section C - Determine Acceptable Pest Management Practices. 
 
 C. Determine Acceptable Pest Management Practices. 
 
1. District personnel responsible for pest management shall determine acceptable pest 
management practices using the criteria below. These criteria may not be met in every case. 
Judgment should be used in these cases to determine acceptable pest management practices that 
are: 

 Least damaging to the general environment; 

 Least hazardous to human health; 

 Less of an impact on non-target organisms; 

 Appropriate considering the absence of listed, candidate or locally rare species; 

 Most likely to produce a permanent reduction of the pest; and 

 Most cost effective in the short and long-term. 
 
2. As pest management practices are developed, they may include a combination of various 
control alternatives. The preferred methods in an IPM program are those which permanently 
prevent pest problems in an environmentally sensitive manner, therefore, eliminating the 
potential for pest damage. A pest management practice may include one or more of the following 
elements: 

 No controls are necessary; 



CMWD IPMP 

 3 
 

 

 Physical/mechanical controls (hand abatement, soil tilling, discing, mowing, etc.); 

 Biological controls (grazing by goats or cows, birds of prey, use of predators or 
 parasites); 

 Chemical controls ranging from low toxicity materials such as soaps and oils, to 
 appropriate pesticides; and 

 Other (mulching, planting competing or alternative vegetation). 
 
The Pest Management Program Matrix is found in Appendix B. 
 
 D. Establish a Record Keeping System. 
 
1. Good records are essential for evaluating and improving an IPM program and for 
reference when management, the Board of Directors, or the public requests information on how 
the District handles certain types of pest species. District personnel responsible for pest 
management are required to keep written records to document acceptable pest management 
practices that include the following: 

 The identification of pests at a particular site  

 A description of unacceptable infestation levels and action determination (see Section B 
above); 

 The selection of the acceptable pest management practice for a given site (see Section C 
above; 

 The degree of pest infestation using density, distribution or some other parameter(s); 
and 

 Information on how the pest problem was treated including: what, how much, where, 
when and who performed the treatment. 

2. To evaluate and improve the IPM program, District personnel responsible for pest 
management shall record the monitoring of selected treatment sites. The monitoring 
activities shall be implemented as follows using the Site Monitoring Evaluation Form found 
in Appendix C: 

 Treated sites which are representative of specific treatment applications (i.e., pest, acceptable 
pest practice, location, etc.), will be selected for monitoring each calendar year. 

 Each year thereafter, monitoring shall be conducted at different sites such that 
monitoring does not duplicate or occur at a treated site that is similar in treatment 
application from the previous year. 

 The monitoring shall document short and long-term effectiveness of the treatment; 

 Monitoring or documenting any side effects of treatment on non-target organisms; 

 Document citizen complaints or other problems that may arise and other positive 
feedback; 

 Monitoring forms will be submitted to the IPM Committee for annual review. 



CMWD IPMP 

 4 
 

 

 E. Consideration of Endangered Species 

District personnel responsible for pest management must give consideration of threatened or 
endangered species prior to implementing pest management practices. Special precautions or 
mitigation measures may be required to prevent harm under certain conditions. Although 
pesticide use as specified under the pesticide product labeling requirements currently satisfies all 
legal requirements regarding pesticide use and endangered species protection, it is the 
District’s practice to minimize impacts to all non-target organisms including threatened and 
endangered species to the best extent possible when implementing a pest management practice. 

Resources are available to assist with the identification and protection of threatened or 
endangered species. These include maps, guidance documents and/or a Bureau of Reclamation  
biologist who could be requested every few years to ensure that pest management activities do 
not conflict with threatened or endangered species regarding proposed pesticide. This 
document will provide maps that show areas of listed and sensitive species in relationship to 
Bureau facilities. Updating the resources provides the tools to identify timeframes for periods 
of allowable routine operations and maintenance activities in consideration of the listed and 
sensitive species habitat.  

I I .  O N G O I N G  I P M  P R O G R A M  R E V I E W  

 A.  IMP COMMITTEE 

The District, through an IPM Committee, will evaluate its IPM Program annually or as 
necessary, as scheduled and organized by the Park Service Manager to ensure the procedures 
strive to achieve the goals through an adaptive management process.  The IPM Committee 
shall also be responsible for issuing and updating this IPM Program Summary and Procedures, as 
necessary. The Committee chair will rotate mutually among the members.  IPM Committee 
responsibilities shall include: 

 Review the IPM Best Management Practices to ensure that responsible District personnel 
employ the practices, and revise the practices if necessary to achieve the goals. 

 Review monitoring records from the current or previous year(s) to determine if the 
acceptable pest management practice is appropriate or requires alteration to achieve the 
program goals. 

 Update of invasive species may include review by a terrestrial biologist. 

 Compilation of annual Recreation Area pesticide usage report.  

 As necessary, review requests for new pesticides for possible addition to the list of 
approved least-toxic pesticides.



 

 5  

 
 
III. PESTICIDE USAGE PRACTICES 

General District Pesticide Use Practices 

1. District personnel responsible for pest management may determine that chemical 
pesticide use is necessary. Only approved "least toxic" pesticides will be used to minimize 
the overall risk to the applicator and impact to the environment. 

2. All federal, state and local laws and regulations will be strictly adhered to: 

Federal U.S. EPA Environmental Protection Agency 
75 Hawthorne Street 
San Francisco, CA 94105 
Phone: (415) 947-8000 
(866) EPA-WEST (toll free in Region 9) 
Fax: (415) 947-3553 
Email: r9.info@epa.gov 

State Cal-EPA Depart. of Pesticide Regulation/Pest Management Licensing Branch 
Phone: (916) 445-3914 
1001 I Street Sacramento, CA 95812  
http://www.cdpr.ca.gov/branchph.htm 
 

Local Ventura County Agricultural Commissioner 
P.O. Box 889, Santa Paula, CA 93061 
815 East Santa Barbara Street 
Phone: (805) 933-3165  
FAX: (805) 525-8922 

 

3. All chemical product label instructions will be strictly followed, including utilizing the personal 
protective equipment recommended by the manufacturer of the product. 
 
4. Prior to pesticide use, evaluate the site for spot treatment. If appropriate, use spot treatment to 
minimize pesticide use. 
 
5. Least toxic pesticides will be applied at the appropriate time and under prerequisite 
weather conditions to maximize their effectiveness on the target species. The likelihood of 
discharging non-degraded pesticides in storm water runoff will be minimized. 
 
6. Pesticides will not be mixed adjacent to a storm drain inlet, culvert or watercourse. Mix in 
an area where spillage, if it occurs, can be easily contained 
 
7. Pesticide use and application techniques selected for along roadside berms will be 
implemented to retain some vegetative presence to minimize soil erosion, slow the rate of storm 
water runoff, and minimize potential for contaminated runoff. 
 



CMWD IPMP 

 6 
 

 

8. Calibrate field equipment regularly to ensure the desired application rate. 
 
9. Mix only as much material as necessary for the application. 
 
10. Maintain a record of pesticide usage. That record shall include the type and quantity of 
pesticide used. Report to County Agricultural Commission monthly on pesticide usage. 

11. When an area is to be treated with a pesticide whose label requires notification or posting, 
adequate notification or posting will be conducted prior to the application. The Public 
Information Department will be contacted at least one week prior to the application to coordinate 
any public notice information needed. 

12. Pesticides shall not be applied without specific written approval of the proposed 
application by the Park Manager and/or Maintenance Foreman. 

13. New or substitute products may only be used with IPM Committee approval. 
 
14. Pesticide may be limited to necessary spot treatment of vegetation for fire prevention at road 
crossings and for access to specific structures. Additional applications will be limited to specific pest 
infestations. Staff will adhere to the label recommendations regarding proper distance from the water.  
 
15. For pesticide application protocol specific to treatment of waters in Lake Casitas see  
Appendix D. 
 
16. Visually monitor success of the pesticide treatment and adjust future potential usage based on 
visual monitoring results. 
 
IV. APPROVED PESTICIDE LIST 
 
The following least toxic pesticides are currently approved for use and application by District staff and 
contractors on District property, rights-of-ways or other areas where chemical pest control has been 
determined to be necessary: 
 

Product Name     EPA  Number 

Activator 90 Surfactant    36206-50014 
Aluminum 
Phosphide (Fumigant)   

CASRN 20859-
73-8 

Aquamaster     524-343  
Bayer Advanced Insect 
Control    72155-73  
Citric Acid       77-92-9  
Copper sulfate (crystals)     7758-98-7 
Diazinon (knox-out2FM ant spray)   62719-542 
Direx 4L                                                                       352-678 
Fastrac all weather blox    12455-W1-1 



CMWD IPMP 

 7 
 

 

Friponil      
120068-37-
3/129121 

Mark it Blue indicator    N/A  
Mark it Blue Spray colorant    N/A  
Maxforce ant killer bait    6424821  
Onslaught    1021-1815  
Ortho Home Defence Insecticide   239-2663  
Ortho lawn & weed Insect killer   1021-1778-239 
PAK 27       68660-9        
PCQ     12455-50003-AA 
Rodeo     524-343  
Round-Up Pro Max                                                     524-579 
Sevin Bug Killer     432-1211-71004 
Soil & Turf Insect control    9688-84  
Take down Insecticide    67702-J-54705 
Tomcat Rodent Block    12455-5-3240 
Weed-B-Gone     2217-896-239 
Zinc Phosphide     738F-98-003 

 
*EPA Registration Numbers are listed on the pesticide containers and are specific to the 
formulation of the pesticide. These numbers will change if a manufacturer changes a 
formulation, regardless of any change in the product name. Always check EPA Registration Number 
to confirm that product is consistent with the above list. 
 
Rodenticides with the anticoagulants chlorophacinone and diphacinone are also approved for 
use. 
 
V TRAINING AND CERTIFICATION 
 
 A. District personnel and authorized contractors who apply pesticides requiring a 
certification shall obtain a state pesticide applicator certification or work under the direction of an 
employee who has obtained the state certification. 
 
 B. District personnel who apply pesticides shall be trained in general IPM practices, the 
safe use of pesticides and proper inspection of applicator equipment to prevent accidental 
pesticide leaks, spills, and potential hazards to applicators and the environment. Each work 
unit shall maintain records of who received the training for at least three years. New employees 
shall not apply pesticides until they have received the appropriate training or until their supervisor 
confirms that they have met the training objectives at their previous job. 
 
 C. District personnel who apply pesticides will be trained in procedures and methods to 
identify and protect Endangered Species during the use and application of pesticides conducted by the 
Bureau of Reclamation, or outside training and education programs.  
 
VI. PESTICIDE STORAGE 
 
 A. Pesticides shall be stored indoors in locked and labeled storage units or within 



CMWD IPMP 

 8 
 

 

locked District facilities. 
 
 B. Pesticide containers must be clearly labeled to indicate the name of the pesticide, 
signal word and company name. 
 
 C. Pesticides stored that reach their expiration date shall be disposed of per the procedures 
described in Section VII, Pesticide Disposal. 
 
VII. PESTICIDE DISPOSAL 
 
 A. Triple rinse empty pesticide containers with water immediately upon emptying 
contents. Place rinse water in spray tank incorporating it into the pesticide mixture and apply 
it. 
 
 B. Dispose of triple rinsed empty pesticide containers according to County Agricultural 
Commission and manufacturer's recommendations.  
 
 C.  Dispose of the container rinse water or spray tank rinse water as a product over the 
target site. 
 
 D. If possible, unopened, unwanted or unused pesticides should be returned. Other 
District work units can be contacted to determine if they can use the unwanted pesticide in 
their operation.  Possible options are also an attempt to return it to the manufacturer, or a 
qualified buyer.  If returning an unwanted pesticide is not feasible or disposal of outdated pesticide is 
necessary, contact the State of California EPA office disposal directions. 
  
VIII. PESTICIDE SPILL RESPONSE 
 
 A. Spill kits will be prepared and maintained at pesticide storage areas and on all 
application equipment that has a tank capacity of 50 gallons or more. 
 
 B. Spill kits should include the following: 

 An instruction sheet with contact notification list and phone numbers; 

 Absorbent material capable of absorbing up to five gallons of liquid; 

 Shovel, broom, dustpan, gloves; and 

 Warning tape to secure the area in case clean-up cannot be accomplished immediately. 
 
 C.    District personnel who apply pesticides will be trained in the use of the spill kits.  
 
 D.    District personnel responsible for pest management shall maintain a written 
pesticide spill response and notification procedure, and all employees who apply pesticides shall be 
familiar with the notification procedure. 
 
 IX. PESTICIDE USAGE REPORTS 
 
 A. The Recreation Area Manager shall ensure that applicable monthly Pesticide 



CMWD IPMP 

 9 
 

 

Usage Reports and notices of intent are provided to the County of Ventura Agriculture 
Commission. 
 
 B. At the end of the calendar year, the CMWD Park Manager and/or Maintenance 
Foreman shall compile copies of the monthly Pesticide Usage Reports and review them with 
the IPM Committee, which will provide a Recreation Area Pesticide Usage Report annually. The 
annual report shall be retained on file with the IPM Committee and made available upon request 
to interested parties. 
 
 
 
 





































































































LAKE IMPROVEMENT FOUNDATION

GL# 11-2-62-2410-00

DATE FROM DEPOSIT PYMTS BALANCE MEMORANDUM

10/01/1997 Tanaka Bait & Tackle 500.00 $500.00

10/01/1998 Oak View Civic Council 50.00 $550.00

10/01/1998 Tanaka Bait & Tackle 1,250.00 $1,800.00

09/01/1999 Tanaka Bait & Tackle 1,700.00 $3,500.00

09/01/1999 Rotary Club of Ojai West 500.00 $4,000.00

12/01/1999 Suzi Lydick 250.00 $4,250.00

01/01/2000 Bill Hicks 300.00 $4,550.00

05/01/2000 Pat Weinberger 487.99 $4,062.01 T-Shirt Reimbursement

06/01/2000 Cash Contributions 34.00 $4,096.01

06/01/2000 James Word 15.00 $4,111.01

06/01/2000 Ronald Paul 45.00 $4,156.01

06/01/2000 Doris Harbison 15.00 $4,171.01

????? Unknown Entry 212.54 $4,383.55

08/14/2002 Secretary of State  20.00 $4,363.55 Filing F 10819

04/21/2003 American Bass Association 1,155.00 $5,518.55 Bass

06/26/2003 American Bass Association 1,025.00 $6,543.55 Bass

06/30/2004 Interest Transfer for Year 127.08 $6,670.63

06/30/2004 Memorial for Jim Loeble 177.04 $6,493.59 Cost From Workorder 890402

12/23/2003 Elaine Paul 100.00 $6,593.59 Plaque for Jim Loeble 

07/01/2003 Affinity Group 250.00 $6,843.59 Donation 

06/30/2005 Santa Barbara Monumental Co. 283.08 $6,560.51 Plaque for Jim Loeble 

09/23/2005 Interest Transfer for Year 159.68 $6,720.19

08/18/2005 Secretary of State  20.00 $6,700.19

01/25/2006 The Tax Specialists 500.00 $6,200.19

06/30/2006 Interest Transfer for Year 233.55 $6,433.74

02/06/2007 Norm Smith / Family Fishing 500.00 $5,933.74

09/12/2007 State of California 20.00 $5,913.74 LCIF Filing

12/26/2007 Roger Snowbarger 100.00 $6,013.74

03/14/2008 Kenneth Wayne McFeeters 50.00 $6,063.74

03/14/2008 Wells Hall 100.00 $6,163.74

03/14/2008 David C. Regan 100.00 $6,263.74

03/19/2008 Ojai Electric 100.00 $6,363.74

03/19/2008 Ventura Wholesale Electric Inc. 15.00 $6,378.74

03/24/2008 Coordinated Wire Rope 200.00 $6,578.74

07/18/2008 Night Fishing Tournement 1170.00 $7,748.74

08/22/2008 Contest for Fair Booth LCRA 300.00 $8,048.74

09/09/2008 Night Fishing Tournement 1305.00 $9,353.74

09/09/2008 Night Fishing Tournement 1350.00 $10,703.74

09/10/2008 Moonlight Fishing 990.00 $11,693.74

10/09/2008 Visions in Time Foundation 500.00 $12,193.74

10/21/2008 Night Fishing Tournement 1215.00 $13,408.74

10/21/2008 Night Fishing Tournement 900.00 $14,308.74

10/30/2008 Reclass to Revenue Re: Rob, Pirates Festival 500.00 $13,808.74 Did not meet minimum payment of event space

12/18/2008 Moonlight Fishing 510.00 $14,318.74

02/01/2009 Okuma Fishing Tackle 858.00 $13,460.74 Rods & Reels, Kid's Fishing Day

02/01/2009 Okuma Fishing Tackle 683.18 $12,777.56 Rods & Reels, Kid's Fishing Day

02/01/2009 Okuma Fishing Tackle 333.19 $12,444.37 Rods & Reels, Kid's Fishing Day

02/01/2009 Okuma Fishing Tackle 482.63 $11,961.74 Rods & Reels, Kid's Fishing Day

02/01/2009 Okuma Fishing Tackle 107.25 $11,854.49 Rods & Reels, Kid's Fishing Day

04/01/2009 Casitas Park Store 1250.00 $10,604.49 Food, Kid's Fishing Day

04/01/2009 Casitas Park Store 1250.00 $9,354.49 Food, Kid's Fishing Day

05/08/2009 State of California 20.00 $9,334.49 LCIF Filing

06/17/2009 Night Fishing Tournement 1,440.00 $10,774.49

06/17/2009 Night Fishing Tournement 1,035.00 $11,809.49

07/28/2009 Donation 510.00 $12,319.49

08/18/2009 Donation Shelly M. Reyes 990.00 $13,309.49

08/27/2009 Donation West Coast Christian Anglers 420.00 $13,729.49

09/22/2009 Donation Shelly M. Reyes 855.00 $14,584.49

09/22/2009 Donation Shelly M. Reyes 810.00 $15,394.49

09/29/2009 Donation West Coast Christian Anglers 570.00 $15,964.49

02/22/2010 Donation Kiwanis Club 500.00 $16,464.49

02/22/2010 Donation Firemans Assoc. Charity Fund 606.00 $17,070.49

03/15/2010 Check 4569 Okuma Fishing Tackle 985.07 $16,085.42 Family Fishing Day

03/15/2010 Check 4717 Coordinated Wire Rope 374.19 $15,711.23 Family Fishing Day

03/19/2010 Check 4770 Sysco Food Services of LA 2249.63 $13,461.60 Family Fishing Day

03/20/2010 Check 4648 Harbor Freight 21.60 $13,440.00 Family Fishing Day

03/25/2010 Check 4725 Erics Tackle 593.99 $12,846.01 Family Fishing Day

03/25/2010 Petty Cash Family Fishing Day 43.11 $12,802.90 Family Fishing Day

06/29/2010 Donation Shelly M. Reyes 900.00 $13,702.90 Family Fishing Day

03/09/2011 Importation Permit / Fish Planting 45.25 $13,657.65

03/23/2011 Rainbow Trout / Kids Fishing Day 7500.50 $6,157.15

03/24/2011 Food for Kids Fishing Day / Water Spring Alpine 239.60 $5,917.55

03/24/2011 Food for Kids Fishing Day / Hot Dog Buns 315.90 $5,601.65

05/09/2011 State of California 20.00 $5,581.65 LCIF Filing

05/10/2011 LCIF Night Fishing 400.00 $5,981.65

06/15/2011 Jim Reyes 925.00 $6,906.65

08/29/2011 Money Order 500.00 $7,406.65 Night Fishing Anglers Choice

10/18/2011 Daniel & Megan Merchant 155.00 $7,561.65 Night Fishing Anglers Choice

10/18/2011 Kevin Caruso 255.00 $7,816.65 Night Fishing Anglers Choice

02/22/2012 Flora Gardens - Replace Lobal Oak Tree 80.43 $7,736.22

02/24/2012 Harbor Freight - Ties for Kids Fishing Day 8.54 $7,727.68

06/15/2012 Donation - Richard Tauber 494.00 $8,221.68 Western Outdoor Bass

08/06/2012 Donation - Richard Tauber 416.00 $8,637.68 Western Outdoor Bass

08/10/2012 Donation - Richard Tauber 338.00 $8,975.68 Western Outdoor Bass

08/10/2012 Donation - Richard Tauber 105.00 $9,080.68 Trout Purchase

09/04/2012 Donation - Richard Tauber 100.00 $9,180.68 Trout Purchase

09/04/2012 Donation - Richard Tauber 338.00 $9,518.68 Western Outdoor Bass

09/04/2012 Donation - Richard Tauber 520.00 $10,038.68 Western Outdoor Bass

Page No. 1

Prepared On: 09/05/2012



 

  

CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 

LAKE CASITAS RECREATION AREA 
 

DATE:  September 5, 2012 
 
TO:  Steve Wickstrum, General Manager 
 
FROM: Carol Belser, Park Services Manager 
  
SUBJECT: Request for Funds From the Lake Casitas Improvement Foundation (LCIF) for 2012/13 

Trout Purchase  
 
Recommendation: 
 
It is recommended that the LCIF allocate $4,205.00 of its fund balance to be used to supplement the 
2012/2013 purchase of trout to stock in Lake Casitas.    
 
Background and Overview: 
 
At the August 10, 2012 meeting of the Recreation Committee, the Committee supported requesting the 
LCIF board to allocate a portion of the fund balance toward the next trout purchase.  
 
In 2010 the DFG ceased to plant rainbow trout in Lake Casitas due to legal action challenging their 
hatchery and stocking operations and from a subsequent Environmental Impact Report/Environmental 
Impact Statement (EIR/EIS) that considers species and habitats affected by hatchery-raised rainbow 
trout.  The current moratorium will be in effect at least until the Department conducts a Biological 
Assessment (using their funds and a consultant) and a Biological Opinion is formed. Casitas’ ability to 
receive stocking allocation from the DFG is dependent on the results of the Biological Opinion.  A letter 
received in from DFG 2012 indicated the any change in the planting status is at least one year away. 
 
Analysis: 
 
Casitas has planted trout since the DFG moratorium by purchasing the trout from private hatcheries with 
our own funds. To supplement the allocated $30,000 in 2012/2013 budget, we are requesting the LCIF 
consider adding $4,000 to the budgeted funds for the purchase of smaller trout to support the bass 
population.  Additionally, $205.00 of the requested amount was collected by Rich Tauber, Director of 
the Western Outdoor News Bass Casitas Teams, for small trout purchases and he expects continued 
donations of this nature. If approved, the LCIF fund balance will be approximately $6,000.00. 
 



 1

CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
                                                Inter-Office Memorandum 
 
DATE:  September 6, 2012 
 
TO:         Board of Directors 
 
FROM: General Manager, Steve Wickstrum 
 
Re:  Revision of the Ordinance prescribing a system of Business Administration 
           
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
It is recommended that the Board of Directors approve the revisions to the Ordinance 
prescribing a system of business administration. 
 
BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW: 
The District’s auditor has recommended that the District include in its business ordinance a 
policy on the issuance and use of business credit cards.   The attached Ordinance has been 
revised to include a credit card policy that reflects the District’s current practices.  The credit 
card language in the Ordinance has been reviewed by the Finance Committee and 
recommended to be brought before the Board for review and consideration of approval.  
 
   
 



 CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 
 
 
 
 AN ORDINANCE OF CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
 PRESCRIBING A SYSTEM OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION 
 
 
 WHEREAS, Section 71304 of the California Water Code provides that the Board of 
Directors may prescribe by ordinance a system of business administration; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable to have a system of business administration relative to 
accounting, auditing, and disbursement of moneys by Casitas; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it is desirable to change the signature requirements for the general fund bank 
account; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the Casitas 
Municipal Water District as follows: 
 

1. Budget.  The General Manager is hereby directed to prepare annually a fiscal budget 
no later than the second regular meeting in May. The budget so planned and submitted shall reflect 
the general policies of the Board of Directors and the anticipated expenditures to carry out such 
policies.  The General Manager shall submit the budget in such form and substance that it will 
clearly reflect the planned program of Casitas' operations and improvements and will comply with 
the form prescribed by the County Auditor. 
 
  Obligations shall be incurred only within the detailed provisions of the applicable 
budget, subject to the following exceptions: 
 
  a. Unbudgeted obligations may be incurred within the limits of funds available 
for expenditures in the fiscal year if approved in advance by the Board of Directors or upon approval 
by the General Manager if necessary for protection of life or property. 
 
  b. The General Manager may make transfers between detailed budget items 
within a single department provided the amounts budgeted within the department for capital outlay 
and operation and maintenance, respectively, are not exceeded.  The Board shall routinely be 
advised of said transfers. 
 
 2. Purchase of Materials, Supplies, and Services.  The General Manager is hereby 
authorized to execute purchase orders and contracts not exceeding $20,000.00 without prior Board 
approval, provided that this limitation shall not apply to replenish warehouse stores stock.  Purchases 
for this purpose shall be made in an amount equal to but not exceeding an amount necessary to 
maintain the minimum quantities of stock on hand as determined by the General Manager to be 
economical and necessary for Casitas' needs.  All purchases in excess of $300 shall normally be 
supported by an executed purchase order or contract, and all proposed expenditures shall be verified 
to ascertain that provision has been included in the budget for the activity or expense intended.  
Exceptions might be an emergency situation, an order that does not arrive on time, the need for 
supplies that are not in the warehouse, or services that need to be performed in order to determine 
what needs to be replaced and/or repaired.  In these instances, an invoice and requisition will be 



furnished that fully explains the reason for not following normal procedures along with the approval 
of the supervisor who accepts responsibility for incurring the expenditures.  The General Manager 
may delegate to the Accounting Manager authority to execute individual purchase orders up to 
$1,000.  
 
 In the General Managers absence, or an emergency situation the Assistant to the General 
Manager will have authorization to purchase materials, supplies and services not exceeding $20,000. 
 
  a. No purchase order shall be issued unless moneys for payment of Casitas' 
obligations thereunder are available for expenditure under the budget applicable to the year in which 
such purchase order is issued. 
 
  b. No purchase order shall be issued unless it relates to the operation and 
maintenance of Casitas or Ventura River Project facilities or to a construction project approved by 
the Board. 
 
  c. From time to time, by resolution, the Board of Directors shall adopt a 
statement of terms and conditions applicable to construction, alteration or repair of Casitas' facilities 
in the form prescribed by Casitas' attorney.  The General Manager shall be authorized to approve 
change orders as recommended by the Engineer providing the total increased cost of all change 
orders does not exceed 5 percent of the total contract amount or $20,000, whichever is greater. 
 
  d. The General Manager in his purchasing decisions shall consider costs of 
transportation to firms outside the County as opposed to firms inside the County when making 
purchasing decisions and shall also consider any taxes to be paid on items outside the County as 
being an extra cost, while those sales taxes inside the County may be discounted from the total bid 
when considering award.  Should the differences in bid price be greater than those amounts of 
transportation and taxes, the General Manager shall award the purchase of goods and services to the 
lowest responsible bidder. 
 
 3. Credit Cards.  The General Manager may acquire business credit cards issued 
in the name of the District for designated use by the General Manager and/or the Assistant to 
the General Manager, and business credit cards authorized and controlled by the General 
Manager for purchases at vendors (i.e., Sears, Home Depot).  The credit cards may be used at 
the sole discretion and approval of the General Manager and/or the Assistant to the General 
Manager only for the official business of the District, such as business travel, business 
expenditures and vendor payments, within the limits set forth by District ordinance or credit 
card limit, whichever is less.   
 

a. The credit cards are not to be given or loaned to others, regardless of the 
circumstances.  If credit card(s) are lost, stolen or if there is a billing dispute or unauthorized 
use, the cardholder must advise the credit card company and the Accounting 
Manager/Treasurer immediately.  A disputed item must be noted on the cardholder’s 
Statement of Account so it will not be paid until the problem is resolved and the cardholder 
shall immediately notify the card issuer of such dispute. 
 

b. No members of the Board of Directors will be issued credit cards for 
District business purposes. 
 

c. Administration shall safeguard all documents that contain credit card 
information pursuant to the Identity Theft Prevention Program. 



 
d. Cardholders may not use their credit card for cash advances from 

banks, credit unions or automatic teller machines.  This prohibition similarly extends to cash 
equivalents such as bank checks, traveler’s checks and electronic cash transfers.  
 

e. Receipts for all credit card expenditures must be promptly turned into 
the Accounts Payable along with the credit card monthly statement and appropriate budget 
account number by each transaction.  Any receipts for meals or entertainment must clearly 
indicate the names of all persons attending the meal and the business purpose of the meeting.  
An audit of the cardholder purchases will occur on a monthly basis by Accounts Payable. 
 

f. Misuse of the credit card or noncompliance with this ordinance, as 
determined by the General Manager, may result in the revocation of the credit card and its 
privileges.  Misuse may also result in employee discipline, up to and including termination. 
 
  g. Employees that are separating from service with the District must cancel 
and turn in the District-issued purchasing credit card prior to the last day of employment. 
 
 4. Collection and Deposit of Revenues.  A "General Fund Bank Account" shall be 
established and maintained in a bank designated by the Board of Directors and all revenue, unless 
otherwise provided, shall be deposited therein.  The Board of Directors may, from time to time, 
direct the General Manager to establish and maintain special bank accounts for the handling of funds 
received or set aside for specific purposes. 
 
  All revenue collected shall be accounted for in a manner that will indicate the source, 
nature, and amount of each collection.  Collections so made shall be deposited intact in the bank 
accounts established. 
 
 5. Disbursements.  Routine financial obligations of Casitas shall be paid from a special 
fund designated as the "Payables Fund Account" established in a bank designated by the Board of 
Directors.  Funds in the payables fund account shall be replenished from time to time from the 
general funds account in order to enable Casitas to meet its routine fiscal obligations.   The General 
Manager shall assure that checks made from the General Fund to replenish the "Payables Fund 
Account" shall not exceed the total amount of the bi-monthly payables list or $500,000 whichever is 
lower.  In the event that the General Manager or Accounting Manager was unavailable to co-sign a 
payables or payroll check, the Board member requested to co-sign will require a verification of the 
request by the Accounting Manager or General Manager.  Disbursements from the payables fund 
account shall be authorized: 
 

a. By a check signed by one of the following combinations of two signatures: 
 

 The General Manager or Accounting Manager and any member of the 
Board of Directors. 

 The General Manager or Assistant to the General Manager and the 
Accounting Manager. 

 The Assistant to the General Manager or Accounting Manager and any 
member of the Board of Directors. 

 Any two members of the Board of Directors. 
 
  Under no circumstances shall any officer authorized under this ordinance to sign 
checks of Casitas sign a blank or incomplete check.  Any officer who does not comply with this 



provision shall be subject to severe disciplinary action. 
 
  An audit of all claims against Casitas shall be made prior to presentation of the 
checks for signature.  Such audit shall consist of a verification as to accuracy and completeness of all 
documents supporting payment; i.e., copy of purchase order, executed receiving and inspection 
report, and vendor's invoice or statement.  Should a vendor not honor Casitas purchase orders but 
provide the lowest price for an item, the General Manager may issue a payables check to the vendor 
for the item receiving in return an invoice for the item for audit purposes.  Reimbursable personal 
expense claims shall be approved by the General Manager.  Personal expenditures for which 
reimbursement may be claimed shall include only expenses incurred while an employee, officer, or 
director is acting in his official capacity as a Casitas representative.  All claims for reimbursement 
must be for goods or services which are ordinary and necessary for the fulfillment of Casitas duties, 
and such expenses shall, where practicable, be documented by checks, receipts, or other evidence, 
such evidence to be submitted at the time request for reimbursement is made. 
 
  A separate voucher authorization list covering disbursements made from the 
payables fund account showing check number, payee, description of materials or services purchased, 
and amount shall be prepared and accompany each check presented for signature.  Each list shall be 
certified correct by the Casitas Accounting Manager and submitted to the Board of Directors for 
ratification. Signatures of a majority of the Board members on the voucher list shall constitute Board 
approval. 
 
  A fidelity bond covering Casitas officers authorized to sign checks on the payables 
fund account shall be in force at all times.  The bond shall be in an amount sufficient to cover the 
maximum limit of the payables fund account. 
 
  b. A petty cash fund of $800 shall be maintained, and expenditures may be 
made from this fund only for individual expenditures not in excess of $75.00.  Expenditures may be 
made for postage, freight and express bills, invoices for materials, reimbursement of personal 
expenses, meal allowances, and in payment of encroachment permit fees, licenses, or other charges 
levied by a county, state agency, public utility, or railroad company in connection with the granting 
to Casitas of rights in property owned or controlled by such grantors and other similar purposes. 
 
  c. Funds transferred to the payables fund account and all other withdrawals 
from the general fund account shall be authorized by the signatures of any two members of the 
Board of Directors. 
 
  d. Payroll obligations of Casitas shall be paid from a special fund designated as 
the "Payroll Fund Account" established in a bank designated by the Board of Directors.  The payroll 
fund account shall be replenished on a biweekly basis in the amount of the biweekly payroll from the 
general fund account in order to enable Casitas to meet its payroll obligations.  Disbursements from 
the payroll fund account shall be authorized: 
 
   (1) By a check signed by electronic signatures of the General Manager 
and the Accounting Manager.   
 
   (2) By a check signed by one of the following combinations of two 
signatures: 
 

 The General Manager or Accounting Manager and any member 
of the Board of Directors. 



 The General Manager or Assistant to the General Manager and 
the Accounting Manager. 

 The Assistant to the General Manager or Accounting Manager 
and any member of the Board of Directors. 

 Any two members of the Board of Directors. 
 
   (3) Under the payroll system, at the option of each of Casitas' employees, 
either issue a payroll check to said employee in the amount of such employee's net pay as computed, 
or credit said net pay to the bank account of such employee.  Statements shall be provided to 
employees electing to have their net pay so credited. 
 
   (4) Under no circumstances shall any officer authorized under this 
ordinance to sign checks of Casitas sign a blank or incomplete check.  Any officer who does not 
comply with this provision shall be subject to severe disciplinary action. 
 
   The payroll register shall be used as the voucher authorization list for payroll 
disbursements.  Each list shall be certified correct by the Casitas Accounting Manager and submitted 
to the Board of Directors for ratification.  Signatures of a majority of the Board members on the 
voucher list shall constitute Board approval. 
 
   The Accounting Manager shall be responsible for the password security 
within the Incode Accounting Software for check signing digital signatures.  This password will be 
required to be entered into the system by the Accounting Manager before each check writing batch 
for all funds.  A payroll check register shall be maintained to keep a record of all checks written. 
 
  e. A separate voucher authorization list covering disbursements made from the 
general fund account showing check number, payee, description of the transaction, and amount shall 
be prepared and accompany each check presented for signature.  The list shall be certified correct by 
the Casitas Accounting Manager and submitted to the Board of Directors for approval.  Signature of 
a majority of the Board members on the voucher authorization list shall constitute approval of claims 
and authorization for the signatures of any two members of the Board of Directors in payment of 
same. 
 
  f. Disbursements from special bank accounts established for the handling of 
funds received or set aside for specific purposes, other than the payables fund account or the payroll 
funds account, shall be accomplished pursuant to instructions approved by the Board of Directors. 
 
 6. Paying interest on deposit moneys.  Special projects such as meter and service 
installations, pipeline construction, fire hydrant installations, etc. require money deposits.  Standard 
connection fees are not considered special projects and do not earn interest upon deposit.  On 
deposits of $10,000 or less, no interest will be earned or returned to the depositor.  Deposits in 
excess of $10,000 shall earn simple interest similar to a bank deposit account at a rate of 5%.  
Casitas shall establish a liability account in the General Ledger in the depositor's name.  Interest 
shall be earned by the depositor from date of deposit.  When expenditures are incurred by Casitas on 
the project, interest will be earned on the deposit less any expenditure to date.  Funds in excess of the 
project will be returned to the depositor.  Where deposits are less than Casitas expenditures on the 
project, the depositor shall pay Casitas the remaining costs plus interest lost based on a usury rate of 
10%. 
 
 7. Powers, functions, and duties assigned herein to the General Manager, Assistant to 
the General Manager and those assigned to the Accounting Manager, with the exception of the 



signing of checks, may be delegated by them to the staff member acting in their respective capacities 
when they are absent from the office. 
 
 8.  Bidding Requirements.  The General Manager is directed to establish a bidding 
procedure for the District.  For all purchases/contracts over $75 income or expense, the General 
Manager shall take bids.  From $75 to $34,999, informal bids shall be taken.  Informal bids shall 
consist of calls to three (3) bidders minimum to obtain prices.  From $35,000 up, formal bids shall be 
taken.  Formal bids require a written specification of the goods and services and a written answer 
after appropriate public notice. 
 
  a.   Bidding Requirements for Small Projects:  If, in the opinion of the General 
Manager, it is difficult for the District to obtain bids for small jobs, the General Manager may 
award purchase orders for work at a cost equal to or less than $5,000 if the following 
requirements are met: 
 

 There are funds available in the unencumbered budget for the work. 
 An estimate is made by staff of the cost of the work before the Purchase 

Order is issued. 
 The work can be completed on a time-and-materials basis. 
 The District is provided a bill detailing the cost of time and materials. 
 A report is made to the Board to be placed on the Information Items 

section of the Agenda which will detail the estimate and the cost, and 
review the quality of work by the contractor. 

 
  b.       Sole Source Purchases.  The General Manager can approve sole source 
purchasing as an exception to section 8 for any of the following reasons: 
 

 Only one available supplier with no available competition. 
 Equipment that was purchased with bidding competition but support, 

spare parts and repairs have to be provided by factory reps with protected 
territory. 

 Services that have been bid out and results have been damaging to Casitas. 
 Products used to maintain system standard when significant spare parts 

inventories need to be maintained and readily available. 
 Utility Companies with which you have to work. 
 Purchases that require significant staff time to get to the location to 

conduct the business in comparison to the cost of item. 
 Agreements on Deposits 
 Sources to Call in Emergencies 

 
 9. Permits.  It shall be the general policy of the Board of Directors of Casitas Municipal 
Water District not to get permits from other public agencies, which are exempted by Governmental 
Code Section 53091, or for recreation due to its federal enclave status.  However, Casitas shall get 
permits where, in the opinion of the Board of Directors, it is appropriate to do so. 
 
 ADOPTED this 12th day of September, 2012. 
 
 
 
 
       ___________________________ 



       Russ Baggerly, President  
       Casitas Municipal Water District 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
_____________________________ 
Bill Hicks, Secretary 
Casitas Municipal Water District 



2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility 

 Progress Report 

 
 

 
Steelhead smolt with gastric radio tag.  Smolt was captured, tagged, and released downstream of the 
Robles Fish Facility in April 2011. 

 
 
 
 

Casitas Municipal Water District 
1055 Ventura Avenue 

Oak View, California 93022 
 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

2

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
 
 

   Page 
 
1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY........................................................................................... 3 
 
2.0 INTRODUCTION....................................................................................................... 4  
 
3.0 FISHERIES MONITORING AND EVALUATION....................................................... 5  
 
 3.1 Upstream Fish Migration Impediment Evaluation ........................................... 6 
 
  3.1.1 Sandbar Monitoring ........................................................................ 19 
 
 3.2 Fish Attraction Evaluation ............................................................................. 21 
 
 3.3 Fish Passage Monitoring .............................................................................. 27 
  
 3.4 Downstream Fish Passage Evaluations ....................................................... 35 
  
 3.5 Downstream Fish Migration through the Robles Reach ............................... 40 
 
4.0 FACILITY OPERATION .......................................................................................... 45 
 
 4.1 Facility Status ............................................................................................... 45 
 
 4.2 Flow Observations and Control... ................................................................. 46 
 
 4.3 Costs Associated with Operation and Monitoring ......................................... 48 
   
 4.4 Assessment of the Effectiveness to Provide Fish Passage .......................... 48 
 
 4.5 Recommendations Regarding the Prioritization of Future Activities ............. 49 
 
 4.6 Recommendations on Revisions Deemed Necessary to the Operations ..... 49 
 
5.0 LITERATURE CITED .............................................................................................. 51 
 
6.0 APPENDIXES ......................................................................................................... 57 
 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

3

1.0 EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

Casitas Municipal Water District (CMWD) is implementing the Robles Fish Passage 

Facility Project (Robles Fish Facility) described in the Biological Assessment (BA) 

proposed by Bureau of Reclamation (USBOR 2003).  The affects of the Robles Fish 

Facility were analyzed in the Biological Opinion (BO) prepared by the National Marine 

Fisheries Service (NMFS 2003a).  This 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress 

Report, as described by the BO, is the culmination of monitoring, evaluation, and 

operational data collected during the reporting period of 01 July 2010 to 30 June 2011.   

 

The monitoring and evaluation studies related to the Robles Fish Facility conducted 

during the 2010-2011 reporting period are included in two main sections of this progress 

report.  The Fisheries Monitoring and Evaluation section includes: upstream fish 

migration impediment evaluation, sandbar monitoring at the mouth of the Ventura River, 

fish attraction evaluation, fish passage monitoring, downstream fish passage 

evaluations, and downstream fish migration through the Robles Reach.  The Facility 

Operation section includes: information and data on the facility status, flow observations 

and control, costs associated with operation and monitoring, assessment of the 

effectiveness to provide fish passage, recommendations of priorities for future activities, 

and revisions deemed necessary to the operations. 

 

A total of 43 water depth transects at six monitoring sites were completed and analyzed 

for the upstream fish migration impediment evaluation in 2011.  The sandbar at the 

mouth of the Ventura River was closed only for short periods during mid October 2011 

and was open for potential volitional steelhead passage during the remainder of the 

reporting period.  A total of 640 O. mykiss juveniles were counted in the area upstream 

and downstream of the Robles Fish Facility during the fish attraction evaluations in 

2011.  This number likely represents multiple counts of some O. mykiss due to smolting 

rates and migration behavior.  During the fish passage monitoring evaluations, 150 O. 

mykiss were detected migrating upstream through the Robles Fish Facility in 2011.  

Twenty-five O. mykiss migrating smolts were captured downstream of the Robles Fish 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

4

Facility; 16 were radio-tagged, 8 PIT-tagged, and one was not tagged.  The mean 

migration rate through the Robles Reach was 2.2 km/day. 

 

2.0 INTRODUCTION 

 

NOAA Fisheries listed the southern California steelhead, Oncorhynchus mykiss, as 

endangered in 1997 (NMFS 1997) under the Endangered Species Act (ESA, 16 U.S.C. 

§ 1531 et. seq.) of 1973.  Steelhead were organized into stocks (i.e., groups) of 

evolutionary significant units (ESU) that were considered to be substantially isolated 

from other steelhead stocks reproductively and were an important part of the 

evolutionary legacy of the species.  The southern California steelhead ESU included, at 

that time, steelhead populations from the Santa Maria River in San Luis Obispo County 

south to Malibu Creek in Los Angeles County.  The ESU was later extended to the 

US/Mexican border in San Diego County during 2002 (NMFS 2003b).  In a later 

delineating approach, NOAA Fisheries recognized the anadromous life history form of 

O. mykiss as a distinct population segment (DPS) as described under the ESA (NMFS 

2005).  The DPS policy differs from the ESU by delineating a group of organisms by 

“marked separation” rather than “substantial reproductive isolation”.  In the case of O. 

mykiss of the southern California steelhead ESU, this marked separation between the 

two life history forms was considered valid because of physical, physiological, 

ecological, and behavioral factors related to its anadromous life history characteristics.  

Both resident and anadromous O. mykiss, where the two forms co-occur and are not 

reproductively isolated, are still part of the ESU; however, the anadromous O. mykiss 

(i.e., steelhead) are now part of a smaller subset identified as the southern California 

steelhead DPS.   

 

Rainbow trout (O. mykiss) can be generally organized into four large groupings (Behnke 

1992; Scott and Crossman 1973): 1) coastal rainbow trout that extend from northern 

Baja California to northern Alaska near the Kuskokwim River and also the Kamchatkan 

Peninsula of northeastern Asia, 2) redband trout of the inland Columbia and Frazer 

River basins, 3) redband trout of the central valley of California, and 4) trout of the Gulf 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

5

of California drainages.  The taxonomic group of coastal rainbow trout, O. m. irideus, 

exhibit two life history forms; anadromous and resident.  The common name for the 

anadromous life history form is termed steelhead trout and the resident form is generally 

termed rainbow trout.  Throughout the range of coastal rainbow trout, there is a 

widespread occurrence of the anadromous life history form (Behnke 1992).  There are 

two general life history patterns exhibited by adult anadromous steelhead when they 

return from the ocean to spawn in fresh water.  The patterns are grouped by either 

summer or winter spawning runs.  There are many exceptions to this pattern, but this 

general characterization has been used to group steelhead spawning runs by the 

season in which the peak occurs as they return from the ocean (Busby et al. 1996).  

Summer steelhead are generally found in river systems that drain from farther inland, 

such as the Columbia River basin.  Winter steelhead runs are typically found in the 

coastal systems where the river systems are not as large.  The winter steelhead life 

history pattern is the most abundant anadromous life history within the natural range of 

the species (Busby et al. 1996).    

 

3.0 FISHERIES MONITORING AND EVALUATION 

 

The monitoring and evaluation studies and activities related to the modification of the 

Robles Facility, as outlined in the BO (NMFS 2003a), were intended to achieve three 

main objectives: 

 

I.  Monitor Fish Passage Facility operations and performance. 

II.  Determine if the Fish Passage Facility functions and operates in such a fashion 

 that migrating steelhead: 

  a. Successfully navigate into and through the facility, and 

  b. Move through the facility in good physical condition. 

III.  Determine if the operations at the Robles Diversion are enhancing the 

 opportunity for: 

  a. Adult steelhead to migrate upstream to the Robles Facility, and 

  b. Smolts and kelts to migrate downstream through the Robles Reach. 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

6

5-year Reevaluation of Initial Evaluation and Monitoring Activities 

 

As described in the BO, a 5-year reevaluation of the initial fish flow operations would be 

conducted to determine if monitoring and evaluations have been completed (NMFS 

2003a).  The initiation of the 5-year period began in 2006, which was the first year the 

Robles Fish Facility was fully operational.  An annual and ongoing reevaluation began 

after the 2010 fish passage season.  Through the Cooperative Decision Making 

Process, the Robles Biological Committee will review each of the specific evaluations 

and determine if the original objectives have been addressed and could be discontinued 

or if additional study would be needed.  It is recommended that all aspects of the 

monitoring and evaluation for the Robles Fish Facility be continued during 2012.  Due to 

the variable water conditions and insufficient number of adult and juvenile steelhead, 

the objectives of the monitoring and evaluation program have not yet been 

accomplished.  Each aspect of the monitoring and evaluation will be evaluated annually 

to determine if sufficient information exist to complete each objective.  See Appendix 36 

for correspondence among Biological Committee participants related to the 2011 

progress report and 2012 study plan. 

 

3.1 Upstream Fish Migration Impediment Evaluation 

 

Introduction 

 

The ability of adult steelhead to swim upstream can be impeded during the migration 

season at times of low-river flow (NMFS 2003a).  Evaluations at shallow water habitat 

units (i.e., critical riffles) have been commonly used as a method to determine if 

impediments exist for adult and juvenile steelhead in California rivers (Dettman and 

Kelley 1986; Bratovich and Kelley 1988; Hager 1996).  The Robles Reach, which 

extends downstream from the Robles Fish Facility approximately 6.5 km (NMFS 2003a) 

to just upstream of the San Ana Boulevard bridge (Appendix 1), is a wide alluvial 

section of the Ventura River that is composed of active wash deposits of unconsolidated 

silt, sand, gravel, and boulders (Tan and Jones 2006).  Due to this type of channel 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

7

morphology and geology, alluvial channels like the Robles Reach have high infiltration 

rates that cause channel surface flow to rapidly recede and cease shortly after storm 

events (Cooke et al. 1992).   

 

An initial assessment of potential passage impediments in relation to river discharge 

was completed by ENTRIX (1999).  The physical characteristics of seven potential 

impediments were evaluated using the Thompson (1972) passage criteria.  The 

Thompson (1972) passage criteria for adult steelhead at critical riffles is a water depth 

of 0.6 ft for 25% of the total transect width and a continuous portion equal to 10% of the 

total transect width.  ENTRIX (1999) also evaluated the potential impediments using a 

criteria of 0.5 ft and 0.6 ft depth for 25% of the total width and a total of 8 ft width for 

both depths.  The resulting discharge required was estimated to be between 40 and 65 

cfs.  There have been several modifications to the Thompson passage criteria by other 

researchers; Dettman and Kelly (1986) on the Carmel River used a depth of 0.6 ft over 

a 5 ft continuous section, a criteria of 0.6 ft depth over an 8 ft section was used on the 

Santa Ynez River (SYRTAC 2000), and Harrison et al. (2006) used a criteria of 0.6 ft 

depth over a 10 ft section on the Santa Clara River.  Thompson’s (1972) depth criterion 

of 0.6 ft was not based on actual migration observations and was never validated.  It 

has been observed that adult salmonids can successfully move through shallower riffles  

than the 0.6 ft criterion (Mosley 1982).   

 

The objective of the impediment evaluation is to assess factors that may impede 

steelhead’s ability to migrate to the fish passage facilities (NMFS 2003a).  Because of 

the potential for low-river flows to impede upstream fish migration, the Robles Reach 

will be the primary focus of the impediment evaluations (NMFS 2003a). 

 

Methods 

 

Selected channel features that may pose an impediment to upstream passage were 

surveyed multiple times during the fish migration season (January through June) to 

measure water depth, velocity, and channel width along a transect at each site.  The 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

8

selected sites were surveyed over a range of discharges from approximately 30-100 cfs 

(the upper limit was dependent on the ability to safely conduct the surveys), which was 

correlated with discharge at the Robles Fish Facility.  The number of repeated surveys 

was dependent on the number and duration of significant rain events, rate of 

hydrograph recession, and time constraints due to other aspects of the monitoring and 

evaluation program.  The impediment surveys will most likely be conducted over a 

period of 3-4 years given the natural variation of water conditions.  The selected 

impediment sites will be resurveyed as many times as needed to develop a statistically 

rigorous data set to evaluate fish passage in relation to Robles Fish Facility discharge.   

 

During the initial phase, the Ventura River was surveyed from the mouth to the Robles 

Fish Facility (23 km) using standard stream survey techniques and was completed in 

2008 (CMWD 2008).  This provided physical measurements of all habitat units for the 

selection process.  The survey methodology followed Moore et al. (2002) and was 

equivalent to a level IV survey as described in the California Salmonid Stream Habitat 

Restoration Manual (Flosi et al. 2002).   

 

Over the course of three meetings and one conference call between 24 January and 18 

June of 2009, the Biological Committee (BC) for the Robles Fish Facility completed an 

impediment site selection process that culminated in the selection of eight sites that 

would be monitored for the impediment evaluation.  The BC reviewed physical 

parameters of the 379 habitat units surveyed and general river characteristics that 

included: unit type, length, width, water depth, slope, longitudinal location (river km), 

step height on step units, discharge at Foster Park and the Robles Fish Facility at the 

time of the surveys, and a river profile for the 23 km of the Ventura River surveyed.  

Upon completing an initial assessment of this data, a list of potential sites was 

developed that the BC visited in the field on 27 May 2009 to determine if monitoring was 

warranted.  This data and field assessment included regular BC members Mike Kinsey 

(BOR), Stan Glowacki (NMFS), Mary Larson (CDFG), and Scott Lewis (CMWD).  

Hydrologists Bob Hughes (CDFG) and David Crowder (NMFS) were also involved in 

this assessment and selection process.   



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

9

ENTRIX Site Assessments 

 

An effort was made to locate and determine the status of the ENTRIX (1999) sites 

during 2009.  Because there had been numerous bed-mobilizing runoff events after the 

study was completed, the status of the sites was unknown and needed to be 

determined.  Based on the site descriptions in the ENTRIX (1999) study report, field 

surveys were conducted to locate and describe the existing channel conditions at the 

original site locations.   

 

Of the seven sites originally identified by ENTRIX (1999), only four sites were located 

with any degree of certainty.  Of those four sites, all were no longer in the primary low-

flow channel.  Sites 1-3 were originally located between the Robles Fish Facility and the 

Hwy 150 bridge.  The river channel in the general area where these sites were located 

has migrated naturally due to bed-mobilizing runoff events (primarily during a 2005 flood 

event) since the study was completed.  The area where sites 1-3 were located may 

indeed still be within the river channel, but because of GPS field measurement errors 

(Larry Wise, ENTRIX, personal communication), their exact locations and status could 

not be determined.  Even if those three sites are still within the river channel, there 

could have been longitudinal migration of the channel features over the last 10 years.  

Site 4 was originally located just upstream of the Hwy 150 bridge.  The channel, based 

on photos from 2003, migrated laterally approximately 20 m towards the left bank 

(looking upstream, and all other examples) caused from natural channel meandering.  

Site 5 was originally located just downstream of Santa Ana Blvd bridge.  Based on 

photos from 2003, the channel has moved latterly approximately 30 m from the right 

bank towards left bank.  This could be partly due to channel modifications made by 

CalTrans near the bridge in recent years (Mary Larson, CDFG, personal 

communication).  Sites 6 and 7 were both originally located near the community of 

Casitas Springs.  Site 6 was located behind the Arroyo Trailer Park and Site 7 was 

located approximately 200 yards downstream (ENTRIX 1999).  Based on aerial photos 

of this area prior to the 2005 flood event, the river channel was located considerably 

closer to the left bank than in 2009.  The main low-flow river channel in 2009 was 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

10

located on the right bank against the levee that protects Casitas Springs from high 

water runoff events.  This represented approximately a 30 m shift to the right bank for 

Site 6 and a 50 m shift for Site 7.  The main low-flow channel at sites 6 and 7 appeared 

to have switched between preexisting channels and was not the result of natural 

meandering over the last 10 years.  Of the four original sites that could be located, all 

would be inundated at higher flows; however, because low-flow river conditions are the 

focus of the upstream fish impediment evaluation (NMFS 2003a), new sites were 

needed for future evaluations. 

 

Results 

 

During 2011, a total of 54 water depth transects were completed.  Discharge from the 

Robles Fish Facility ranged from 30 to 100 cfs when transects were conducted.  There 

was a high-flow event that peaked on 20 March 2011.  The peak flow of approximately 

20,000 cfs at the USGS Foster Park gage station represented a recurrence interval of 

about 6 years.  Data from 11 transects collected prior to the high-flow event could not 

be used in the 2011 analyses because some impediments sites were altered 

significantly by the high flow event.  It appeared that the lower in the Ventura River a 

site was, the more an impediment site and the channel were altered.  Because of the 

high-flow event, only 43 transects were analyzed in this report.  Data were analyzed by 

modeling discharge from the Robles Fish Facility and water depth at each site for 

several passage criteria that resulted in numerous adult steelhead passage criteria 

discharges.   

 

Site 2, which was located near the Ojai Valley Sanitary District treatment plant at rkm 

7.5, was surveyed only once prior to the March high-flow event.  The high-flow event 

substantially changed Site 2 and it no longer appeared to be a potential impediment.  

Prior to the high flow event, Site 2 was characterized by having a long transverse riffle 

with dense vegetation that had progressively developed since the January 2005 high-

flow event.  In addition, approximately 80% of the discharge was flowing through the 

middle section of the riffle through a series of small channels in the vegetation.  After 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

11

the March 2011 high-flow event, two additional large channels were scoured through 

the riffle, one upstream and one downstream of the old primary channel (Appendix 15a).  

The upper most channel became the new primary channel and was visually estimated 

to pass approximately 85% of the total site discharge.  The old primary channel had 

approximately 10% of the discharge and the lower new channel passed the remaining 

5%.  The area of the riffle in which the old primary channel was located received a 

substantial amount of gravel and cobble deposition from the March flow event.  This 

likely contributed to the decrease of the percentage of total flow post flood in this area of 

the site.  At the time of the visual estimates, numerous depth measurements were also 

recorded.  The new primary channel, which passed 85% of the discharge, had 

maximum depths that ranged from 1.2 to 3.2 ft in the thalweg and a mean of 2.1 ft for 

five depths measured.  At the time of the depth measurements and visual estimates, the 

discharge at Foster Park and the Robles Fish Facility was 46 cfs and 30 cfs, 

respectively.  The scour of new channels by the March high-flow event substantially 

changed the channel at Site 2.  Due to the large amount of total discharge and water 

depths in one of the new channels, during a time of lower flow from the Robles Fish 

Facility, this site was no longer considered a potential impediment and monitoring was 

not conducted after the March 2011 high-flow event.   

 

Site 3 was also affected by the March 2011 high-flow event.  The site was not altered 

enough to consider it substantially different.  However, the March event did cause 

significant scour and depositional changes about 600 m upstream of the site where two 

channels split.  These changes forced the vast majority of the river’s flow to move to the 

left channel (looking upstream).  Site 3 was originally located next to the Casitas 

Springs levee in the right channel.  After the March 2011 high-flow event, there was 

approximately 80% of the flow in this new primary channel.  The two channels split for 1 

km before returning together.  This switching between the two channels has occurred in 

the past.  In fact, one of the original ENTRIX (1999) impediment sites was located in this 

new primary channel.  After determining the primary channel had changed, a new 

impediment site was selected on 27 March and monitoring began on 28 March 2011.  It 

was reasoned that a new site needed to be selected immediately to take advantage of 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

12

post-storm flows rather than going through a lengthy Biological Committee selection 

process and lose a data collection opportunity.  The committee was notified of the 

change in a letter dated 29 April 2011.  The new impediment site was located at the 

upstream end of the new primary channel.  After visually surveying the 1 km reach of 

the new primary channel, the new site (Site 3-2) appeared to be clearly the most 

significant potential impediment. 

 
Site 3-2 was surveyed four times at discharges at Robles ranging from 30 to 69 cfs and 

Foster Park discharges ranging from 77 to 258 cfs.  The Site 3-2 regression produced 

plausible results using the Thompson passage criteria (Appendix 3), which were 30 and 

86 cfs.  The resulting minimum discharges required to meet the three other criteria were 

negative and therefore not plausible.  However, when the regression was forced 

through the origin, the resulting discharges ranged from 10 to 19 cfs.  Minimum passage 

discharge to meet Thompson criteria were also calculated using the site discharge, 

which were 93 and 186 cfs (Appendix 4).   

 

Site 4 was surveyed six times at Robles discharges ranging from 31 to 76 cfs.  The 

March high-flow event did not appear to alter Site 4 substantially.  To validate and 

quantify this observation, the percent length and continuous length regressions were 

tested to compare the 2010 and 2011 results.  There was no significant difference 

between the 2010 and 2011 regressions for the percent length of Site 4 that was ≥ 0.6 ft 

(p-value = 0.07, one-way ANCOVA).  In addition, there was no significant difference 

between the 2010 and 2011 regressions for the continuous length of Site 4 that was ≥ 

0.6 ft (p-value = 0.9, one-way ANCOVA).  Therefore, the transect data from 2010 and 

2011 were combined into one regression model to increase the sample size that 

improved the regression statistics.  The resulting minimum discharges required to meet 

the Thompson criteria were 62 and 50 cfs (Appendix 5).  The resulting minimum 

discharges required to meet the three other criteria ranged from 40 to 69 cfs.  The 

minimum discharge to meet the Thompson criteria when using the site discharge were 

61 and 43 cfs (Appendix 6).  Figures for sites 4, 7, and 8 include individual regression 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

13

lines for each year as well as a line for the combined years.  The resulting Robles 

discharges at those site for 2011 are in Appendix 19a. 

 

The March high-flow event caused substantial changes at Site 5.  The primary channel 

changed from the right (Site 5-1) to the left channel (Site 5-2) due primarily to sediment 

scour and some deposition.  Previously, approximately 80% of the discharge was 

flowing through Site 5-1.  After the high-flow event, approximately 60% of the discharge 

was flowing through Site 5-2.  In fact, there was significantly more discharge flowing 

through Site 5-2 than 5-1 after the high-flow event (one-sided p-value < 0.001, t-test).  

Because Site 5-2 was the primary channel, it was used in all analyses.  Site 5-2 was 

surveyed five times after the high-flow event.  Robles discharge ranged from 30 to 74 

cfs.  The resulting minimum discharges required to meet the Thompson criteria were 55 

and 14 cfs (Appendix 7).  One of the resulting minimum discharges required to meet the 

three other criteria was negative and therefore not plausible.  The regression was then 

forced through the origin and the resulting discharges ranged from 11 to 23 cfs.  The 

minimum discharge to meet the Thompson criteria when using the site discharge were 

48 and 3 cfs (Appendix 8) 

 

Site 6, which was located about 1.3 km upstream from Santa Ana bridge, was 

substantially modified by the March high-flow event (Appendix 15h).  A second channel 

was created that separated about 20 m upstream of the site.  The two channels 

reconnected approximately 200 m downstream.  Initial observations indicated that both 

channels appeared to have similar discharges; therefore, measurements were collected 

in both channels to determine the primary channel.  The original channel had 

approximately 46% of the flow and the new channel had 54%.  However, this small 

difference was not statistically significant (p-value = 0.12, t-test).  After further analysis, 

the resulting minimum Thompson discharges for the new side channel were not 

plausible at -203 and -54 cfs.  Furthermore, the regression for the percent total length 

was not statistically significant (p-value = 0.33).  The original channel was chosen for 

final analysis because there was no significant difference in discharge between the two 

channels, the new channel regression produced non-plausible results, and original 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

14

channel had improved regression statistics.  The original channel (Site 6-2) was 

surveyed five times at Robles discharges ranging from 30 to 75 cfs (Appendix 9).  The 

resulting minimum discharges required to meet the Thompson criteria were 64 and 65 

cfs.  The resulting minimum discharges required to meet the three other criteria ranged 

from 35 to 96 cfs (Appendix 9).  Like the Robles discharge analysis, the site discharge 

analysis comparing the new channel with the original channel had similar results.  The 

discharge for the Thompson criteria were not plausible at -68 to -440 cfs.  

Consequently, the original channel for site discharge analysis was deemed most 

appropriate for the same reasons.  The minimum discharge to meet the Thompson 

criteria when using the site discharge were 31 and 32 cfs (Appendix 10).   

 

Site 7 was not substantially modified by the March high-flow event.  There were only 

two post-storm transects conducted and therefore a valid statistical comparison 

between the pre and post high-flow event results could not be done.  However, the site 

visually appeared very similar before and after the high-flow event and the one directly 

comparable discharge produced similar results.  As soon as additional data are 

collected, a comparison will be made.  The data from 2010 and 2011 were combined for 

the final analysis.  Site 7 was surveyed five times during 2011 at Robles discharges 

ranging from 31 to 76 cfs.  The resulting minimum discharges required to meet the 

Thompson criteria were 23 and 53 cfs (Appendix 11).  The resulting minimum 

discharges required to meet the three other criteria ranged from 13 to 26 cfs.  The 

minimum discharge to meet the Thompson criteria when using the site discharge were 

17 and 41 cfs (Appendix 12).   

 

Site 8, like Site 7 and 4, was not substantially modified by the March high-flow event.  

There were only three post-storm transects conducted and therefore a statistical 

comparison between the pre and post high-flow event results was not suitable.  

However, the site visually appeared very similar before and after the high-flow event 

and the data recorded were similar.  Like Site 7, when additional data are collected, a 

comparison will be made.  The data from 2010 and 2011 were combined for the final 

analysis.  Site 8 was surveyed five times during 2011 at Robles discharges ranging from 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

15

31 to 75 cfs.  The resulting minimum discharges required to meet the Thompson criteria 

were -77 and 6 cfs (Appendix 13).  The resulting minimum discharges required to meet 

the three other criteria ranged from 16 to 28 cfs.  The minimum discharge to meet the 

Thompson criteria when using the site discharge were -74 and -2 cfs (Appendix 14).   

Photos of the potential impediment sites at a Robles discharge of about 30 cfs are in 

Appendix 15a-h for reference.   

 

The regression equations and statistics for the four passage criteria using the Robles 

discharge are in Appendix 16.  The calculated minimum discharges to meet the four 

passage criteria using the Robles discharge are in Appendix 17.  The regression 

equations and statistics for the Thompson passage criteria using the site discharge are 

in Appendix 18.  The calculated minimum discharges to meet the Thompson passage 

criteria using the site discharges are in Appendix 19. 

 
Discussion 

 

The survey and analytical methods used to evaluate the potential impediments in the 

Ventura River appeared to be able to produce plausible estimates of minimum 

discharge needed for adult steelhead passage in most cases.  This is assuming that the 

criteria are valid in determining passage success.  The intent of evaluating the 

impediments using the aforementioned criteria was simply to continue the validation 

process and determine if similar results could be obtained to that of ENTRIX (1999) on 

the Ventura River. 

 

ENTRIX (1999) used the criteria developed by Thompson (1972) for adult steelhead at 

potential impediments, which is a water depth of 0.6 ft for 25% of the total transect width 

and a continuous portion equal to 10% of the width.  ENTRIX also evaluated the 

potential impediments using a modification that would produce a water depth of 0.6 ft 

over a continuous width of 8 ft.  The transect that required the highest minimum 

discharge to meet the two criteria was used to determine the discharge needed for adult 

steelhead passage, which was a range of 40-65 cfs.  Although it is not clear, it appears 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

16

that NMFS averaged these two numbers and subtracted 10% of the difference 

[(65+40)/2)-(65-40)x0.1] to develop the initial minimum flow of 50 cfs for the Robles Fish 

Facility (NMFS 2003a).  The discharge estimates by ENTRIX (1999) were generally 

lower than those produced by field measurements during 2010 and 2011.  The mean 

discharge of all ENTRIX sites for the 25% criterion was about 28 cfs.  The mean of the 

sites, excluding Site 8, reported here was about 53 cfs.  There appears to be several 

possible reasons for the differences that could include: (1) ENTRIX used a modeling 

approach that was based on data collected from a dry channel.  At the time of site 

selection and survey, any potential side channels were not evident and therefore all of 

the modeling would have assumed the flowing water would have passed only through 

the primary channel.  (2) Several of the sites surveyed during 2011 included areas that 

developed secondary and even tertiary channels at higher flows.  These sites were also 

selected when there was no surface water flowing and led to the same potential error.  

However, the field surveys during 2010 and 2011 revealed that as the discharge 

increased, surface water began to flow in the side channels resulting in higher 

discharge estimates.  Lastly, (3) vegetation at the lower river sites caused surface 

channel water to spread out into shallow areas that resulted in higher estimates.  Field 

measurements, like those collected during 2010 and 2011 could detect these types of 

differences.  In contrast, the single transect modeling that ENTRIX conducted was 

incapable of determining such distinctions.  The vegetation growth in the lower river is 

likely due to the rising ground water downstream of the Robles Reach and inflow from 

San Antonio Creek that provides perennial water for vegetation establishment and 

growth. 

 

The 20 March 2011 high-flow event caused substantial changes to the Ventura River 

channel.  These channel changes altered some of the impediment monitoring sites, 

which necessitated modifications to the monitoring.  Site 2 was altered to the point that 

it no longer appeared to be a potential impediment.  This was at least partially because 

of its location in the Ventura River.  The farther downstream a site was, the larger the 

peak discharge became simply due to the increased drainage area upstream.  Other 

changes were related to new primary channel changes (i.e., switching between two 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

17

existing channels) or creation of entirely new channels.  However, three sites were not 

altered substantially and data from transects conducted in both years were combined 

into one regression model to increase the sample size that improved the regression 

statistics.  Sites that changed little were likely able to dissipate more hydraulic energy as 

in the case of a wide channel or withstand the hydraulic energy without substantial 

change in the case of a channel with less mobile substrate (Leopold et al. 1964). 

   

There was a clear difference between minimum discharge results based on Robles 

discharge as opposed to site discharge used in the analyses.  At Site 3-2, the minimum 

discharge to meet Thompson criteria when using the Robles discharge was 30 and 86 

cfs.  When using the site discharge in the analysis, the minimum discharge was 93 and 

186 cfs.  This difference of 63 to 100 cfs was due to the tributary flow from San Antonio 

Creek, surface runoff, channel recharge, and other smaller drainages and tributaries.  

Site 3-2 was located downstream of the San Antonio Creek confluence with the Ventura 

River.  The discharge from San Antonio Creek and the Ventura River upstream of their 

confluence share a similar pattern to their hydrographs.  In comparing a 32-day period 

after the March high-flow event, the discharge between San Antonio Creek and the 

Ventura River upstream of the confluence was highly correlated (R2 = 0.99, p-value 

<0.0001, linear regression).  This should not be too surprising since the Ventura River 

basin is affected by storm precipitation in a similar pattern and produces a similar post-

storm hydrograph among tributaries.  Therefore, even though the minimum discharge to 

meet the Robles-based Thompson criteria was less, the additional water needed to 

meet the site-based Thompson criteria was intrinsically integrated into the Robles-

based model given the similar post-storm hydrographs.  Because 2011 was the first 

year data were collected at Site 3-2, only four transects were completed and additional 

data would be needed before conclusions could be made. 

 

Upstream of the San Antonio Creek and the Ventura River confluence, the Robles-

based minimum discharges were generally greater than the site-based discharges.  

This appeared to be due to the presence of side channels.  Simply, the site-based 

minimum discharge did not include the secondary channel and the Robles-based 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

18

minimum discharge did.  This difference was generally proportional to the size of the 

secondary channel.  The smallest difference was at Site 4, where there was only a 1 cfs 

difference for the 25% transect length criterion; 62 cfs for the Robles-based and 61 cfs 

for the site-based discharges.        

 

Data must be collected at the new impediment sites or additional data collected at sites 

that changed substantially.  Data collected at sites where the bed cross sections 

changed cannot be combined with previous data and analyzed.  This situation applies to 

sites 3-2, 5-2, and 6-2.  For sites where data could be combined for both years, some 

improvement to regression equations was gained.  Site 4 showed significant model 

improvement for all criteria evaluated.  In fact, Site 4 was the most consistent and 

robust site modeled to date because 1) the model results were similar for all criteria 

evaluated, 2) the criteria results were from model interpolation and not extrapolation, 3) 

all models were highly significant (0.001), 4) and the models all conformed to a general 

conceptual model that would necessitate a negative y-intercept (i.e., no locations on a 

transect would have a water depth ≥ 0.6 ft before the Robles discharge reached zero).   

 

The limitations of the criteria, method, and/or channel applicability became evident at 

other sites.  Site 7 began to deviate from the conceptual model of a negative y-intercept.  

Not to a degree that there were non-significant models that produce non-plausible 

results, only that a more horizontal model was evident for the percent length models; it 

also suffered from extrapolation issues.  Site 8 produce essentially non-plausible results 

for the percent length models.  At -77 and 6 cfs for the Thompson criteria, the limitations 

were apparent.  It appears that for some channel shapes, modeling percent length may 

not be a valid approach to determine minimum discharge.  Even though an absolute 

measurement will change (e.g., length in feet), a relative measurement (e.g., length as a 

percent of total) may not. 

 

Additional data analysis may be conducted as more data from each site are collected.  

Different non-linear models can be explored that could fit the data better and data 

transformations can be conducted.  For example, the Thompson method plots percent 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

19

length; however, this is generally not an accepted statistical practice when using 

standard linear regression.  Regardless of the passage criteria ultimately used, the 

survey and analytical methods used to evaluate the potential impediments appeared to 

produce reasonable estimates of minimum discharge in many cases.  Additional data 

collection and analysis will likely improve the results.   

  

3.1.1 Sandbar Monitoring 

 

Introduction 

 

The Ventura River, like many other California rivers, typically develops a seasonal 

sandbar at the mouth during the late spring or summer that is breached by higher river 

flows in the late fall or winter.  If a sandbar does develop, which occurs more often 

during dry years, the resulting lagoon can provide important rearing habitat for 

steelhead juveniles because of the abundant food resources available that can facilitate 

the physiological and behavioral changes associated with smoltification (Cannata 1998) 

and can also enhance marine survival (Bond et al. 2008).   

 

The primary objective of the sandbar monitoring is to determine if the criteria for 

initiation of the fish passage augmentation season have been met (NMFS 2003a).  As 

stipulated in the BO, the fish passage augmentation season will extend from 01 January 

through 30 June of each year and will commence after the sandbar has been breached 

at least once during the current year’s fish flow operations season.  During the fish 

passage augmentation season, several Robles Fish Facility operation criteria must also 

be implemented (see NMFS 2003a for a complete list of operational criteria). 

   

Methods 

 

During each sandbar inspection, observations and recordings were made that included: 

date, time, status of the sandbar, general location of the mouth, tidal stage, water 

temperature, and discharge at the Robles Fish Facility and the USGS Foster Park gage 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

20

station.  Because the sandbar was open on 01 January 2011, its status was monitored 

once every two weeks for the remainder of the fish passage season.  During the 

remainder of the year, the sandbar was monitored at least monthly. 

 

Results 

 

During the reporting period, July 2010 through June 2011, the mouth of the Ventura 

River was inspected 20 times to determine if the sandbar was open or closed.  Thirteen 

of the observations occurred during the fish passage augmentation season (01 January 

to 30 June 2011) and seven were outside of the fish passage augmentation season.  

The sandbar was only closed during the October observation; however, this closure was 

brief in nature because it only occurred during low tides.  During high tides, the surface 

water reached the Pacific Ocean (Appendix 20).  In mid December of 2010, the sandbar 

was open and the Ventura River was flowing into the Pacific Ocean allowing fish to 

volitionally enter or exit the estuary.  On 03 January 2011, the sandbar was also open, 

which officially initiated the beginning of the fish passage augmentation season.  The 

sandbar was open for the remainder of the 2011 fish passage augmentation season.  

On the days the sandbar was inspected during the reporting period, the discharge at the 

USGS Foster Park gage station ranged from approximately 5 to 1,200 cfs and 0 to 364 

cfs at the Robles Fish Facility.  The river was observed exiting almost exclusively from 

the west side of the estuary during the reporting period.  During the 25 March 2011 

observation, the river was exiting from two locations on each side of the sandbar due to 

the high river discharge.  This observation occurred 5 days past the peak of a storm 

event. 

 

Discussion 

 

The sandbar at the mouth of the Ventura River tends to remain open during average 

and above average precipitation years and can close at times during years with few 

significant rain events (Lewis et al. 2010).  During 2005 and 2006, the sandbar 

remained open and did not close until April of 2007 after an extended period of low 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

21

precipitation (Appendix 21).  During 2008, the sandbar was only closed during October 

and November and reopened in December.  During the period that the sandbar was 

closed in December of 2007, the lagoon had a surface area of 4.7 ha.  During an open 

period in August of 2008, the estuary had a surface area of 2.8 ha, which represents an 

approximately 70% increase in surface area during periods when the sandbar was 

closed (Lewis et al. 2010).   

 

The tendency for the sandbar to remain open in all but very dry years is likely due to a 

few factors.  Although the mid reach of the Ventura River goes dry every year, 

subsurface water continues to flow and eventually begins to resurface just upstream of 

the confluence with San Antonio Creek and continues to increase slightly proceeding 

downstream.  Additionally, treated effluent water from the Ojai Valley Sanitary District at 

rkm 7.5 increases the river discharge by approximately 3 cfs.  Finally, tributary flow from 

San Antonio Creek also adds to the Ventura River through a surface or subsurface 

connection throughout the year.  These factors contribute to the quantity at the mouth of 

the Ventura River to keep the sandbar from fully forming and closing the outlet during 

most years.  The status of the sandbar indicates changes in the estuary/lagoon that 

may help determine potential entry and exit condition for adult and juvenile steelhead.  It 

appears that passage conditions remain suitable during most seasons when steelhead 

are likely migrating.  However, conditions optimal for juvenile rearing, which is when the 

sandbar is closed and a deeper freshwater lagoon is formed, appears limited most 

years. 

 

3.2 Fish Attraction Evaluation 

 

Introduction 

 

River discharge has been shown to be one of several key environmental factors 

initiating and facilitating steelhead and other salmonid adult and juvenile migrations in 

natural fluvial environments (Shapovalov and Taft 1954; Banks 1969; Spina et al. 2005).  

As adults and juveniles approach fish passage facilities, sufficient discharge and water 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

22

velocities become even more important to ensure successful passage through any 

facility (Clay 1995; Beeman and Maule 2001).   

 

The entrance of the fish ladder at the Robles Fish Facility is located approximately 20 m 

downstream of the spillway gates and is where fish migrating upstream enter and where 

fish migrating downstream exit.  The downstream end of the ladder is adjacent to a 

large pool (entrance pool) that was scoured out and maintained by high discharges 

through the spillway gates.  Maximum discharge at the exit of the ladder is 170 cfs (50 

cfs through the entire ladder and an additional 120 cfs can be supplemented at the 

lower end of the ladder).  The distance downstream from the entrance pool to the lower 

most interim rock weir is approximately 200 m.  This reach includes all four rock weirs 

and the facility’s low-flow road crossing, which is also the weir used to measure 

discharge for the Robles Fish Facility.  The habitat unit types that can be used by 

migrants in this reach includes the four pools created by the weirs, a glide created by 

the low flow road crossing, a riffle, and the entrance pool.   

 

The objective of the fish attraction evaluation is to determine if adult or juvenile 

steelhead were holding immediately downstream of the Robles Fish Facility during the 

fish passage augmentation season (NMFS 2003a). 

 

Methods 

 

The fish attraction surveys were conducted on a weekly basis during the fish passage 

season from January through June of 2011.  The particular survey methodology used 

was determined based on water visibility, river discharge, and expected steelhead life 

history stage present at the time of the survey.  From January through March 2011, 

which is when the vast majority of adults were expected to be migrating upstream 

(Shapovalov and Taft 1954), bank surveys were the predominant method used.  

Beginning in March through the remainder of the fish passage season, snorkel surveys 

were the predominant method used, which is when steelhead smolts were expected to 

migrate downstream (Shapovalov and Taft 1954; Spina et al. 2005).  Bank surveys 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

23

were conducted by one or two surveyors in an upstream direction.  The surveyors wore 

polarized sunglasses to reduce water surface reflection.  Snorkel surveys were 

conducted by one or two surveyors in an upstream direction.  All fish species were 

identified and enumerated to the greatest extent possible that the river conditions and 

fish densities allowed at the time of the surveys.  Lengths of each O. mykiss were 

estimated to the nearest cm if only a few individuals were present.  At times of greater 

abundance, O. mykiss were grouped and assigned to the nearest length (cm) category.  

In order to collect additional information that may help determine O. mykiss upstream 

and downstream movements through the Robles Fish Facility, an upstream study reach 

was added in 2009.  The upstream study reach included observations in the screenbay 

of the facility and the area immediately upstream of the low-flow fish exit in the forebay.  

The total distance of this upstream reach was approximately 140 m. 

 

Results 

 

A total of 640 O. mykiss were counted from January through June of 2011 in the 340 m 

study reach (Appendix 22).  A total of 7,140 m were surveyed by either bank or snorkel 

methodologies during the 6-month period.  The water temperatures during the study 

period ranged from 11 °C in January to 22 °C in June and turbidity was less than 14 

NTUs.  O. mykiss were first observed in late January and peaked in late April and early 

May and remained between approximately 40 to 60 fish for the remainder of the season 

(Appendix 23).  The discharge at the Robles Fish Facility ranged from about 20 to 50 

cfs at the time of the surveys.  However, during late March between scheduled surveys 

there was a high-flow event that peaked at Foster Park near 20,000 cfs, which 

represented a recurrence interval of about 6 years.  During the period that O. mykiss 

counts began to increase, the discharge was very constant at about 30 cfs.   

 

The 200 m reach downstream of the fish facility was surveyed on 21 separate 

occasions, 3 bank and 18 snorkel surveys.  A cumulative total of 4,200 m were 

surveyed from January through June.  A total of 205 O. mykiss were observed 

downstream of the Robles Fish Facility (Appendix 24).  The peak count for the 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

24

downstream reach was 24 O. mykiss.  After the counts increased in late April, generally 

between 5 and 20 O. mykiss were counted each time for the remainder of the study 

period. 

 

The 140 m reach upstream of the facility was surveyed on 21 separate occasions, 3 

bank and 18 snorkel surveys.  A cumulative total of 2,940 m were surveyed from 

January through June 2011.  A total of 435 O. mykiss were observed in the upstream 

reach.  Observations of O. mykiss upstream of the Robles Fish Facility were somewhat 

similar to downstream counts.  The general pattern of increasing counts in late April and 

remained relatively consistent for the remainder of the season was similar for both 

upstream and downstream counts (Appendix 24). 

 

An additional fish attraction survey method was conducted in 2011.  This entailed 

surveying three times per day for five consecutive days following a BO-defined storm 

event and after a Secchi depth of 1 m was reached in the entrance pool.  These surveys 

were conducted for three storm events and no adult steelhead were observed.  Only 

bank surveys were conducted because the turbidity was too high to conduct snorkel 

surveys.  The BO-defined storm events occurred on 18 February, 26 February, and 20 

March.  The two February events were relatively small and only yielded a mean daily 

discharge of 71 and 133 cfs downstream of the Robles Fish Facility.  Because of this, 

the time for the visibility to reach 1 m was only 1 and 2 days, respectively.  However, the 

March event was much larger and 8 days were needed before the visibility reached 1 m.  

Of the 45 total surveys planned for the post-storm fish attraction study, three were not 

completed.  These were not completed because other aspects of the monitoring 

program were being conducted during this critical post-storm study period. 

  

Discussion 

 

The total count of 640 O. mykiss in the upstream and downstream reaches was in all 

likelihood the result of repeated counts of O. mykiss over the course of the survey 

season.  Because the surveys were conducted weekly, some O. mykiss likely remained 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

25

in the 340 m reach for more than one week and were counted at least one additional 

time; most likely several times.  Without tracking individual O. mykiss (e.g., 

mark/recapture, telemetry, or other tagging studies), the time spent by O. mykiss in 

close proximity to the Robles Fish Facility cannot be determined by observations alone. 

 

From observational counts alone, the ability to interpret the fine-scale migration 

behavior of the O. mykiss near the Robles Fish Facility is limited.  The abundance 

trends were similar for upstream and downstream observations (Appendix 24).  The 

increase of upstream and downstream counts simultaneously would indicate the 

downstream migrating O. mykiss were not delayed, at least within the one-week 

sampling interval, as they passed downstream through the Robles Fish Facility.  Likely 

because of the better water conditions, the fish counts remained somewhat consistent 

in the reaches to the end of the study period.  In previous years, as river flows 

decreased, O. mykiss numbers decreased also due to upstream and downstream 

movement (CMWD 2010).  During 2011, the discharge from the Robles Fish Facility 

remained greater than 25 cfs through the end of the study period and provided O. 

mykiss with sufficient rearing habitat to remain in the study reaches.  Cooler water 

temperatures also likely contributed to the O. mykiss remaining in the study reaches 

through the study period.  It was not until the end of June that measured temperatures 

exceeded 20 °C.   

 

There was a surface water connection to the lower Ventura River for 16 weeks during 

the study period, from mid February to the end of May.  The surface water connection to 

the lower Ventura River was lost after smolt counts had reached peak numbers at the 

Robles Fish Facility.  The majority of the steelhead smolts likely had an opportunity to 

migrate downstream and enter the ocean; however, given that the counts remained 

high, it is clear that a significant portion did not.     

 

Based on qualitative observations during the snorkel surveys, it appeared that most of 

the O. mykiss were going through the smoltfication process.  The onset of smoltification 

can be identified by vanishing parr marks, silvering of the body, and darkening of the 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

26

margins of the fins among other characteristics (Chrisp and Bjornn 1978; Hasler and 

Scholz 1983; Quinn 2005; Spina et al. 2005).  During the survey period, 524 O. mykiss 

(82%) were observed and categorized into five classifications that included parr, three 

transitional phases (T-1, T-2, and T-3), and full smolts following the methods of Hasler 

and Scholz (1983).  This method has been used successfully to classify smolting 

steelhead (Allen Scholz, Eastern Washington University, personal communication).  A 

total of 80% of O. mykiss classified were in early to late smoltification stages (T-1 to full 

smolt).  This would indicate that a downstream smolt migration behavior was likely the 

primary reason for their occurrence in the fish attraction study reach.  Based on snorkel 

observations during June, it appeared the remaining O. mykiss were beginning to revert 

to a resident form (i.e., lightening of the margin of the fins, coloring across lateral line, 

and reappearance of parr marks).  During this period of smolt reversal, maximum daily 

water temperatures began to reach 21 °C, which exceeded the temperature limit of 

smolt regulating enzymes and hormones (Allen Scholz, Eastern Washington University, 

personal communication) and could explain the residualization observations and lack of 

emigration. 

 

The total number of O. mykiss observed during 2011 was substantially more than in 

2010.  During the same period in 2010, 147 O. mykiss juveniles were counted as 

compared to the 640 during 2011 (CMWD 2010).  The dramatic increase was likely due 

in part to the improved water condition that provided suitable habitat in the study reach 

for a greater period.  There was at least one adult steelhead that passed upstream 

through the Robles Fish Facility during 2010; its spawning success was not known.  The 

observed O. mykiss were likely a combination of 1+ and 2+ smolts from steelhead 

broods and resident rainbow trout produced progeny that had smolted and migrated 

downstream in attempt to reach the ocean. 

 

 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

27

3.3 Fish Passage Monitoring 

 

Introduction 

 

Monitoring of migratory fish moving through fish passage facilities has been conducted 

using many different methods that include: visual counting, trapping and hand counting, 

continuous video recording, PIT tagging, radio telemetry, and acoustical telemetry.  In 

each fish passage application, the particular physical and biological conditions (e.g., 

variable discharge, turbidity, debris, size of facility, and number of fish) usually dictate 

which method would be most effective.  New technologies have been employed to 

improve fish passage monitoring in turbid conditions specifically.  One such monitoring 

device is the Vaki Riverwatcher® (Riverwatcher).  The Riverwatcher has the capability to 

operate in greater turbidity than more traditional monitoring equipment.  Because of this 

advertised capability, the Riverwatcher was selected to be used in the Robles Fish 

Facility by the Technical Advisory Group.   

 

The primary objective of fish passage monitoring is to provide an index of the number of 

upstream adults and downstream kelts migrating through the Robles Fish Facility 

(NMFS 2003a).  The Riverwatcher was advertised to detect fish down to a fish body 

depth of about 40 mm (Vaki 2003) and it was not known how well it would work for 

smolt-sized fish given the debris load in the Ventura River (NMFS 2003a). 

 

Methods 

 

Upstream and downstream migrating fish were monitored passing through the Robles 

Fish Facility using the Riverwatcher.  The Riverwatcher is located in the fish bypass 

channel, which is the channel between the fish ladder and fish screens.  The 

Riverwatcher consists of two scanner plates with light diodes that transmit beams of 

infrared light through the water to a corresponding receiver plate.  When a fish swims 

(or debris drifts) through the infrared light beams, it breaks the light signal and a 

silhouette of the fish is recorded on a computer.  Other data recorded when the 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

28

Riverwatcher scanner is triggered are: date and time, total length (TL) of the fish (from a 

length/height ratio), swimming speed (m/sec), and direction of the fish movement 

(upstream or downstream).  In addition, the scanner triggers an underwater camera to 

record a 10-second video clip (25 frames/sec).  Only fish swimming upstream can be 

recorded in the Riverwatcher computer system because it was only designed for one 

camera, and that camera is on the upstream side of the scanner.  An additional two 

cameras were installed in 2008-09 so that video of downstream fish could be captured 

on a digital video recorder (DVR).  Both downstream cameras are located upstream of 

the Riverwatcher scanners in an aluminum tunnel along with the upstream Riverwatcher 

camera.  The downstream digital cameras recorded continuously at 12 frames/sec and 

captured about 2-3 weeks of data until the DVR data storage drive was full (each week 

of data required approximately 4 h to review).  These two downstream cameras are 

independent of the Riverwatcher and have to be reviewed separately for downstream 

detections.  Once the DVR memory is full, it is exchanged with a second DVR and the 

data are reviewed before the DVRs have to be exchanged again.   

 

The Riverwatcher scanner and cameras are positioned at the bottom of an aluminum 

frame covered with 1/2 inch aluminum bars, spaced 1 1/2 inches on center resulting in 1 

inch spacing between the bars (crowder), which directs the fish to swim between the 

scanner plates.  The crowder can be raised and lowered in guide slots of the fish 

bypass channel with the aid of an A-frame hoist for cleaning or repair.  The 

Riverwatcher is usually operated during the entire flow augmentation season as long as 

sufficient water elevations in the fish bypass are present and debris and turbidity are low 

enough so that the crowder will not be damaged and the Riverwatcher will function.  

The Riverwatcher was operated continuously from mid December 2010 through June 

2011 during the reporting period.  During this time, the crowder was removed from the 

fish bypass channel and cleaned or inspected 123 times.  During times of higher debris, 

the cleaning and inspections occurred multiple times per day, and at times of low debris, 

cleaning and inspections occurred only once every 2-3 days.  The crowder was 

removed for cleaning for a combined total of approximately 34 h during the operation 

period, which represented 0.9% of the time the Riverwatcher could have possibly been 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

29

operated if there were no operational limitations.  The Riverwatcher was operated a 

total of 193 days, which was 96.9% of the time the Riverwatcher could have possibly 

been operated. 

 

Prior to 2010, each upstream and downstream Riverwatcher detection was reviewed 

and classified as an adult steelhead, O. mykiss non-adult steelhead, other species if 

identifiable, unknown fish, fish probable, or false detection (see Appendix 25 for 

detection classification flow chart).  At the request of NMFS, this classification system 

was modified during the review process of the 2010 progress report.  All confirmed O. 

mykiss were classified solely as O. mykiss.  The classifications were determined by 

using a combination of the silhouette images, estimated lengths, and video clips.  In 

addition, if larger adult sized O. mykiss were detected and a useful video clip was 

recorded, measurements of eye diameter and standard length (SL) were estimated from 

the video clip to calculate morphometric ratios that were compared to known steelhead 

and rainbow trout.  A commonly used method is to develop ratios of body 

measurements for comparison to remove the effects of body size so actual differences 

can be determined (Strauss and Bond 1990).  This was done by comparing SL to the 

ratio of eye diameter in linear regression.  Standard length is the length from the snout 

to the end of the hypural plate near the end of the fleshy caudal peduncle, which is 

unaffected by caudal fin deformities (Anderson and Neumann 1996).  Previous to 2010, 

the adult steelhead classification was used if the fish observed was an O. mykiss and 

displayed the typical characteristics of an anadromous adult steelhead, such as black 

spotting on dorsal, adipose, and caudal fins, black spotting on dorsal side of body, 

silvery body, vertical edge to caudal fin, ≥ 38 cm TL (Shapovalov and Taft 1954), and 

had an eye diameter/SL ratio ≤ 0.045 (CMWD 2008).  The new classification method 

could have included juvenile resident, smolts, adult resident, and adult anadromous O. 

mykiss migrating throughout the basin.  Conceivably, after more data are collected from 

the downstream trapping component of the monitoring and evaluation, or from other 

Ventura River basin research projects, a more detailed classification of Riverwatcher 

detections could be used again.  The fish unknown classification was used if the 

detection was identified to be a fish based on video evidence, but a fish identity could 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

30

not be determined due to high turbidity or the fish not swimming through the camera 

field of view.  The fish probable classification was used if no fish was observed in the 

video, but the silhouette was similar to that of a typical fish silhouette based on previous 

experience.  Even with reasonably good video coverage, smaller fish were still able to 

pass through the Riverwatcher undetected by the video cameras.  This can occur if the 

fish swim very close, high, or low to the cameras.  In addition, this can happen if an 

upstream fish swims through the scanners then stops before entering the video field of 

view.  High turbidity can also obscure the video detection and identification of fish.  The 

false detection classification was used when no fish was observed in the video and the 

silhouette was not similar to that of a typical fish silhouette based on previous 

experience.  Because false detections tended to occur frequently during higher 

discharges when turbidity and debris were also high, it was likely that most false 

detections were caused by debris, high turbidity, and water turbulence.  When turbidity 

exceeds about 100 NTUs, hundreds of false detections per hour can occur and not until 

turbidity falls below about 30 NTUs is the Riverwatcher fully operational (Table 1). 

 

Table 1.  Riverwatcher operational status over a range of water turbidity (NTUs). 

Turbidity (NTU) Riverwatcher status 
> 200 Not operational 

100-200 Many false detections 
30-100 Scanner operational, but unable to confirm with video 

< 30 Video grid detectable 
0-30 Riverwatcher fully operational 

 

Results 

 

During the 2011 fish migration season, the Riverwatcher recorded 1,124 total 

detections, of which 435 were upstream and 698 were downstream (Appendix 26).  Of 

the total upstream detections, 29% (n = 127) were determined to be fish (excluding 

largemouth bass) and included: 101 O. mykiss, 20 probable fish, and 6 unknown fish.  

Of the total downstream detections, 10% (n = 67) were determined to be fish (excluding 

largemouth bass) and included 49 O. mykiss and 18 probable fish. 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

31

The mean date for the upstream migrating O. mykiss was 25 May and 05 May 2011 for 

the downstream migrating O. mykiss (Appendix 26).  During the migration season, there 

was a general increase of fish detections for both upstream and downstream (Appendix 

27).   

 

Upstream detections occurred essentially at all times of the day, but the modal time was 

1200 h (Appendix 28).  The majority of downstream detections occurred between about 

05:00 h to 13:00 h. 

   

The mean total lengths for both upstream and downstream migrating O. mykiss was 

estimated to be 27 cm (Appendix 26).  Overall lengths of upstream and downstream 

migrating O. mykiss ranged from 20 to 46 cm (Appendix 29).  The software program 

that operates the Riverwatcher estimates the TL of a fish detection based on a ratio of 

height to length (Vaki 2003).  This ratio can be changed depending on available data for 

the target species.  Based on morphometric measurements of O. mykiss mortalities 

over the last several years, an O. mykiss height to TL ratio was estimated to be 5.1:1 for 

fish ranging from about 10 to 28 cm.  During a validation and calibration pilot study, it 

was estimated that the Riverwatcher was underestimating the fish heights by about 10 

mm.  A correction was added to the TL to height ratio to calibrate it to the known fish 

heights.  This calibrated ratio was used to estimate the TL of Riverwatcher detections 

from January through June of 2010.  However, the resulting TL estimates appeared to 

be over estimated when compared to known O. mykiss lengths that were measured in 

2009.  It was decided that a more accurate method would be to use a regression model 

to convert Riverwatcher estimated fish heights to lengths.  Again, from the 

morphometric measurements, a sigmoid regression was conducted to develop a model 

for converting the Riverwatcher fish heights to total lengths (TL = 687.68 / (1 + exp(-(D - 

50.78)/23.97)) / 10, p-value < 0.0001, R2 = 0.99, n = 59, D = body depth).  This 

regression model will continue to be improved upon as more data becomes available.  

In general, the Riverwatcher was inefficient at detecting smolt-sized fish passing 

upstream or downstream and underestimated the size of fish that it did detect.   

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

32

The physical river conditions of temperature, turbidity, and discharge at the time of 

passage were similar for upstream and downstream migrating O. mykiss and other fish 

classifications (Appendix 26).  The mean water temperature recorded during the time O. 

mykiss were migrating upstream was approximately 18 °C and was 16.7 °C for 

downstream migrants.  The mean turbidity levels at the time of passage for upstream 

and downstream O. mykiss was about 2-3 NTUs.  The mean turbidity at the time of the 

false detections in both upstream and downstream directions was approximately 150-

170 NTUs.  The discharge from the Robles Fish Facility at the time of upstream 

passage for O. mykiss was a mean of 30 cfs and 31 cfs for downstream O. mykiss.  

Like turbidity, the periods of false detections coincided with higher discharge.  For a list 

of all fish detections, see Appendix 30.  The total time the Riverwatcher was not 

operational because of high turbidity was 4.7 days, which represented 2.6% of the time 

the Riverwatcher could have been operated if no operational limitations existed.   

   

Discussion 

 

Approximately 939 false detections occurred and were likely due to greater river 

discharges, associated turbidity and debris, and settings of the Riverwatcher to detect 

smaller fish.  In addition, to increase the chance of detecting any adult steelhead, the 

Riverwatcher and crowder were left in the ladder for longer periods at high turbidity.  

Since the Riverwatcher is recommended to be set at a minimum of no less than 40 mm 

(Vaki 2003), an overestimation of fish passage was likely since all false detections could 

not be identified and eliminated.  For the 2011 season, the minimum height was set at 

28 mm so that a large number of false detections could be eliminated while still 

attempting to detect steelhead smolts.  Based on available data from the Ventura Basin, 

the height of 28 mm was determined to be similar to some of the smallest steelhead 

smolts expected to emigrate downstream through the Robles Fish Facility.  The height 

of 28 mm corresponds to 146 mm TL and 139 mm FL.  O. mykiss mortalities found and 

measured during the course of ongoing field monitoring efforts, and subsequently 

turned over to NMFS, were all larger than 146 mm TL.  The estimated fish detection 

rate from the validation pilot study and the comparison of snorkel counts to 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

33

Riverwatcher detections both indicate that as much as 78-88% of smolt sized O. mykiss 

are not detected by the Riverwatcher.  During the 2009 validation pilot study, larger 

sized fish (i.e., height > 60 mm) appeared to be detected nearly 100% of the time.  This 

height is equal to about 300 mm TL and is larger than what would be expected to be 

migrating downstream through the Riverwatcher.  Before a detection rate correction 

could be applied to downstream detections, more data would need to be collected on 

detection efficiency.  The highly variable results from the pilot study were not sufficient 

to develop a correction factor with enough confidence.  Like the detection efficiency, the 

Riverwatcher estimated fish heights were also highly variable and the true error could 

not be determined.  The data collected to date indicates that the Riverwatcher is unable 

to sufficiently monitor steelhead smolt emigration and given the manufacture’s 

operational recommendations, these results should not be surprising.  Additional 

Riverwatcher validation/calibration tests were conducted during the summer of 2011 in 

an attempt to further identify the operation limitations of the Riverwatcher.  These 

results will be reported on in the 2012 progress report. 

 

From general observations over the last several years, and supported by observations 

during the 2009 validation pilot study, O. mykiss juveniles do not move through the fish 

crowder and Riverwatcher quickly.  O. mykiss tend to swim downstream and back 

upstream repeatedly before ultimately moving in one direction.  This lack of uniform and 

rapid directional movement is also supported by observations during fish attraction 

monitoring where O. mykiss have been observed repeatedly swimming in and out of the 

fish ladder on both the upstream and downstream ends.  Also, O. mykiss that appeared 

to be the same fish (based on video and length estimates) have been observed on 

video swimming back and forth through the fish crowder.  O. mykiss juveniles were 

observed holding in areas for extended periods of time before either moving 

downstream or back upstream, which is commonly found in all salmonid smolts (Quinn 

2005).  During the fish attraction surveys, of the O. mykiss that were categorized into 

smolt transformation stages and all stages were observed.  Because the smolt 

migration rate is positively correlated with the smoltification process (Quinn 2005), some 

holding and lack of rapid downstream migration would be expected. 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

34

 The detection of O. mykiss passage by the Riverwatcher did not show the same diel 

migration pattern through the Robles Fish Facility as in 2009 where O. mykiss primarily 

passed downstream just before dawn then passed back upstream just before and after 

dusk.  The reasons for the differences have not been determined at this time.  The early 

morning movement of downstream migrating smolts is common among steelhead 

throughout its range (Dauble et al. 1989).  Monitoring upstream movements of smolts 

has not been studied specifically and little available data exists to make comparisons.  

Most smolt monitoring studies do not have volitional passage with passive monitoring 

like that used at the Robles Fish Facility.  Therefore, the opportunity to examine 

upstream movements is not usually available.  The distance of daily migrations are 

unknown; however, it is likely the fish remained within, or near, the Robles Fish Facility 

before continuing their downstream migration. 

 

As previously discussed, the Riverwatcher’s ability to accurately estimate fish lengths is 

an area that will need more work to fully determine its usefulness in monitoring smolt-

sized O. mykiss.  However, the use of the regression model to estimate TL from the 

Riverwatcher’s estimate of height produced plausible results.  The mean TL of O. 

mykiss detections was larger than what others have documented for steelhead smolts in 

central and southern California.  Shapovalov and Taft (1954) estimated a mean FL for 

2+ and 3+ age smolts at approximately 17 cm.  Spina et al. (2005) also measured a 

mean smolt FL of approximately 17 cm.  This difference could be due to several 

reasons.  The error associated with the Riverwatcher estimates could be one possible 

cause.  In addition, the regression model used does appear to result in an over estimate 

when compared to video estimates.  Regardless, the Ventura River smolts are indeed 

larger and this is probably due to faster growth rates in the warmer water as compared 

to the more northern basins.  Age of the migrants might also explain the differences 

observed; however, no scales of O. mykiss were collected for aging.   

 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

35

3.4 Downstream Fish Passage Evaluations 

 

Introduction 

 

Passage evaluations of migrating salmonids through fish passage facilities have been 

conducted throughout the western United States for many years.  Methods to determine 

if a facility is operating as designed and not causing harm to the intended fish species 

vary.  Early work typically entailed trapping and tagging fish before entering a facility 

and recapturing them after exiting.  Trapping and visual inspections for injuries, PIT 

tagging, radio telemetry, and acoustical telemetry has been conducted extensively as 

well.   

  

There are two objectives for the downstream fish passage evaluation.  The first 

objective is to determine if downstream migrants are successfully passing through the 

Robles Fish Facility.  The second objective is to capture and examine steelhead smolts 

and kelts and determine if there are any injuries that may have been caused by 

downstream passage through the Robles Facility (NMFS 2003a). 

 

Methods 

 

A weir trap was placed and operated approximately 100 m downstream of the Robles 

Fish Facility.  The weir trap consisted of a live-box (120 cm for all three dimensions) 

with an internal fyke.  The trap was situated in the center of the river channel and 

thalweg.  The live-box internal frame was constructed of PVC pipe and covered with 

plastic fencing with 1.9-cm diagonal openings.  A plastic fence (3-cm openings) 

supported by T-bar fence posts was extended upstream on both sides of the live-box at 

30° angles into the river channel and ended near each bank leaving gaps of 

approximately 1 m so adult steelhead could pass upstream by the trap location 

(Appendix 31).  Two-meter deflector wings positioned approximately 14 m upstream of 

the trap were also used to guide shore-orientated smolts toward the thalweg.  Because 

the vast majority of downstream steelhead migrants were expected to be captured from 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

36

mid-March through mid-June (Shapovalov and Taft 1954; Dettman and Kelley 1986), 

the trap was planned to be operated from mid-March through June 2011 or until water 

temperatures exceeded a daily mean of 22°C, which could negatively impact captured 

fish (SYRTAC 2000). 

 

The trap was operated only at lower river flows when it would be effective at capturing 

downstream migrants.  The upper limit of river flow operation will be determined after 

successive seasons.  Because base-flow conditions are more likely to be used for 

downstream passage by steelhead (NMFS 2003a), a weir trap was chosen as the 

method for this evaluation rather than a rotary screw trap.  After assessing 

representative hydrographs from previous years, evaluating potential screw trap sites, 

and the potential for capturing downstream migrants with a screw trap at the higher 

discharges, a screw trap was determined to be much less effective at gathering the data 

needed to address the objectives of the downstream passage evaluation.  

  

When the trap was in use, it was checked twice per day (in the morning and late 

afternoon).  The trap generally operated from Sunday afternoon through Saturday 

morning.  Data collected included: fork length (mm), weight (g), and a subsample of 

scales and tissues for aging and genetic analysis.  Fish that were to be handled were 

put into an aerated container with a solution of tricaine methanesulfonate (MS-222) and 

Stress Coat®.  The anesthesia MS-222 is registered by the US Food and Drug 

Administration for use with food fish (Summerfelt and Smith 1990).  The level of 

anesthesia needed is generally stage 2-4, which is a deep sedation to a total loss of 

equilibrium (Summerfelt and Smith 1990).  A concentration of 60-100 mg/L of MS-222 

was used to achieve a short induction time (3-4 minutes) as recommended by 

Summerfelt and Smith (1990).  This concentration allows for a recovery time of less 

than 5 minutes (Summerfelt and Smith 1990), but from previous experience, 

anesthetized steelhead smolts generally will most likely recover in less than 3 minutes.  

Stress Coat® is a synthetic slime coating that replaces the naturally secreted protective 

slime that is lost during capture and handing of fish.  Stress Coat was added to both the 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

37

anesthetizing and recovery containers at the manufacture’s recommended 

concentration of 0.25 ml/L.  

 

Scale loss was assessed by examining captured fish and estimating scale loss over 

three zones on each side of the fish.  The three zones were: 1) the caudal zone that 

included the area above and below the lateral line from the caudal fin to the posterior 

end of the dorsal fin, 2) the dorsal zone that included the area anterior of the caudal 

zone to the operculum and above the lateral line, and 3) the ventral zone that included 

the area anterior of the caudal zone to the operculum and below the lateral line (Marine 

and Gorman 2005).  The percentage of scale loss in each zone was estimated and then 

weighted by each zone’s area proportional to the total area of all six zones.  Summing 

the resulting weighted scale loss yielded the total area of each fish with scale loss.  Any 

physical injury was noted and categorized among the fins, skin, eyes, and head.  Within 

each anatomical category, there are 2-3 types of injuries that could be documented.  In 

general, the scale loss and physical injury methods followed those of Marine and 

Gorman (2005) and McNabb et al. (1998).  Only one weir trap was used initially to 

determine if there are any significant physical injuries or scale loss occurring.  If 

significant scale loss or physical injuries are occurring, and the Robles Biological 

Committee deems it necessary, a second trap would be installed and operated 

upstream of the Robles Fish Facility.  To determine if any injuries were the result of 

passage through the facility, steelhead would be captured, marked, and released 

upstream the Robles Fish Facility and recaptured downstream of the facility to any 

differences.  

 

Prior to the operation of the downstream weir trap, an annual fish handling training class 

was conducted with seasonal fisheries technicians and full-time biologists.  This training 

class was conducted with hatchery rainbow trout and all techniques and procedures 

were practiced until the fisheries personnel were fully proficient with each.  Additional, 

annual training and review occurred with all other aspects of the monitoring and 

evaluation program so personnel are proficient at each task that they may be assigned 

to conduct. 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

38

Results 

 

The weir trap was operated from 14 March through 17 June 2011.  During the 20 March 

high-flow event, the weir trap was swept downstream and lost.  Just prior to its loss, an 

attempt was made to remove as much of the trap before the higher flows reached the 

Robles Fish Facility, but debris overloaded the fish screens and forced water to be 

spilled earlier than anticipated.  A replacement trap was not installed until 04 April 2011, 

15 days after the peak flows.  Trapping was stopped when the mean daily water 

temperatures approached 22 °C and there was a forecasted increase of air 

temperatures.   

 

A total of 25 smolts were captured between 13 March and 10 May 2011; 52% of the 

smolts were captured during the first two weeks of April (Appendix 32).  The mean FL 

was 203 mm and mean weight was 85 g.  The smolts all appeared to be undergoing 

smoltification; 28% were T-2, 24% were T-3, and 48% were full smolt and the mean 

condition factor was 1.0.  The mean daily water temperature was 14.7 °C on days when 

smolts were captured.  During days smolts were captured, the stream discharge into the 

Robles Fish Facility ranged from 40 to 177 cfs.  All 25 smolts showed signs of 

descaling.  Using the descaling assessment methods described, the descaling ranged 

from 0.8% to 9.3% with a mean of 3.4%.  The most common physical injuries were 

small but noticeable areas of skin damage to the head region on 22 (88%) O. mykiss 

captured.  Other injuries included skin contusions on 4 fish (16%), and 2 fish (8%) 

showing some fin damage.   

 

Of the 25 smolts captured, 16 were radio tagged and released downstream into the first 

weir pool.  One O. mykiss was too small to radio tag and was released into the pool.  In 

order to help understand migration behavior of O. mykiss smolts near the Robles Fish 

Facility and determine condition and travel rate for any recaptured fish, all smolts 

captured in excess of radio tagging needs were implanted with a PIT tag.  There were 8 

smolts PIT tagged and released approximately 2 km upstream of the Robles Fish 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

39

Facility at the Camino Ciello bridge.  No PIT-tagged O. mykiss were detected migrating 

downstream through the fish ladder or were recaptured in the weir trap. 

 

Discussion 

 

The first objective of the downstream fish passage evaluation is to determine if 

steelhead are successfully passing downstream through the Robles Fish Facility (NMFS 

2003a).  Previous trapping efforts resulted in limited, but improving capture success.  

The 25 smolts captured in 2011 was a significant increase over previous years and 

allowed for a more thorough evaluation.  O. mykiss juvenile are successfully navigating 

through the Robles Fish Facility during the expected steelhead smolt migration period 

considering the following: 1) smolts were captured migrating downstream through the 

Robles Fish Facility, 2) the fish attraction evaluation observed smolts downstream of the 

facility, 3) and the Riverwatcher and downstream video cameras detected downstream-

migrating O. mykiss.  

 

The second objective of downstream fish passage evaluation is to determine if there are 

any injuries to steelhead smolts or kelts that may be caused by passing downstream 

through the Robles Fish Facility (NMFS 2003a).  The 25 O. mykiss smolts captured 

downstream of the Robles Fish Facility had a mean descaling of 3.4%.  It could not be 

determined how much of this was due to passage downstream through the Robles Fish 

Facility or the trapping and handling procedures.  Smolts are known to easily lose 

scales, and given that scales were commonly found in the anesthetizing and recovery 

buckets, much of this loss could likely be due to handling.  A literature research will be 

conducted to determine what level of scale loss other researchers have estimated for 

steelhead smolts passing through fish facilities versus trapping and handling.   

 

The skin damage on the heads of many of the smolts is thought to be from trapping.  

This was first noticed with some of the smolts captured prior to the 2011 season, but to 

a greater degree.  After changing the mesh material to a smaller size two successive 

years, the severity of the injury has been reduced.  The location of the skin damage on 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

40

the top of the snout and head region suggests that it may result from “nosing” into the 

mesh to avoid capture while in the trap; this behavior was also observed during removal 

from the trap.  Even though the percentage of smolts with this injury was high, the 

actual size of the injury was small.  The injuries were approximately 2 mm x 10 mm and 

corresponded to the shape and dimensions of the plastic mesh.  The injuries were not 

skin abrasions, but contusions and the epidermis was not broken.  Given this detailed 

level of O. mykiss examinations, small injuries that would likely go unnoticed have been 

observed.  Additional improvements will be made for the 2012 trapping season by 

adding smoother material to the inside of the trap to determine if the injuries can be 

reduced or eliminated. 

 

The last smolt was captured on 10 May 2011 and was the only one captured in May.  

Given that the mean daily water temperature was consistently exceeding 16-17 °C 

(Appendix 33), the lack of continued downstream migration of O. mykiss was not 

unexpected.  These temperatures are known to exceed the temperature limit of smolt 

regulating enzymes and hormones (Allen Scholz, Eastern Washington University, 

personal communication) and could explain much of this behavior as the O. mykiss 

residualized.  The results of the data indicate that smolts actively migrating were doing 

so primarily from mid March to mid April.  Since the trap was capturing smolts very soon 

after it was installed, an earlier start to trapping might be necessary to determine the 

initiation of emigration. 

 

3.5 Downstream Fish Migration through the Robles Reach 

 

Introduction 

 

When the number of fish physically handled in a study is of concern, such as with an 

endangered species, radio telemetry can be a useful method over others like extensive 

trapping (Hockersmith et al. 2000).  Telemetry migration information of steelhead smolts 

in the Ventura River would allow for the determination of survival, travel time and rates 

through select reaches, migration relative to river discharge, habitat use, and passage 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

41

success through critical riffles.  By tracking the tagged fish until the batteries die, it is 

anticipated that downstream migration can be monitored all the way to the Ventura 

River estuary/lagoon and could provide important data on estuary rearing and 

emigration behavior. 

 

The purpose of the downstream migration evaluation is to determine how successfully 

smolts are migrating through the Robles Reach (NMFS 2003).  Because of the limited 

number of steelhead smolts most likely passing downstream through the facility, a pilot 

study using radio telemetry was used for evaluations.  

  

Methods 

 

During the expected smolt migration period of mid-March through mid-June, 16 

steelhead smolts captured in the weir trap downstream of the Robles Fish Facility were 

tagged with radio transmitters and released downstream of the weir trap.  Only 

steelhead smolts that exhibited steelhead smolt characteristics and in good physical 

condition were tagged.  Smolting characteristics include: increased skin reflectance, 

larger heads, slimmer bodies, longer caudal peduncle, loss of parr marks, and darker 

margin of the dorsal fin (Beeman et al. 1995; Haner et al. 1995; Ando et al. 2005).  

These smolting characteristics have been used in southern California to identify 

steelhead smolts migrating downstream (Spina et al. 2005).   

 

The radio transmitters were manufactured by Advanced Telemetry Systems (ATS) and 

had transmitter radio frequencies ranging from 149.000 to 150.999 MHz, a pulse rate of 

30 per minute, and a pulse width of 18 ms.  Each tag had a unique radio frequency so 

that individual fish, if needed, could be tracked during their downstream migration.  The 

transmitters weighed 0.85 g and had an expected operational life of about 48 days.  The 

dimensions of ATS tags (model number F1435) were 14 mm long with a diameter of 7 

mm.  The ratio of tag weight to steelhead smolt weight in the air was less than 5%, 

which ensured that physiological stress will be minimized (Jepsen et al. 2001) and 

swimming performance was not altered (Brown et al. 1999).  Based on the expected 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

42

sizes of captured smolts; estimated from steelhead smolts captured in the Santa Clara 

River (ENTRIX 2000), the maximum tag-to-weight ratio was expected to be closer to 

approximately 3%.  The steelhead smolts were anesthetized with a solution of MS-222 

and placed on a water and Stress Coat® soaked foam pad ventral side up and the tags 

were gastrically inserted (Adams et al. 1998).  The tags were lubricated with food-grade 

glycerin to prevent abrasion (Adams et al. 1998; Hockersmith et al. 2000) and gently 

inserted through the mouth and into the stomach using a rigid small-diameter tube.  The 

fish were allowed to fully recover to assure they were behaving normally before they 

were released downstream for tracking; typical recovery occurs in approximately 3 

minutes.  The estimated time for tagging and recovery were based on previous radio 

telemetry studies with steelhead smolts (Lewis 2001, 2002, and 2003).  

 

After tagging and recovery, the steelhead smolts were released downstream of the weir 

trap.  Each tagged smolt was located on a daily basis as it migrated downstream for the 

first week after release and then at least weekly until the battery died, the fish was lost, 

the fish entered the ocean, was found dead, or the tag was regurgitated.  Mobile 

tracking was done using an ATS radio telemetry receiver (model R2100) and 3-element 

Yagi antennae.  Initial broad scanning was accomplished from locations at higher 

elevations accessed by a vehicle driven on roads near the Ventura River.  Once a 

general location of a tagged steelhead was found, the final location was determined on 

foot.  This method can yield locations of  10 m (Lewis 2001).  All determined locations 

were recorded on a map and datasheet.  Every reasonable effort was made to 

determine the ultimate final location of each radio tagged steelhead and if any mortality 

occurred, the cause of the mortality was determined if possible.  It was estimated, that 

at the most, one tag would be lost due to regurgitation during the study period; 

Hockersmith et al. (2000) measured a short-term regurgitation rate of 1.3% using the 

gastric method, Adams et al. (1998) measured a regurgitation rate of 4.2%, and Jepson 

et al. (2001) measured a 5.0% regurgitation rate.  Beyond the 30-40 day period, the 

regurgitation rate typically increases dramatically. 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

43

Using the method of radio telemetry to monitor migration through the Robles Reach will 

provide more usable information while using fewer fish to gather that information; 

compared to using an additional weir trap at the downstream end of the Robles Reach.  

It is estimated that no more than one steelhead mortality will occur due to the method 

and this initial sample size.  Hockersmith et al. (2000) measured a mortality rate of 2.4% 

using the gastric method.  Gastric implanted fish also have similar survival rates, overall 

health, and similar physiological stress as fish with surgically implanted radio or PIT 

tags (Adams et al. 1998; Hockersmith et al. 2000; Jepsen et al. 2001).   

 

Results 

 

Of the 16 smolts tagged and released downstream of the Robles Fish Facility, 7 smolts 

were found to have migrated through the Robles Reach (Appendix 34).  The number of 

days to migrate through the Robles Reach ranged from 1 to 8 days and the mean was 3 

days.  This was a mean migration rate of 2.2 km/day.  The range of discharges from 

Robles during the period from release to initial detection downstream of the Robles 

Reach was from 30 to 33 cfs for all but one of the tagged smolts.  One smolt was 

detected downstream of the Robles Reach one day after release; a migration rate of 

about 6 km/day.  This occurred as flows were increasing during the March high-flow 

event.  The remaining 9 smolts were found to have moved less than 4 km downstream 

of the Robles Fish Facility.  It appears that a high rate of tag regurgitation occurred 

during the study.  Of the 16 smolts tagged and released downstream of the Robles Fish 

Facility, 10 smolts appeared to regurgitate their tags.  The range of days to regurgitation 

was estimated to be from 1 to 18 days and the mean was about 6 days.  This did not 

include one O. mykiss that was found to move upstream of the Robles Fish Facility.  

Due to the length of time from release until it was found, an accurate time to tag loss 

could not be calculated.   

 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

44

Discussion 

 

Even though the high rate of regurgitation limited the number of days that smolt 

migration behavior could be assessed, the time prior to tag loss did provided important 

information.  It’s not known the exact cause of the high tag loss.  The size of the tag 

may have been too small, which could have allowed regurgitation to more easily occur.  

Before additional tags are used, a literature review will be conducted to determine if 

there is a correlation of tag and body size to tag loss.  There was an attempt to locate all 

of the tags that were thought to be regurgitated.  For fish that had not moved for a 

period of time, the tag location was determined and the surrounding area was 

snorkeled.  While the snorkeling was occurring, the tag was continuously monitored to 

determine if any movement occurred that would indicate the fish still had the tag and 

was moving away from the snorkeler.  Even with multiple searches, no tags were found 

using this method.  Tags regurgitated prior to the high-flow event could have been 

buried by bed-load, but why tags regurgitated after the high flow could not be found is 

uncertain.  The closest a tagged O. mykiss was found to the mouth of the Ventura River 

was at rkm 5, about 200 m downstream of Shell Road bridge.  Other tagged smolts 

were lost and not found after a week or two and it is possible that they migrated down 

and out of the Ventura River before they could be detected in the lower river.  The 

primary object of the study was to evaluate migration through the Robles Reach and 

therefore the same effort was not given to searching the lower river.  In addition, it was 

much more difficult to find suitable sites to access and search the lower river and fish 

could have more easily moved through the lower river undetected.  In general, the 

method of radio telemetry to evaluate movement through the Robles Reach appears 

useful at addressing this objective.  Additional data is still needed to better understand 

the smolt migration through this reach. 

 

 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

45

4.0 ROBLES FACILITY OPERATIONS 

 

4.1 Facility Status 

 

The Robles Fish Passage Facility started the 2010-2011 season in a fully functional 

mode with the exception of the Fish Ladder flow meter.  The 2010-2011 season was 

characterized by an above average rainfall year, 35.99 inches as measured at Casitas 

Dam.  The average annual rainfall at the dam is 24.06 inches.  The area experienced an 

unusually wet December in 2010 with 15.79 inches reported for the month at Casitas 

Dam and good rainfalls in February and March 2011.  Two peak flow events, one with 

an overlapping peak, as defined by the BA/BO occurred during the Fish Flow 

Operations Season.  Water diversions began on December 19, 2010 and continued 

through June 14, 2011 with the exception of two days in February.  The diversion 

periods included water that was downloaded from Lake Matilija.  Some surface flow 

continued over the measurement weir through the date this section of the report was 

prepared in late August 2011.    

 

The 2010 Report identified several projects to be completed during the summer and fall.  

The principal projects were: 

 

 Adjust interim weir two and three to improve fish passage. 

 Replace the mechanical limit switches with optical switches on the brush system. 

 Repair or replace the auxiliary water flow meter. 

 Relocate the fish passage flow meter to minimize turbulence from the Vaki 

shroud. 

 Update and improve the automated controls for the facility. 

 

A brief description of each project and the project’s status is listed below: 

 

Adjust interim weir two and three to improve fish passage-This work was 

accomplished.  Additional adjustments may be made to weir three during fall 2011. 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

46

Replace the mechanical limit switches with optical switches on the brush system- 

This work was accomplished.  The new optical limit switches so far have been more 

reliable then the original mechanical switches. 

 

Repair or replace the auxiliary water flow meter-The meter was found to be intact 

and functioning.  The erroneous readings appear to be from “sloshing”.   

 

Relocate the fish passage flow meter to minimize turbulence from the Vaki 

shroud-Work on this item was begun but the early heavy rains prevented completion.  

The work will be completed during the summer and fall of 2011. 

  

Update and improve the automated controls for the facility-This work was 

completed and will continue as Casitas gains additional experience with the system. 

 

4.2 Flow Observations and Control 

  

Flow and level measurement devices are located at various locations within the Robles 

Fish Passage Facility.  The primary points of measuring and recording stream flows 

entering, flowing through and leaving the Robles Fish Passage Facility are: 

 Matilija Creek at Matilija Hot Springs – located approximately 2,100 feet 

downstream of Matilija Dam – good rating for low to moderate flows – operated 

by Casitas Municipal Water District, formerly a USGS station; 

 Matilija Dam Stage Bubbler-Located at the dam, this gage provides the lake 

elevation.  Under high flows, the dam acts as a weir.  This is the primary flow 

measurement location under high flows and to determine if a peak has occurred. 

 North Fork Matilija Creek – located approximately 3,000 feet upstream of its 

confluence with Matilija Creek – good rating for low to moderate flows – operated 

by the Ventura County Watershed District; 

 Robles-Casitas Diversion Canal – located on the diversion canal approximately 

1,300 feet downstream of the Robles headworks – trapezoidal channel with a 

good rating for flows up to 600 cfs; 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

47

 Ventura River near Meiners Oaks (VRNMO) – located approximately 540 feet 

downstream of the Robles Fish Passage spillway – concrete weir section – good 

rating to 70 cfs, use of equations above 70 cfs with poor ratings above 1000 cfs 

(no verifications at higher flows).  Note: This is the most reliable flow 

measurement for the fish passage and downstream releases. 

 Fish Ladder-A 4 path flow meter by Accusonics located near the Riverwatcher.  

This flow meter has not been accurate since the installation of the replacement 

Vaki shroud.  Note: This flow measurement device was not functional during 

the 2010-11 season.  

 Auxiliary Water Supply-An American Sigma flow meter.  This meter did not 

function properly.  The problem is now believed to be “sloshing” in the pipe.  

Casitas has proposed a solution. 

 

All of the instruments can suffer from inaccuracies from time to time.  The inaccuracies 

can be caused by clogged bubbler lines, electronic creep, debris accumulating on 

sensors, changes to the measured cross sections, and equipment problems.  For this 

reason, the data were verified against field measurements and observations.  The 

information gathered from each of these locations has been reduced to the daily 

reporting of flows in the form of average cubic-feet per second.  Note: The spreadsheets 

are in Appendix 35, entitled “Ventura River Flow Assessment for the Robles Fish 

Passage Facility – FY 10-11”. 

 

The fish screens remained in place for the entire year. 

 

Two storm peaks occurred this year that triggered BA/BO required supplemental flow 

releases.  The peaks occurred on February 18 and on March 20, 2011.  An overlapping 

peak, as defined by the BO occurred on February 26, 2011.  The February peak was 

relatively small at about 215 cfs.  The overlapping peak was the larger peak at 270 cfs.  

The March peak was the largest peak the system has seen since 2005 at over 6000 cfs.  

Some flow did go over the cut-off wall during the March peak. 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

48

4.3 Costs Associated with Operation and Monitoring 

 

The BA/BO specified that the District provide the costs that are associated with the 

activity.  The following is a summary of the direct costs incurred by the District during 

the 2010-11 fiscal years: 

 Fisheries Monitoring: 

 Salaries & Benefits  $331,623  

 Equipment/Material  $  42,356   

     $373,979 

 

 Facility Operations: 

Salaries & Benefits  $ 93,007 

Equipment/Materials $ 14,158 

Outside Contracts        $ 15,841 

Utilities   $   5,286  

Permit    $      535 

     $128,827      

 

 Capital Improvements: 

 No capital improvements were made during this fiscal year. 

 

4.4 Assessment of the Effectiveness to Provide Fish Passage 

 

Casitas has entered into an agreement with HydroScientific West to complete the first 

phase of the performance (hydraulic) testing.  Performance testing of the fish screen 

was completed March 24 and 25.  The report for the fish screen portion of the testing is 

scheduled to be delivered shortly.   

 

Some initial velocity data were collected during 2008 to provide general fish ladder 

operation parameters.  During a downstream release of 50 cfs, velocity measurements 

were collected at the top, middle, and bottom of the entrance gate #5.  Each slide gate 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

49

is 18 in wide and 8 ft tall.  At each location, four measurements were taken that 

spanned the width of the gate.  This resulted in a total of 12 velocity measurements per 

gate measurement.  Gate #5 was first measured with the total 50 cfs flowing only 

through it.  The mean velocity was 2.0 ft/sec for all 12 measurements.  However, the 

velocity increased with depth.  The surface mean velocity was 0.2 ft/sec, the middle of 

the gate was 2.8 ft/sec, and the bottom was 3.2 ft/sec.  With gates #4 and #5 open at 50 

cfs, the mean velocity in gate 5 dropped to 1.1 ft/sec.  The surface mean velocity was 

0.2 ft/sec, the middle of the gate was 2.2 ft/sec, and the bottom was 1.0 ft/sec.    

 

4.5 Recommendations Regarding the Prioritization of Future Activities 

 

The District has completed its sixth season with the fish passage fully operational.  

Several projects have been identified to improve the functionality and reliability of the 

system.  Other items require repairs.  The summer and fall work list includes: 

 Modify the diffuser panel in the auxiliary water system. 

 Complete the relocation of the fish passage flow meter to minimize turbulence 

from the Vaki shroud. 

 Adjust interim weir three if flow stops in the weir section of the river. 

 Modify the differential level sensors at the fish ladder entrance to individually 

read water levels. 

 

4.6 Recommendations on any Revisions Deemed Necessary to the Operations 

 

Casitas is recommending that the fish screen diffuser panels be replaced.  The current 

diffuser panels are two super-imposed perforated plates with ¼” holes at 3/8” staggered 

centers.  Casitas is proposing to replace the perforated plates with ½” diameter holes on 

11/16” staggered centers perforated plates.  This year, the brush system worked much 

better at keeping the screens clean.  However, the diffuser panels behind the screens 

became clogged.  The fewer but larger openings of the proposed panels should reduce 

the clogging. 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

50

Casitas has proposed modifying the diffuser panel on the auxiliary water in an email to 

all BC members.  This diffuser appears to be restricting the flow in the auxiliary water 

system.    

 

Casitas continues to recommend that the construction of the 15-weir portion of the 

project be put on hold at least until the Matilija Dam Removal Project is completed.  

Preliminary plans for the High Flow Sediment Bypass and High Flow Fish Passage 

require this area to be graded to new elevations.  The existing temporary weir system 

has proven to be passable by adult O. mykiss. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

51

5.0 LITERATURE CITED 

 

Adams, N. S., D. W. Rondorf, S. D. Evans, and J. E. Kelly.  1998.  Effects of surgically 
and gastrically implanted radio transmitters on growth and feeding behavior of 
juvenile Chinook salmon.  Transaction of the American Fisheries Society, 
127:128-136. 

 
Anderson, R. O., and R. M. Neumann.  1996.  Length, weight, and associated structural 

indices.  Pages 477-482 in B. R. Murphy and D. W. Willis, editors.  Fisheries 
techniques, 2nd edition.  American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. 

 
Ando, D., T. Kitamura, and S. Mizuno.  2005.  Quantitative analysis of body silvering 

during smoltification is masu salmon using chromameter.  North American 
Journal of Aquaculture, 67:160-166. 

 
Banks, J. W.  1969.  A review of the literature on the upstream migration of adult 

salmonids.  Journal of Fish Biology, 1:85-136. 
 
Beeman, J. W., and A. G. Maule.  2001.  Residence time and diel passage distribution 

of radio-tagged juvenile spring Chinook salmon and steelhead in a gatewell and 
fish collection channel of a Columbia River dam.  North American Journal of 
Fisheries Management, 21:455-463. 

 
Beeman, J. W., D. W. Rondorf, M. E. Tilson, and D. A. Venditti.  1995.  A nonlethal 

measure of smolt status of juvenile steelhead based on body morphology.  
Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 124:764-769. 

 
Behnke, R. J.  1992.  Native trout of western North America.  American Fisheries 

Society Monograph 6.   
 
Bond, M. H., A. A. Hayes, G. V. Hanson, and R. B. MacFarlane.  2008.  Marine survival 

of steelhead (Oncorhynchus mykiss) enhanced by a seasonally closed estuary.  
Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences, 65: 2242-2252. 

 
Bratovich, P. M., and D. W. Kelley.  Investigation of salmon and steelhead in Lagunitas 

Creek, Marin County, California.  Volume 1.  Migration, spawning, embryo 
incubation and emergence, juvenile rearing, emigration.  Marin Municipal Water 
District.  Corte Madera, California.  

 
Brown, R. S., S. J. Cooke, W. G. Anderson, and R. S. McKinley.  1999.  Evidence to 

challenge the “2% rule” for biotelemetry.  North American Journal of Fisheries 
Management, 19:867-871. 

 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

52

Busby, P. B., T. C. Wainwright, G. J. Bryant, L. J. Lierheimer, R. S. Waples, F. W. 
Waknitz, and Lagomarsino.  1996.  Status review of west coast steelhead from 
Washington, Idaho, Oregon, and California.  National Marine Fisheries Service.  
NOAA technical memorandum NMFS-NWFSC-27, August 1996. 

 
Cannata, S. T.  1998.  Observations of steelhead trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss), coho 

salmon (O. kisutch) and water quality pf the Navarro River estuary/lagoon, May 
1996 to December 1997.  Draft report, Humboldt State University Foundation.  
Humboldt, CA. 

 
Chrisp, E. Y., and T. C. Bjornn.  1978.  parr-smolt transformations and seaward 

migration of wild and hatchery steelhead trout in Idaho.  Idaho Cooperative 
Fishery Research Unit, University of Idaho, Moscow, Idaho.  Final project report 
F-49-R. 

 
Clay, H. C.  1995.  Design of fishways and other fish facilities, 2nd edition.  CRC Press, 

Inc., Boca Raton, FL. 
 
Cooke, R. U., A. Warren, and A. S. Goudie.  1992.  Desert geomorphology.  UCL Press, 

London. 
 
CMWD.  2005.  2005 progress report for the Robles Diversion Fish Passage Facility.  

Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 
 
CMWD.  2006.  2006 progress report for the Robles Diversion Fish Passage Facility.  

Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 
 
CMWD.  2007.  2007 progress report for the Robles Diversion Fish Passage Facility.  

Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 
 
CMWD.  2008.  2008 progress report for the Robles Diversion Fish Passage Facility.  

Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 
 
CMWD.  2009.  2009 progress report for the Robles Diversion Fish Passage Facility.  

Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 
 
CMWD.  2010.  2010 progress report for the Robles Diversion Fish Passage Facility.  

Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 
 
CMWD, Wood Rogers, and ENTRIX Inc.  2002.  Preliminary draft technical 

memorandum of operation constraint assessment of the Robles Fish Passage 
Facility.  Prepared for US Bureau of Reclamation. 

 
Dauble, D. D., T. L. Page, and W. Hanf.  1989.  Spatial distribution of juvenile salmonids 

in the Hanford Reach, Columbia River.  Fishery Bulletin, 87:775-790. 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

53

Dettman, D. H., and D. W. Kelley.  1986.  Assessment of the Carmel River steelhead 
resource, Volume 1. biological investigations.  Monterey Peninsula Water 
Management District, Monterey, CA. 

 
ENTRIX.  1999.  Evaluations of natural passage barriers on the Ventura River 

downstream of Robles Diversion.  ENTRIX, Walnut Creek, CA. 
 
ENTRIX.  2000.  Results of fish passage monitoring at the Vern Freeman diversion 

facility Santa Clara River, 1994-1998.  ENTRIX, Walnut Creek, CA. 
 
Flosi, G., S. Downie, J. Hopelain, M. Bird, R. Coey, and B. Collins.  2002.  California 

salmonid stream habitat restoration manual, Volume I, 3rd edition.  California 
Department of Fish and Game.  Inland Fisheries Division, Sacramento, CA. 

 
Hagar, J.  1996.  Salinas River steelhead status and migration flow requirements.  

Monterey County Water Resources Agency.  Salinas, California. 
 
Haner, P. V., J. C. Faler, R. M. Schrock, D. W. Rondorf, and A. G. Maule.  1995.  Skin 

reflectance as a nonlethal measure of smoltification for juvenile salmonids.  North 
American Journal of Fisheries Management, 15:814-822.   

 
Hockersmith, E. E., W. D. Muir, S. G. Smith, B. P. Sandford, N. S. Adams, J. M. Plumb, 

R. W. Perry, and D. W. Rondorf.  2000.  Comparative performance of sham 
radio-tagged and PIT-tagged juvenile salmon.  US Army Corps of Engineers, 
Walla Walla District. 

 
Harrison, L. R., E. A. Keller, E. Kelley, and L. A. K. Mertes.  2006.  Minimum flow 

requirements for southern steelhead passage on the lower Santa Clara River, 
CA.  University of California, Santa Barbara. 

 
Hasler, A. D., and A. T. Scholz.  1983.  Olfactory imprinting and homing is salmon.  

Springer-Verlag, New York. 
 
Jepsen, N., L. E. Davis, C. B. Schreck, and B. Siddens.  2001.  The physiological 

response of Chinook salmon smolts to two methods of radio-tagging.  
Transactions of the American Fisheries Society 130:495-500. 

 
Leopold, L. B., M. G. Wolman, and J. P. Miller.  Fluvial processes in geomorphology.  

W. H. Freeman and Company, San Francisco.   
 
Lewis, S. D.  2001.  Movements of hatchery steelhead smolts in Lake Billy Chinook and 

Squaw Creek during 2000.  Portland General Electric.  Portland, Oregon. 
 
Lewis, S. D.  2002.  Movements of hatchery steelhead smolts in Lake Billy Chinook and 

Squaw Creek during 2001.  Portland General Electric.  Portland, Oregon. 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

54

Lewis, S. D.  2003.  Movements of hatchery steelhead smolts in Lake Billy Chinook and 
Squaw Creek during 2002.  Portland General Electric.  Portland, Oregon. 

 
Lewis, S. D. M. W. Gibson J. L. Switzer.  2010.  Ventura River basin Oncorhynchus 

mykiss irideus monitoring, evaluation, and research: 2010 annual program report.  
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, California.  

 
Marine, K. R., and M. Gorman.  2005.  Monitoring and evaluation for the A-Canal fish 

screen and bypass facility; scale loss and physical injury test, 2005.  Bureau of 
Reclamation, Klamath Falls, OR. 

 
Matthews, K. R., and N. H. Berg.  1997.  Rainbow trout responses to water temperature 

and dissolved oxygen stress in two southern California stream pools.  Journal of 
Fish Biology, 50:50-67. 

 
Matthews, K. R., N. H. Berg, D. L. Azuma, and T. R. Lambert.  1994.  Cool water 

formation and trout habitat use in a deep pool in the Sierra Nevada, California.  
Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, 123:549-564. 

 
McNabb, C. D., C. R. Liston, and S. M. Borthwick.  1998.  In-plant biological evaluation 

of the Rd Bluff Research Pumping Plant on the Sacramento River in Northern 
California: 1995 and 1996.  Red Bluff Research Pumping Plant Report Se4arries, 
volume 3. US Bureau of Reclamation, Denver, CO.  

 
Moore. K., K. Jones, and J. Dambacher.  2002.  Methods for stream habitat surveys, 

Version 12.1.  Oregon Department of Fish and Wildlife, Aquatic Inventories 
Project, Natural Production Program, Corvallis, OR. 

 
Mosley, M. P.  1982.  Critical depths for passage in braided river, Canterbury, New 

Zealand.  New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research, Vol. 
16:351-357. 

 
National Marine Fisheries Service.  1997.  Endangered and Threatened Species: Listing 

of Several Evolutionary Significant Units (ESUs) of West Coast Steelhead.  
Federal Register, 50 CFR Parts 222 and 227 [Docket No. 960730210–7193–02; 
I.D. 050294D] RIN 0648–XX65. Vol. 62, page 43937. 

 
National Marine Fisheries Service.  2003a.  Biological opinion for the Robles diversion 

fish passage facility, Ventura River, CA.  Protected Resource Division, Southwest 
Region, March 31, 2003. 

 
National Marine Fisheries Service.  2003b.  Endangered and Threatened Species: 

Range Extension for Endangered Steelhead in Southern California. Federal 
Register, 50 CFR Part 224 [Docket No. 001025296-2079-02; I.D. 072600A] RIN 
0648-AO05.  Vol. 67 page 21586. 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

55

National Marine Fisheries Service.  2005.  Endangered and Threatened Species: 
Request for Comment on Alternative Approach to Delineating 10 Evolutionarily 
Significant Units of West Coast Oncorhynchus mykiss.  50 CFR Parts 223 and 
224 [Docket No. 040525161–5274–05; I.D. No. 052104F] RIN No. 0648–AR93. 
Vol. 70 page 67130. 

 
National Marine Fisheries Service.  2009.  Letter addressed to Scott Lewis (Casitas 

Municipal Water District) addressing the downstream fish passage evaluation.  
Letter dated 28 April 2009, SWR/2002/1871:SCG. 

 
Quinn, T, H.  2005.  The behavior and ecology of pacific salmon and trout.  American 

Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. 
 
Scott, W. B. and E. J. Crossman.  1973.  Freshwater fishes of Canada.  Fisheries 

Research Board of Canada, Ottawa, Bulletin 184. 
 
Shapovalov, L. and A. C. Taft.  1954.  The life histories of the steelhead rainbow trout 

(Salmo gairdneri gairdneri) and silver salmon (Oncorhynchus kisutch), with 
special reference to Waddell Creek, California, and recommendations regarding 
their management.  State of California Department of Fish and Game, fish 
bulletin No. 98. 

 
Spina, A. P., M. A. Allen, and M. Clarke.  2005.  Downstream migration, rearing 

abundance, and pool habitat associations of juvenile steelhead in the lower main 
stem of a south-central California stream.  North American Journal of Fisheries 
Management, 25:919-930. 

 
Stoecker, M.  2010.  North Fork Matilija Creek adult steelhead below Ojai Quarry 

barriers.  Letter sent on 30 March 2010 about adult steelhead observations, 5 p. 
 
Strauss, R. E., and C. E. Bond.  1990.  Taxonomic methods: In Schreck C. B. and P. B. 

Moyle, editors.  Methods for fish biology.  AFS, Bethesda, Maryland. 
 
Summerfelt, R. C., and L. S. Smith.  1990.  Anesthesia, surgery, and related 

techniques.  Pages 213-272 in C. B. Schreck and P. B. Moyle, editors.  Methods 
for Fish Biology.  American Fisheries Society, Bethesda, Maryland. 

 
SYRTAC (Santa Ynez River Technical Advisory Committee).  1999.  Adult steelhead 

passage flow analysis for the Santa Ynez River.  Santa Ynez River Consensus 
Committee, Santa Barbara, CA. 

 
SYRTAC (Santa Ynez River Technical Advisory Committee).  2000.  Lower Santa Ynez 

River fish management plan.  Santa Ynez River Consensus Committee, Santa 
Barbara, CA. 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

56

Tan, S. S., and T. A. Jones.  2006.  Geologic map of the Matilija 7.5’ quadrangle 
Ventura County, California: a digital database. Version 1.0, Los Angeles, CA. 

 
Thompson, K.  1972.  Determining stream flows for fish life.  Pacific Northwest River 

Basins Commission, instream flow requirements workshop.  Portland, Oregon. 
Proceedings: 31-50. 

 
U.S. Bureau of Reclamation.  2003.  Revised biological assessment for diversion 

operations and fish passage facilities at the Robles Diversion, Ventura River, CA. 
South-Central California Area Office, February 21, 2003. 

 
Vaki.  2003.  User manual for Riverwatcher.  Vaki Aquaculture Systems Ltd., Iceland. 
 
Wagner, H. H., R. L. Wallace, and H. J. Campbell.  1963.  The seaward migration and 

return of hatchery-reared steelhead trout, Salmo gairdneri Richardson, in the 
Alsea River, Oregon.  Transactions of the American Fisheries Society, 92(3):202-
210. 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

57

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

6.0 APPENDIXES 

 



 
 
 

Appendix 1.  Basin map of the Ventura River.  The Robles Fish Passage Facility is 
identified by the black dot and the Robles Reach is identified by the dashed line 
downstream of the Robles Facility. 

Robles Facility 

Pacific Ocean 

N 

0 5 

Kilometers 



Appendix 2.  Summary data of impediment sites originally selected during 2009 for upstream fish migration impediment 
evaluations.  Several sites were altered by high flows that peaked 20 March 2011 (see text for description).   

                Percent Substrateb 

 Site 
Latitude 

(N) 
Longitude 

(W) km 
Habitat 
Typea Site Description 

Length 
(m) 

Slope 
(%) SO SD GR CB BD BR

Active 
Channel 

Width 
(m) 

1   0  River mouth    100      

2 34o20'27" 119o17'53" 7.5 RI Near treatment plant 16.4 2.8 10 10 15 45 20 0 31.3 

3 34o22'07" 119o18'34" 11 RB Near Casitas Springs at end of levy 22.0 3.7 10 5 10 65 10 0 27.0 

4 34o23'05" 119o18'36" 13 RI 0.5 km upstream of San Antonio Cr. 
confluence 

23.8 5.0 0 0 0 15 85 0 27.9 

5 34o23'46" 119o18'33" 15 RI 0.4 km downstream of Santa Ana Blvd. 
bridge 

8.4 7.0 0 5 5 45 45 0 50.6 

6 34o24'39" 119o18'06" 17 CB 1.4 km upstream of Santa Ana Blvd. 
bridge 

26.1 5.0 0 0 0 65 35 0 33.8 

7 34o26'04" 119o18'00" 19 RB 1.1 km upstream of Hwy 150 bridge 31.6 2.0 5 0 10 40 45 0 65.9 

8 34o12'15" 119o17'36" 22 CB 1.2 km downstream of Robles Fish 
Facility 

9.2 10.0 0 0 10 45 45 0 32.4 

aThe habitat types are: RB = rapid with protruding boulders, RI = riffle, and CB = cascade over boulders. 
bThe substrate types are: SO = silt and organics, SD = sand, GR = gravel, CB = cobble, BD = boulders, and BR = bedrock. 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

60

Continuous length with depth >= 0.6ft
y = 0.2010x + 16.8680

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

L
e

n
g

th
 (

ft
)

0

10

20

30

40

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0. 454x + 6.0919

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

Percent total length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.2508x + 17.4210

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

100

 
 
Appendix 3.  Relation between Robles discharge and water depth at Site 3-2 near Casitas 
Springs and resulting discharge for various passage criteria. 

 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

61

Discharge (cfs)

0 50 100 150 200

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

5

10

15

20

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

30

40
       Percent total length with depth >= 0.6 ft
               y = 0.1333x + 12.6310

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
              y = 0.0292x + 4.5704

 
 
Appendix 4.  Relation between site discharge and water depth at Site 3-2 near Casitas 
Springs and resulting discharge for the Thompson passage criteria. 

 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

62

Continuous length with depth >= 0.6ft
y = 0.1785x - 2.2289

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

L
e

n
g

th
 (

ft
)

0

5

10

15

20

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.2768x - 3.3788

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.5690x - 10.0580

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

100

2010
2011

 
 
Appendix 5.  Relation between Robles discharge and water depth at Site 4 upstream of 
San Antonio Creek and resulting discharge for various passage criteria. 

 

2010 

2011

2011

2010 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

63

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

30

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

2011
2010

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
                 y = 0.1731x + 2.5048

Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
        y = 0.4913x - 4.7337

 
Appendix 6.  Relation between site discharge and water depth at Site 4 upstream of San 
Antonio Creek and resulting discharge for the Thompson passage criteria. 

 
 
 

2010 

2011

2011

2010 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

64

Continuous length with depth  >= 0.6ft
y = 0.3417x + 5.8061

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

L
e

n
g

th
 (

ft
)

0

10

20

30

40

50

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.2614x - 6.4037

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.3511x - 5.7081

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

100

 
 
Appendix 7.  Relation between Robles discharge and water depth at Site 5-2 downstream 
of Santa Ana bridge and resulting discharge for various passage criteria. 

 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

65

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

30

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

5

10

15

20

25

30
Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
     y = 0.3287x + 9.3237

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
                y = 0.2418x + 9.2304

 
 
Appendix 8.  Relation between site discharge and water depth at Site 5-2 downstream of 
Santa Ana bridge and resulting discharge for Thompson passage criteria. 

 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

66

Continuous length with depth >= 0.6ft
y = 0.0832x + 2.0524

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

L
e

n
g

th
 (

ft
)

0

5

10

15

20

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.0764x + 5.0392

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.5399x - 9.3079

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

100

 
 
Appendix 9.  Relation between Robles discharge and water depth at Site 6-2 upstream of 
Santa Ana bridge and resulting discharge for various passage criteria. 

 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

67

Discharge (cfs)

0 10 20 30 40

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

30

40 Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
      y = 1.1045x - 9.7030

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
               y = 0.1674x + 4.6868

 
 
Appendix 10.  Relation between site discharge and water depth at Site 6-2 upstream of 
Santa Ana bridge and resulting discharge for Thompson passage criteria. 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

68

Continuous length with depth >= 0.6ft
y =  0.3645x + 0.4390

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

L
e

n
g

th
 (

ft
)

0

10

20

30

40

50

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.2548x + 4.1111

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
Y = 0.2887x + 9.6729

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

100

2010
2011

 
 
Appendix 11.  Relation between Robles discharge and water depth at Site 7 upstream of 
Hwy 150 bridge and resulting discharge for various passage criteria. 
 
 

2010 

2011

2010

2011

2010

2011



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

69

 

2D Graph 2

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

5

10

15

20

25

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

30

40

2010
2011

Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
         y= 0.3479x + 10.8015

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
                y = 0.3244x + 4.5389

 
 
Appendix 12.  Relation between site discharge and water depth at Site 7 upstream of Hwy 
150 bridge and resulting discharge for Thompson passage criteria. 
 

2010

2011

2010

2011



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

70

Continuous length with depth >= 0.6ft
y = 0.4123x - 1.4015

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100 120

L
e

n
g

th
 (

ft
)

0

10

20

30

40

50

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y =0.4092x + 7.5699

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.2393x + 43.4820

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

20

40

60

80

100

2010
2011

 
 
Appendix 13.  Relation between Robles discharge and water depth at Site 8 downstream of 
the Robles Fish Facility and resulting discharge for various passage criteria. 
 
 

2010 
2011 

2010

2011 

2011 

2010



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

71

2D Graph 1

Discharge (cfs)

0 20 40 60 80 100

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

P
e

rc
e

n
t 

L
e

n
g

th
 (

%
)

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

2010
2011

Percent length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.2582x + 44.0552

Percent continuous length with depth >= 0.6 ft
y = 0.3889x + 10.9302

 
 
Appendix 14.  Relation between site discharge and water depth at Site 8 downstream of 
Robles Fish Facility and resulting discharge for Thompson passage criteria. 
 
 

2011 

2010 

2011 

2010



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

72

      

 

 
A. B.  

 
 

 
                                            C. 

 
 
Appendix 15a.  Photos of Site 2 impediment on 13 April 2011 during 64 cfs, as measured at Foster 
Park USGS gage, looking from: (A) upstream, (B) upstream from upstream edge of impediment, and 
(C) downstream from upstream edge of impediment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

73

       
A.        B. 
 
 
 

       
C.        D. 
 

 
Appendix 15b.  Photos of Site 3-2 impediment on 05 April 2011 during 30 cfs discharge release from 
Robles Fish Facility, looking from: (A) downstream, (B) upstream, (C) right to left bank, and (D) left to 
right bank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

74

       
A.        B. 
 
 

       
C.        D. 
 

 
Appendix 15c.  Photos of Site 4 impediment on 26 April 2011 during 31 cfs discharge release from 
Robles Fish Facility, looking from: (A) downstream, (B) upstream, (C) right to left bank, and (D) left to 
right bank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

75

       
A.        B. 
 
 

       
C.        D. 
 

 
Appendix 15d.  Photos of Site 5-2 impediment on 05 April 2011 during 30 cfs discharge release from 
Robles Fish Facility, looking from: (A) downstream, (B) upstream, (C) right to left bank, and (D) left to 
right bank.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

76

       
A.        B. 
 
 

       
C.        D. 

 
 

Appendix 15e.  Photos of Site 6-2 impediment on 05 April 2011 during 30 cfs discharge release from 
Robles Fish Facility, looking from: (A) downstream, (B) upstream, (C) right to left bank, and (D) left to 
right bank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

77

       
A.        B. 
 
 

       
C.        D. 
 

 
Appendix 15f.  Photos of Site 7 impediment on 26 April 2011 during 31 cfs discharge release from 
Robles Fish Facility, looking from: (A) downstream, (B) upstream, (C) right to left bank, and (D) left to 
right bank. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

78

 

       
A.        B. 
 
 

       
C.        D. 
 
 
Appendix 15g.  Photos of Site 8 impediment on 26 April 2011 during 31 cfs discharge release from 
Robles Fish Facility, looking from: (A) downstream, (B) upstream, (C) right to left bank, and (D) left to 
right bank. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

79

       
A.      B. 

 
Appendix 15h.  Photos of Site 6 impediment Site 6 looking downstream on 09 March 2011 (A) during 
36 cfs discharge release from Robles Fish Facility and looking downstream from similar location on 
01 April 2011 (B) during 39 cfs.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

80

Appendix 16.  Regression equations and statistics of the four passage criteria using the Robles discharge evaluated at 
potential impediment sites. 
 

  % Total Length with Depth ≥ 0.6 ft % Continuous Length with Depth ≥ 0.6 ft Continuous Length (ft) with Depth ≥ 0.6 ft 

Site Equation R2 p-value Equation R2 p-value Equation R2 p-value 

3-2 y = 0.2508x + 17.4210 0.87 0.07 y = 0.0454x + 6.0919 0.83 0.09 y = 0.2010x + 16.8680 0.92 0.04 

4 y = 0.5690x - 10.0580 0.61 < 0.01 y = 0.2768x - 3.3788 0.51 0.01 y = 0.1785x - 2.2289 0.50 0.01 

5-2 y = 0.3511x + 5.7081 0.76 0.05 y = 0.2614x + 6.4037 0.73 0.06 y = 0.3417x + 5.8061 0.75 0.06 

6-2 y = 0.5399x - 9.3079 0.98 < 0.01 y = 0.0764x + 5.0392 0.62 0.11 y = 0.0832x + 2.0524 0.79 0.04 

7 y = 0.2887x + 9.6729 0.46 0.02 y = 0.2548x + 4.1111 0.38 0.05 y = 0.3645x + 0.4390 0.49 0.02 

8 y = 0.2393x + 43.4820 0.33 0.05 y = 0.4092x + 7.5699 0.66 < 0.01 y = 0.4123x - 1.4015 0.77 < 0.01 

 
 
 
 
Appendix 17.  Calculated discharge (cfs) required from the Robles Fish Facility to meet various adult passage criteria. 
 

 Site 
25% Total length     

with depth ≥ 0.6 fta 

10% Continuous 
length with         

depth ≥ 0.6 fta 

Minimum discharge 
to meet Thompson 

criteriaa 

10ft Continuous 
length with 

depth ≥ 0.6 ftb 

8ft Continuous 
length with   

depth ≥ 0.6 ftc 

5ft Continuous 
length with     

depth ≥ 0.6 ftd 

3-2 30 86 86 -34 -44 -59 

4 62 50 62 69 57 40 

5-2 55 14 55 12 6 -2 

6-2 64 65 65 96 71 35 

7 53 23 53 26 21 13 

8 -77 6 6 28 23 16 
aThompson (1972). 
bHarrison et al. (2006). 
cSanta Ynez River Technical Advisory Committee (2000). 
dDettman and Kelly (1986). 

 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

81

Appendix 18.  Regression equations and statistics for the Thompson passage criteria using the site discharge. 
 

  % Total Length with Depth ≥ 0.6 ft % Continuous Length with Depth ≥ 0.6 ft 

Site Equation R2 p-value Equation R2 p-value 

3-2 y = 0.1333x + 12.6310 0.68 0.18 y = 0.0292x + 4.5704 0.95 0.03 

4 y = 0.4913x - 4.7332 0.87 < 0.01 y = 0.1731x + 2.5049 0.38 0.02 

5-2 y = 0.3287x + 9.3237 0.80 0.04 y = 0.2418x + 9.2304 0.75 0.06 

6-2 y = 1.1045x - 9.7030 0.80 0.04 y = 0.1674x + 4.6868 0.58 0.14 

7 y = 0.3479x + 10.8020 0.70 < 0.01 y = 0.3244x + 4.5389 0.65 < 0.01 

8 y = 0.2582x + 44.0550 0.40 0.03 y = 0.3889x + 10.9300 0.63 < 0.01 
 
 

Appendix 19.  Calculated discharge (cfs) required at each site to meet Thompson (1972) passage criteria. 
 

 Site 
25% Total length     
with depth ≥ 0.6 ft 

10% Continuous 
length with         

depth ≥ 0.6 ft 

Minimum discharge 
to meet Thompson 

criteria 

3-2 93 186 186 

4 61 43 61 

5-2 48 3 48 

6-2 31 32 32 

7 41 17 41 

8 -74 -2 -2 
 
 

Appendix 19a.  Calculated discharge (cfs) required at Robles for 2011 data to meet Thompson (1972) passage criteria. 
 

 Site 
25% Total length     
with depth ≥ 0.6 ft 

10% Continuous length 
with depth ≥ 0.6 ft 

4 52 45 

7 43 33 

8 378 -120 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

82

Appendix 20.  Ventura River sandbar monitoring data from July 2010 through June 2011. 
 

     

High Tide Low Tide 

   

Date 

Sandbar 
Breeched 

(Y/N) 
Time 
(24h) 

Tide 
Height 

(ft) 
Tidal 
State 

Time 
(24h) 

Height 
(ft) 

Time 
(24h) 

Height 
(ft)  

Mean Daily 
Discharge at 
Fostera (cfs) 

Mean 
Daily 

Discharge 
at Robles 

(cfs) Notes  
07/19/2010 Y 12:15 2.7 flood 17:05 5.5 10:08 2.1  11.0 1 Open on west bank 
08/17/2010 Y 13:00 3.8 flood 16:35 5.3 09:40 2.8  6.4 0 Open on west bank 
09/13/2010 Y 14:00 5.4 ebb 13:22 5.5 21:11 0.6  6.1 0 Open on west bank 
10/19/2010 Nb 10:45 3.6 ebb 08:06 5.1 14:28 1.2  7.7 0 If open, on west bank 
11/15/2010 Y 15:30 3.2 flood 17:22 3.7 11:58 2.0  4.8 1 Open on west bank 
12/17/2010 Y 14:30 0.3 flood 12:14 3.3 13:31 0.1  4.7 1 Open on west bank 
12/30/2010 Y 12:40 -0.1 slack 18:46 3.2 12:31 -0.1  35.0 20 Open on west bank 
01/03/2011 Y 16:00 -1.1 flood 21:45 3.9 15:22 -1.2  39.0 20 Open on west bank 
01/21/2011 Y 15:30 -0.6 ebb 09:45 6.2 16:43 -1.1  26.0 20 Open on west bank 
02/04/2011 Y 14:00 1.3 ebb 09:35 5.3 16:23 -0.3  25.0 20 Open on west bank 
02/17/2011 Y 13:40 -0.6 ebb 08:08 6.3 15:03 -1.3  31.0 20 Open on west bank 
03/11/2011 Y 14:25 2.3 flood 15:38 2.3 08:18 1.0  76.0 32 Open on west bank 
03/15/2011 Y 09:15 3.1 ebb 06:25 5.0 13:48 -0.4  72.0 33 Open on west bank 
03/25/2011 Y 10:15 0.1 flood 16:59 3.0 09:52 0.1  1180.0 364 Open west and east 
04/15/2011 Y 09:00 4.5 ebb 07:58 4.9 14:12 0.0  59.0 31 Open on west bank 
04/28/2011 Y 12:15 1.2 ebb 07:31 3.8 13:36 0.9  45.0 30 Open on west bank 
05/11/2011 Y 09:30 0.9 ebb 04:09 4.0 11:10 0.4  41.0 31 Open on west bank 
05/27/2011 Y 12:30 1.6 slack 07:08 3.2 12:33 1.6  41.0 32 Open on west bank 
06/10/2011 Y 12:58 1.8 flood 17:52 5.5 11:08 1.1  45.0 32 Open on west bank 
06/22/2011 Y 14:17 3.8 flood 15:59 4.3 09:00 1.0  34.0 27 Open on west bank 

 aUSGS gauging station number 11118500, downstream of Foster Park. 
 bSandbar was closed at low tide and open during some high tides. 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

83

Time (Month)

        Jan        Feb        Mar        Apr        May        Jun        Jul        Aug        Sep        Oct        Nov        Dec

T
im

e 
(Y

ea
r)

2005

2006

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011
Open

Closed ObservationI

Low-tide only closed

 

Appendix 21.  Sandbar status at the mouth of the Ventura River from 2005 through 
June of 2011.  Each observation is indicated by vertical lines and the sandbar status 
was assumed to remain the same until the next observation (Lewis et al. 2010).  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

84

Appendix 22.  Fish attraction counts of O. mykiss in close proximity to the Robles Fish 
Facility from January through June of 2011.   

Date Method  Direction 
Length 

(m) 
Temp 
(°C) 

Turbidity 
(NTU) 

Robles 
Discharge 

(CFS) Speciesa Count 
7-Jan-2011 BANK Upstream 140 11 7 20 NFO 0 
7-Jan-2011 BANK Downstream 200 11 7 20 NFO 0 
12-Jan-2011 BANK Upstream 140 11 3 20 NFO 0 
12-Jan-2011 BANK Downstream 200 11 3 20 NFO 0 
21-Jan-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 12 4 20 OMY 14 
21-Jan-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 12 1 20 OMY 21 
2-Feb-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 11 2 20 NFO 0 
2-Feb-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 11 1 20 NFO 0 
10-Feb-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 11 1 19 NFO 0 
10-Feb-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 11 1 19 NFO 0 
16-Feb-2011 BANK Upstream 140 13 6 21 NFO 0 
16-Feb-2011 BANK Downstream 200 13 2 21 NFO 0 
4-Mar-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 13 3 50 NFO 0 
4-Mar-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 13 3 50 OMY 1 
11-Mar-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 14 2 32 OMY 1 
11-Mar-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 14 2 32 OMY 6 
17-Mar-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 15 7 32 OMY 8 
17-Mar-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 15 4 32 OMY 8 
8-Apr-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 13 11 33 OMY 4 
8-Apr-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 13 9 33 OMY 5 
21-Apr-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 15 13 31 OMY 35 
21-Apr-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 15 10 31 OMY 19 
28-Apr-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 17 6 30 OMY 42 
28-Apr-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 17 3 30 OMY 19 
5-May-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 18 4 32 OMY 31 
5-May-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 18 6 32 OMY 16 
13-May-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 18 11 32 OMY 31 
13-May-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 18 2 32 OMY 7 
19-May-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 17 10 30 OMY 38 
19-May-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 17 4 30 OMY 15 
26-May-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 18 14 32 OMY 46 
26-May-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 18 14 32 OMY 17 
2-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 18 6 32 OMY 38 
2-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 18 2 32 OMY 7 
10-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 18 1 32 OMY 28 
10-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 18 1 32 OMY 22 
16-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 18 1 30 OMY 35 
16-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 18 1 30 OMY 24 
23-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 22 2 27 OMY 44 
23-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 22 2 27 OMY 5 
30-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Upstream 140 21 1 26 OMY 40 
30-Jun-2011 SNORKEL Downstream 200 21 1 26 OMY 13 

  Upstream 2,940    Upstream 435 
  Downstream 4,200    Downstream 205 
    Total  7,140       Total 640 

aOMY = O. mykiss and NFO = no fish observed.



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

85

Time (month and year)

Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun  Jul  

D
is

ch
ar

ge
 (

cf
s)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

C
ou

nt
 o

f 
O

.m
yk

is
s

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

Discharge at Robles 
O. mykiss counted

2011

 
 
Appendix 23.  Total count of O. mykiss observed during fish attraction surveys during 
the fish passage season from January through June 2011 and discharge from the 
Robles Facility.  



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

86

2011
Time (month and year)

Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun  Jul  

C
ou

nt
 o

f O
. 

m
yk

is
s

0

10

20

30

40

50

Upstream of fish ladder, n= 435
Downstream of fish ladder, n= 205

 
 
Appendix 24.  Count of O. mykiss observed during fish attraction surveys upstream and 
downstream of the Robles Fish Facility during the fish passage season from January 
through June 2011.



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

87

 

 
Appendix 25.  Riverwatcher detection classification flow chart that outlines the pathways 
for upstream and downstream detections.  

Upstream or Downstream Riverwatcher Detection 

Fish—based on video 
and(or) silhouette. 

False Detection—based on video and(or) silhouette 
and determined to be a false detection caused from 

debris, turbidity, or turbulence. 

Adult steelhead—based on video, 
silhouette, size, and(or) other adult 

characteristics. 

O. mykiss—based on video, silhouette, size, 
and(or) other O. mykiss characteristics. 

Other fish species—based on video, silhouette, 
size, and(or) other species characteristics. 

Fish probable—based on silhouette. 

Fish unknown—based on video, but species 
could not be determined. 

Video Confirmation No Video Confirmation 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

88

Appendix 26.  Summary of Riverwatcher detections classified as fish probable and O. 
mykiss from January through June of 2011. 
 

      Upstream  Downstream 

O. mykiss      101 49 

Fish, probable     20 18 

False detections     308 631 

Fish, unknown     6  

Total      435 698 

        

Mean date-O. mykiss    25-May-11 5-May-11 

Mean date-fish, unknown    30-Apr-11  

Mean date-fish, probable    18-Mar-11 2-Mar-11 

        

Mean time-O. mykiss (24h)    13:14 10:58 

Mean time-fish, unknown (24h)    9:03  

Mean time-fish, probable (24h)    12:23 13:54 

        

Mean length-O. mykiss (cm)    27 27 

Mean length- fish, unknown (cm)   26  

Mean length-fish, probable (cm)   32 30 

        

Mean daily temperature-O. mykiss (°C)   18.0 16.7 

Mean daily temperature-fish, unknown (°C)   16.9  

Mean daily temperature-fish, probable (°C)   15.2 14.6 

        

Mean daily turbidity-O. mykiss (NTU)   3 2 

Mean daily turbidity-fish, probable (NTU)   16 21 

Mean daily turbidity-fish, unknown (NTU)    7 

Mean daily turbidity-false detections (NTU)   171 150 

        

Mean daily discharge-O. mykiss (cfs)   30 31 

Mean daily discharge-fish, probable (cfs)   29 32 

Mean daily discharge-fish, unknown (cfs)   32  

Mean daily discharge-false detections (cfs)   254 240 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

89

Time (months 2011)

                     Dec                        Jan                        Feb                        Mar                        Apr                        May                        Jun                      

 F
re

qu
en

cy
 (

nu
m

be
r 

of
 f

is
h)

0

5

10

0

5

10

15

20

Fish, probable 
O. mykiss 
Fish, Unknown

Upstream
n = 101

Downstream
n = 49

 
Appendix 27.  Weekly Riverwatcher upstream and downstream detections classified as 
O. mykiss, fish probable, and fish unknown from January through June of 2011. 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

90

Time (24h)

0 2 4 6 8 10 12 14 16 18 20 22 24

F
re

qu
en

cy
 (

N
um

be
r 

of
 F

is
h)

0

5

10

0

5

10

15

Upstream
n = 101

Downstream
n = 49

 

Appendix 28.  Time (24h) of O. mykiss, fish probable, and fish unknown passage 
through the Riverwatcher in upstream and downstream directions from January through 
June of 2011. 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

91

 

Length (cm)

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70
0

5

10

15

20

25

30

2011 OMY Up + Down
n = 150

Length (cm)

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70

F
re

qu
en

cy
 (

N
um

be
r 

of
 O

. 
m

yk
is

s)

0

5

10

15

2011 OMY Down
n = 49

Length (cm)

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70
0

5

10

15

20

2011 OMY Up
n = 101

 
 
Appendix 29.  Length frequency distribution of O. mykiss detected passing through the 
Riverwatcher from January through June of 2011. 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

92

Appendix 30.  Date, time, TL, direction, discharge, turbidity, and temperature at time of 
all upstream and downstream Riverwatcher detections that were determined to be fish. 
 

Date 
Time 
(24h) Fish Category

Total 
Length 
(cm) Direction

Mean Daily 
Discharge 

(cfs) 

Daily 
Turbidity 
(NTU) 

Mean Daily 
Temperature (°C)

24-Dec-2010 11:44 Fish Probable 35 Down 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 11:50 Fish Probable 35 Up 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 12:29 O. mykiss 39 Up 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 12:47 Fish Probable 46 Down 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 13:10 Fish Probable 44 Up 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 14:51 Fish Probable 35 Up 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 15:09 Fish Probable 42 Down 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 15:10 Fish Probable 41 Up 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 15:20 Fish Probable 37 Down 22 48 12.1 
24-Dec-2010 16:31 Fish Probable 37 Down 22 48 12.1 
25-Dec-2010 8:55 Fish Probable 32 Up 22 29 12 
25-Dec-2010 9:16 Fish Probable 42 Down 22 29 12 
25-Dec-2010 9:20 O. mykiss 34 Up 22 29 12 
25-Dec-2010 9:22 Fish Probable 34 Down 22 29 12 
25-Dec-2010 9:23 Fish Probable 34 Up 22 29 12 
25-Dec-2010 9:36 Fish Probable 30 Down 22 29 12 
25-Dec-2010 9:38 Fish Probable 41 Up 22 29 12 
25-Dec-2010 10:06 Fish Unknown 30 Up 22 29 12 
26-Dec-2010 1:46 Fish Probable 28 Down 21 18 11.7 
22-Jan-2011 9:33 Fish Probable 37 Up 19 2 11.9 
22-Jan-2011 10:02 O. mykiss 23 Down 19 2 11.9 
22-Jan-2011 13:59 O. mykiss 32 Down 19 2 11.9 
6-Feb-2011 15:20 Fish Probable 35 Up 20 2 12.5 
4-Mar-2011 21:02 O. mykiss 27 Down 50 2 12.5 
11-Mar-2011 3:39 O. mykiss 20 Down 32 1 14.4 
11-Mar-2011 14:29 Fish Probable 20 Down 32 1 14.4 
14-Mar-2011 19:32 O. mykiss 35 Up 32 1 14.6 
16-Mar-2011 5:57 O. mykiss 22 Up 33 1 15.6 
16-Mar-2011 20:33 O. mykiss 42 Up 33 1 15.6 
17-Mar-2011 1:27 O. mykiss 39 Down 32 3 14.6 
18-Mar-2011 21:26 O. mykiss 32 Up 33 2 13.4 
9-Apr-2011 8:51 Fish Probable 32 Up 31 4 12.1 
9-Apr-2011 20:23 O. mykiss 25 Down 31 4 12.1 
12-Apr-2011 2:05 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 2 14.3 
12-Apr-2011 15:55 O. mykiss 22 Down 32 2 14.3 
13-Apr-2011 20:40 O. mykiss 30 Down 31 2 14.3 
14-Apr-2011 1:09 O. mykiss 25 Down 30 2 14 
14-Apr-2011 1:34 O. mykiss 27 Up 30 2 14 
14-Apr-2011 6:35 O. mykiss 30 Down 30 2 14 
15-Apr-2011 8:23 O. mykiss 20 Down 31 2 14.7 
15-Apr-2011 10:09 O. mykiss 23 Down 31 2 14.7 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

93

Date 
Time 
(24h) Fish Category

Total 
Length 
(cm) Direction

Mean Daily 
Discharge 

(cfs) 

Daily 
Turbidity 
(NTU) 

Mean Daily 
Temperature (°C)

15-Apr-2011 19:40 O. mykiss 22 Up 31 2 14.7 
19-Apr-2011 3:25 O. mykiss 23 Down 31 2 16.1 
22-Apr-2011 10:56 O. mykiss 20 Up 30 4 15.4 
22-Apr-2011 11:02 O. mykiss 30 Down 30 4 15.4 
22-Apr-2011 11:08 O. mykiss 25 Up 30 4 15.4 
23-Apr-2011 5:56 O. mykiss 30 Up 32 4 15.9 
23-Apr-2011 9:54 O. mykiss 28 Down 32 4 15.9 
24-Apr-2011 4:50 O. mykiss 28 Up 30 2 15.3 
24-Apr-2011 12:18 O. mykiss 20 Down 30 2 15.3 
27-Apr-2011 16:12 O. mykiss 37 Up 30 2 16.2 
27-Apr-2011 16:15 O. mykiss 30 Down 30 2 16.2 
28-Apr-2011 20:22 O. mykiss 23 Up 30 2 17.2 
3-May-2011 6:04 O. mykiss 22 Down 32 3 17.2 
4-May-2011 0:57 O. mykiss 32 Up 32 3 18 
5-May-2011 5:46 O. mykiss 28 Up 32 3 18.3 
5-May-2011 21:22 Fish Probable 22 Up 32 3 18.3 
5-May-2011 21:24 Fish Probable 27 Up 32 3 18.3 
5-May-2011 21:25 Fish Probable 23 Down 32 3 18.3 
6-May-2011 4:36 O. mykiss 27 Down 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 4:41 O. mykiss 30 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 6:41 Fish Unknown 30 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 7:29 O. mykiss 27 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 8:03 Fish Probable 28 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 8:43 O. mykiss 32 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 10:23 O. mykiss 37 Down 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 11:57 O. mykiss 32 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 12:27 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 19:17 O. mykiss 28 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 23:08 O. mykiss 22 Up 32 3 18.4 
6-May-2011 23:08 Fish Probable 22 Down 32 3 18.4 
7-May-2011 1:09 O. mykiss 25 Down 32 3 17 
7-May-2011 5:18 Fish Probable 25 Down 32 3 17 
7-May-2011 5:27 O. mykiss 28 Down 32 3 17 
7-May-2011 5:34 O. mykiss 22 Up 32 3 17 
7-May-2011 6:39 O. mykiss 41 Up 32 3 17 
7-May-2011 10:39 O. mykiss 32 Up 32 3 17 
7-May-2011 20:18 O. mykiss 39 Down 32 3 17 
7-May-2011 20:45 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 3 17 
8-May-2011 7:35 O. mykiss 34 Down 32 2 16.6 
8-May-2011 7:53 O. mykiss 27 Down 32 2 16.6 
8-May-2011 12:12 O. mykiss 32 Up 32 2 16.6 
8-May-2011 12:26 O. mykiss 27 Up 32 2 16.6 
8-May-2011 12:26 O. mykiss 20 Down 32 2 16.6 
8-May-2011 12:33 O. mykiss 28 Down 32 2 16.6 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

94

Date 
Time 
(24h) Fish Category

Total 
Length 
(cm) Direction

Mean Daily 
Discharge 

(cfs) 

Daily 
Turbidity 
(NTU) 

Mean Daily 
Temperature (°C)

8-May-2011 23:53 O. mykiss 32 Up 32 2 16.6 
10-May-2011 6:02 Fish Probable 28 Up 32 2 16.5 
10-May-2011 6:21 Fish Probable 27 Down 32 2 16.5 
10-May-2011 17:23 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 2 16.5 
10-May-2011 20:37 O. mykiss 22 Up 32 2 16.5 
11-May-2011 5:12 O. mykiss 27 Down 31 2 16.9 
11-May-2011 5:39 O. mykiss 30 Up 31 2 16.9 
11-May-2011 6:22 O. mykiss 30 Down 31 2 16.9 
11-May-2011 18:53 Fish Probable 30 Up 31 2 16.9 
11-May-2011 20:01 O. mykiss 30 Down 31 2 16.9 
12-May-2011 5:25 O. mykiss 23 Up 32 3 17.8 
12-May-2011 5:36 Fish Probable 27 Up 32 3 17.8 
12-May-2011 18:34 O. mykiss 28 Up 32 3 17.8 
13-May-2011 18:47 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 3 18 
13-May-2011 19:11 O. mykiss 22 Down 32 3 18 
13-May-2011 19:54 Fish Probable 23 Down 32 3 18 
13-May-2011 22:58 O. mykiss 20 Down 32 3 18 
15-May-2011 12:34 O. mykiss 27 Up 31 3 16.7 
20-May-2011 12:58 O. mykiss 44 Down 31 3 17.3 
20-May-2011 21:32 Fish Unknown 24 Up 31 3 17.3 
21-May-2011 18:48 Fish Probable 25 Down 31 3 18 
21-May-2011 20:11 O. mykiss 28 Up 31 3 18 
23-May-2011 11:48 O. mykiss 30 Down 31 2 17.4 
23-May-2011 19:09 Fish Probable 30 Up 31 2 17.4 
23-May-2011 21:58 O. mykiss 34 Up 31 2 17.4 
24-May-2011 1:57 Fish Unknown 25 Up 32 2 17.5 
24-May-2011 5:01 O. mykiss 23 Down 32 2 17.5 
25-May-2011 7:00 O. mykiss 25 Down 32 2 18 
25-May-2011 18:40 O. mykiss 20 Down 32 2 18 
26-May-2011 5:12 O. mykiss 28 Down 32 2 18.3 
31-May-2011 12:17 O. mykiss 30 Up 31 2 17.6 
31-May-2011 12:38 O. mykiss 20 Up 31 2 17.6 
1-Jun-2011 5:47 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 2 17.5 
1-Jun-2011 19:32 O. mykiss 20 Up 32 2 17.5 
2-Jun-2011 9:10 O. mykiss 27 Up 32 2 17.7 
2-Jun-2011 10:02 O. mykiss 27 Down 32 2 17.7 
2-Jun-2011 15:37 O. mykiss 25 Down 32 2 17.7 
3-Jun-2011 3:43 Fish Unknown 20 Up 32 2 17.5 
3-Jun-2011 22:43 O. mykiss 22 Up 32 2 17.5 
4-Jun-2011 7:48 O. mykiss 23 Up 33 3 16.7 
4-Jun-2011 21:04 O. mykiss 30 Up 33 3 16.7 
5-Jun-2011 21:45 O. mykiss 25 Up 33 2 16.4 
6-Jun-2011 14:36 O. mykiss 27 Up 33 2 16.9 
7-Jun-2011 3:17 O. mykiss 23 Up 33 3 17.9 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

95

Date 
Time 
(24h) Fish Category

Total 
Length 
(cm) Direction

Mean Daily 
Discharge 

(cfs) 

Daily 
Turbidity 
(NTU) 

Mean Daily 
Temperature (°C)

7-Jun-2011 7:40 Fish Probable 22 Up 33 3 17.9 
7-Jun-2011 15:13 O. mykiss 25 Up 33 3 17.9 
7-Jun-2011 20:01 O. mykiss 23 Up 33 3 17.9 
7-Jun-2011 20:35 Fish Probable 20 Down 33 3 17.9 
8-Jun-2011 6:22 O. mykiss 28 Down 32 2 17.2 
8-Jun-2011 18:17 O. mykiss 28 Down 32 2 17.2 
8-Jun-2011 22:44 O. mykiss 37 Up 32 2 17.2 
9-Jun-2011 8:06 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 2 18.3 
9-Jun-2011 12:29 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 2 18.3 
9-Jun-2011 20:29 O. mykiss 22 Up 32 2 18.3 
10-Jun-2011 0:07 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 3 17.6 
10-Jun-2011 10:41 O. mykiss 22 Up 32 3 17.6 
10-Jun-2011 17:07 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 3 17.6 
11-Jun-2011 7:59 O. mykiss 28 Up 32 2 16.9 
11-Jun-2011 13:58 O. mykiss 28 Up 32 2 16.9 
11-Jun-2011 18:46 Fish Probable 23 Down 32 2 16.9 
12-Jun-2011 12:48 O. mykiss 20 Up 31 2 16.9 
12-Jun-2011 15:55 O. mykiss 25 Up 31 2 16.9 
13-Jun-2011 10:21 Fish Unknown 23 Up 31 2 18.5 
13-Jun-2011 12:25 O. mykiss 23 Up 31 2 18.5 
13-Jun-2011 12:47 O. mykiss 28 Up 31 2 18.5 
13-Jun-2011 14:12 O. mykiss 28 Down 31 2 18.5 
13-Jun-2011 14:23 O. mykiss 28 Up 31 2 18.5 
13-Jun-2011 18:34 O. mykiss 28 Up 31 2 18.5 
14-Jun-2011 5:26 O. mykiss 22 Up 31 2 19.7 
14-Jun-2011 16:29 O. mykiss 28 Up 31 2 19.7 
15-Jun-2011 18:00 O. mykiss 23 Up 30 3 20.3 
16-Jun-2011 5:14 O. mykiss 27 Up 30 2 18.4 
16-Jun-2011 6:50 O. mykiss 20 Up 30 2 18.4 
17-Jun-2011 3:15 O. mykiss 25 Up 32 2 17.9 
18-Jun-2011 12:14 O. mykiss 20 Down 32 2 18 
18-Jun-2011 12:33 O. mykiss 30 Up 32 2 18 
18-Jun-2011 22:40 O. mykiss 23 Up 32 2 18 
19-Jun-2011 9:16 O. mykiss 20 Up 31 2 18 
19-Jun-2011 22:11 O. mykiss 27 Up 31 2 18 
20-Jun-2011 16:07 O. mykiss 27 Up 30 2 19.6 
20-Jun-2011 19:05 O. mykiss 27 Up 30 2 19.6 
20-Jun-2011 20:30 O. mykiss 28 Up 30 2 19.6 
21-Jun-2011 9:20 O. mykiss 28 Up 27 4 21.1 
21-Jun-2011 9:34 O. mykiss 28 Down 27 4 21.1 
21-Jun-2011 19:13 O. mykiss 23 Up 27 4 21.1 
22-Jun-2011 14:20 O. mykiss 30 Down 27 3 21.4 
22-Jun-2011 15:12 O. mykiss 28 Up 27 3 21.4 
23-Jun-2011 12:51 O. mykiss 22 Up 27 3 21.5 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

96

Date 
Time 
(24h) Fish Category

Total 
Length 
(cm) Direction

Mean Daily 
Discharge 

(cfs) 

Daily 
Turbidity 
(NTU) 

Mean Daily 
Temperature (°C)

23-Jun-2011 23:54 O. mykiss 37 Up 27 3 21.5 
25-Jun-2011 7:56 O. mykiss 23 Up 26 4 21.2 
25-Jun-2011 11:13 O. mykiss 27 Up 26 4 21.2 
25-Jun-2011 14:34 O. mykiss 32 Up 26 4 21.2 
26-Jun-2011 4:11 O. mykiss 32 Up 25 4 21.3 
26-Jun-2011 5:29 O. mykiss 32 Up 25 4 21.3 
26-Jun-2011 7:10 O. mykiss 27 Up 25 4 21.3 
26-Jun-2011 14:35 O. mykiss 23 Up 25 4 21.3 
26-Jun-2011 16:08 O. mykiss 27 Up 25 4 21.3 
27-Jun-2011 13:31 O. mykiss 28 Up 25 4 21.7 
28-Jun-2011 5:37 O. mykiss 27 Down 24 4 21.6 
28-Jun-2011 13:22 O. mykiss 32 Up 24 4 21.6 
29-Jun-2011 7:40 O. mykiss 22 Up 25 3 21.2 
29-Jun-2011 8:06 O. mykiss 20 Down 25 3 21.2 
29-Jun-2011 8:08 Fish Probable 25 Up 25 3 21.2 
29-Jun-2011 14:06 O. mykiss 28 Down 25 3 21.2 
29-Jun-2011 14:22 O. mykiss 23 Up 25 3 21.2 
29-Jun-2011 14:43 Fish Probable 27 Up 25 3 21.2 
29-Jun-2011 22:10 O. mykiss 23 Up 25 3 21.2 
30-Jun-2011 14:49 O. mykiss 27 Up 26 3 20.1 
30-Jun-2011 15:47 O. mykiss 30 Up 26 3 20.1 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

97

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Low-flow road crossing and measurement weir 

 
 
Appendix 31.  Top view of downstream migrant smolt trap layout in the Ventura River 
below the Robles Fish Facility. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Flow

30°

5 m 

1 m 

Holding live-box

12 m

1 m 

8.5 m 

Deflector wings



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

98

Appendix 32.  Data for 25 smolts captured in the downstream weir trap during the spring of 2010. 
 

Date Time 

Fork 
length 
(mm) 

Weight   
(g) 

Condition 
factor 
(KFL)

a 
Smolt 
stageb 

Scale 
loss 
(%) 

Mean 
daily 
water 
temp. 
(°C) 

Mean 
daily 

facility 
inflow 
(cfs) 

Mean 
daily weir 
discharge 

(cfs) 

Cloud 
cover 
(%) 

Moon 
phase 
(% full) Tag type Release site 

03/15/2011 11:02 172 50 0.98 T2 1.5 15.3 42 33 60 71 Radio Weir Pool 1 
03/16/2011 9:25 225 114b 1.00 T3 3.2 15.6 41 33 40 81 Radio Weir Pool 1 
03/16/2011 9:47 209 94b 1.03 T3 3.9 15.6 41 33 40 81 Radio Weir Pool 1 
03/16/2011 15:29 188 60 0.90 T3 3.7 15.6 41 33 60 81 Radio Weir Pool 1 
03/17/2011 9:42 184 66 1.06 T3 2.8 14.6 40 32 100 89 Radio Weir Pool 1 
03/18/2011 9:23 162 41 0.97 T2 4.7 13.4 40 33 10 95 Radio Weir Pool 1 
03/19/2011 9:31 196 72 0.96 T2 2.0 13.3 44 34 100 100 Radio Weir Pool 1 
03/19/2011 9:31 199 81 1.03 T2 0.8 13.3 44 34 100 100 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/05/2011 9:45 206 90c 1.03 FS 1.6 15.2 177 30 0 2 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/06/2011 10:11 214 101 1.03 FS 3.5 15.3 166 31 75 5 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/06/2011 10:22 224 115 1.02 FS 4.3 15.3 166 31 75 5 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/07/2011 9:15 204 85 1.00 T3 3.2 14.4 157 31 100 10 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/07/2011 16:09 208 84 0.93 FS 2.3 14.4 157 31 50 10 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/07/2011 16:18 156 42 1.11 T2 2.3 14.4 157 31 50 10 None Weir Pool 1 
04/08/2011 9:51 248 156 1.02 FS 4.9 12.6 151 33 10 17 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/08/2011 10:00 224 111 0.99 FS 2.8 12.6 151 33 10 17 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/12/2011 10:00 190 66 0.96 T3 3.3 14.3 120 32 0 56 Radio Weir Pool 1 
04/13/2011 10:40 183 62 1.01 T3 4.2 14.2 116 31 100 66 PIT Camino Ciello
04/13/2011 10:49 182 67 1.11 FS 2.3 14.2 116 31 100 66 PIT Camino Ciello
04/13/2011 10:57 210 87 0.94 FS 3.0 14.2 116 31 100 66 PIT Camino Ciello
04/15/2011 9:45 217 99 0.97 FS 3.8 14.7 107 31 NA 86 PIT Camino Ciello
04/20/2011 10:26 213 108 1.12 T2 9.3 15.8 98 31 100 95 PIT Camino Ciello
04/20/2011 10:33 244 142 0.98 FS 4.3 15.8 98 31 100 95 PIT Camino Ciello
04/27/2011 9:18 211 100 1.06 FS 2.7 16.2 77 30 0 32 PIT Camino Ciello
05/10/2011 9:34 202 68 0.83 FS 4.7 16.5 63 32 0 50 PIT Camino Ciello

Means  203 85 1.0  3.4 14.7 101 32 58 55   
aKFL = [weight (g) x fork length (mm)3] x 100,000 
bSmolt stage includes: parr, T1, T2, T3, and full smolt (FS). 
cScale error so weight was determined from a weight to length regression.



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

99

 

2011
Time (month and year)

Jan  Feb  Mar  Apr  May  Jun  Jul  

D
is

ch
ar

ge
 (

cf
s)

0

200

400

600

800

1000

T
em

pe
ra

tu
re

 (
°C

)

8

10

12

14

16

18

20

22

24
Discharge 
Mean daily water temp.
Captured smolts

 
Appendix 33.  Mean daily water temperature, mean daily discharge, and time of capture for 
smolts in the weir trap downstream of the Robles Fish Facility in 2011. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

100 

Time (month and week)
Apr  Jun  

Lo
ca

tio
n 

(r
km

)

0

5

10

15

20

M
ax

 D
ai

ly
 W

at
er

 T
em

pe
ra

tu
re

 (
°C

)

5

10

15

20

25

30

D
is

ch
ar

ge
 fr

om
 R

ob
le

s 
(c

fs
)

0

500

1000

1500

2000

R
ob

le
s 

R
ea

ch

 
 
Appendix 34.  Location and date of radio-tagged O. mykiss smolts released downstream of the Robles Fish Facility in March and April 
of 2011.  Red line is maximum daily water temperature downstream of the Robles Fish Facility and the blue line is discharge from 
Robles.  The Robles Reach is indicated by the two horizontal dashed lines. 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

101 

Appendix 35.  Annual flow summary at the Robles Fish Facility for water year 2010-2011. 
                  

Annual Flow Summary - Robles Fish Passage Facility 
Water Year 2010 - 2011 

  * *   **   *** 
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)   (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5) 
      Source Stream Daily Flows           Robles Facility Daily Flows   
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow 
  D/S Dam Matilija Ck.* Flows   Ladder Weir Canal   
  (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) 

              
Jul-10 0 0 0   46 46 0 46 

              
Aug-10 0 0 0   3 3 0 3 

              
Sep-10 0 0 0   0 0 0 0 

              
Oct-10 0 0 0   0 0 0 0 

              
Nov-10 0 0 0   0 0 0 0 

              
Dec-10 0 0 0   296 1014 2252 3265 

              
Jan-11 0 0 0   605 605 878 1484 

              
Feb-11 0 0 0   832 832 360 1193 

              
Mar-11 0 0 0   1354 4121 4116.48 8237 

              
Apr-11 0 0 0   931 931 2802 3733 

              
May-11 0 0 0   976.33 976.32 781 1757 

               
Jun-11 0 0 0   893.47 893.47 75 969 

               
Total 0 0 0   5936 9421 11265 20687 

                  
         
*  Preliminary flow information provided by the Ventura County Watershed Protection District. North Fork Data is estimated. To be confirmed 
by VCWPD. Refer to the Operations section of the Report to determine operational reasons for flow variances. 
** Flow in the Fish Passage was too low to be measured by the Accusonics Flowmeter. Flow needs to be greater than 15 CFS for reasonable 
flow measurements. 
*** This does not account for any flow being expelled from the spillway gates 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

102 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)    (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)  (5) X 1.98       
      Source Stream Daily Flows          Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO 
Jul-10 

(cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      
2    0   1.3 2 2 0 2  0      
3    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      
4    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      
5    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      
6    0   1.5 3 3 0 3  0      
7    0   1.5 3 3 0 3  0      
8    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      
9    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      

10    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      
11    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      
12    0   1.4 3 3 0 3  0      
13    0   1.3 2 2 0 2  0      
14    0   1.3 2 2 0 2  0      
15    0   1.2 1 1 0 1  0      
16    0   1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
17    0   1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
18    0   1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
19    0   1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
20    0   1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
21    0   1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
22    0   1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
23    0   1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
24    0   1.0 0 0 0 0  0      
25    0   1.1 0 0 0 0  0      
26    0   1.0 0 0 0 0  0      
27    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
28    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
29    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
30    0   1.0 1 1 0 1  0      
31     0   1.0 1 1 0 1  0      

Totals 0 0 0     46 46 0 46   0       

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

103 

 

Ventura River Flow Assessment 
Water Year 2010 - 2011 

               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)    (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)  (5) X 1.98      
      Source Stream Daily Flows          Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek  Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows  Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO 
Aug-10 

(cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0  1.1 1 1 0 1  0      
2    0  1.0 0 0 0 0  0      
3    0  0.8 0 0 0 0  0      
4    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
5    0  0.8 0 0 0 0  0      
6    0  0.8 0 0 0 0  0      
7    0  0.7 0 0 0 0  0      
8    0  0.8 0 0 0 0  0      
9    0  0.7 0 0 0 0  0      
10    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
11    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
12    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
13    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
14    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
15    0  0.7 0 0 0 0  0      
16    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
17    0  0.5 0 0 0 0  0      
18    0  0.5 0 0 0 0  0      
19    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
20    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
21    0  0.5 0 0 0 0  0      
22    0  0.6 0 0 0 0  0      
23    0  0.5 0 0 0 0  0      
24    0  0.4 0 0 0 0  0      
25    0  0.3 0 0 0 0  0      
26    0  0.2 0 0 0 0  0      
27    0  0.2 0 0 0 0  0      
28    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
29    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
30    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
31     0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      

Totals 0 0 0    3 3 0 3  0       

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

104 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)    (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)  (5) X 1.98      
      Source Stream Daily Flows          Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek  Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows  Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO 
Sep-10 

(cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
2    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
3   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
4   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
5   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
6   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
7   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
8   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
9   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      

10   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
11   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
12   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
13   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
14   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
15   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
16   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
17   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
18   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
19   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
20   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
21   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
22   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
23   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
24   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
25   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
26   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
27   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
28   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
29   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
30   0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      

Totals 0 0 0    0 0 0  0  0       
               
 * Headworks computer down. Bubbler data indicated no flow from late Aug to early Oct      

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

105 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)    (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)  (5) X 1.98       
      Source Stream Daily Flows          Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO 
Oct-10 

(cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0   0.0 0 0 0  0  0      
2    0   0.0 0 0 0  0  0      
3    0   0.0 0 0 0  0  0      
4    0   0.0 0 0 0  0  0      
5    0   0.0 0 0 0  0  0      
6    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
7    0   0.2 0 0 0  0  0      
8    0   0.2 0 0 0  0  0      
9    0   0.2 0 0 0  0  0      

10    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
11    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
12    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
13    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
14    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
15    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
16    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
17    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
18    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
19    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
20    0   0.2 0 0 0  0  0      
21    0   0.2 0 0 0  0  0      
22    0   0.2 0 0 0  0  0      
23    0   0.2 0 0 0  0  0      
24    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
25    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
26    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
27    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
28    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
29    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
30    0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      
31     0   0.1 0 0 0  0  0      

Totals 0 0 0     0 0 0 0   0       

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

106 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)    (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)  (5) X 1.98      
      Source Stream Daily Flows          Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek  Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows  Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO 
Nov-10 

(cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0  0.1 0 0 0 0  0      
2    0  0.1 0 0 0 0  0      
3    0  0.1 0 0 0 0  0      
4    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
5    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
6    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
7    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
8    0  0.1 0 0 0 0  0      
9    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
10    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
11    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
12    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
13    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
14    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
15    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
16    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
17    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
18    0  0.0 0 0 0 0  0      
19    0  0.3 0 0 0 0  0      
20    0  1.2 0 0 0 0  0      
21    0  1.2 0 0 0 0  0      
22    0  1.0 0 0 0 0  0      
23    0  0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
24    0  0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
25    0  0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
26    0  0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
27    0  0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
28    0  0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
29    0  0.8 0 0 0 0  0      
30    0  0.8 0 0 0 0  0      

Totals 0 0 0    0 0 0  0  0       

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

107 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)     (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)   (5) X 1.98       
      Source Stream Daily Flows           Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO 
Dec-10 

(cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
2    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
3    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
4    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
5    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
6    0   1.0 0 0 0 0  0      
7    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
8    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
9    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      

10    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
11    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
12    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
13    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
14    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
15    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
16    0   0.9 0 0 0 0  0      
17    0   1.5 0 0 0 0  0      
18    0   2.5 13 13 7 20  14      
19    0   6.4 35 35 311 346  616      
20    0   7.1 20 20 313 333  620      
21    0   5.1 19 19 172 191  341      
22    0   7.0 20 655 326 982  646      
23    0   7.4 21 104 335 439  664      
24    0   5.7 22 22 189 212  375      
25    0   5.1 22 22 132 154  261      
26    0   5.0 21 21 117 138  231      
27    0   4.7 20 20 87 107  171      
28    0   4.5 20 20 73 93  144      
29    0   4.7 21 21 73 94  144      
30    0   4.7 20 20 62 82  122      
31     0   4.6 20 20 55 75  109      

Totals 0 0 0     296 1014 2252  3265   4459        
               
   Flows picked up early evening          



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

108 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)     (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)  (5) X 1.98       
      Source Stream Daily Flows           Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO 
Jan-11 

(cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0   4.6 20 20 49 69  96      
2    0   4.8 21 21 48 69  95      
3    0   5.0 21 21 74 95  147      
4    0   4.9 20 20 63 83  125      
5    0   4.8 20 20 56 76  111      
6    0   4.7 20 20 52 72  102      
7    0   4.7 20 20 47 67  93      
8    0   4.6 20 20 45 66  90      
9    0   4.6 20 20 42 62  84      
10    0   4.6 20 20 39 59  77      
11    0   4.5 20 20 36 56  71      
12    0   4.4 20 20 30 50  60      
13    0   4.3 19 19 26 45  51      
14    0   4.4 19 19 25 45  50      
15    0   4.3 19 19 23 42  46      
16    0   4.4 19 19 22 41  44      
17    0   4.4 19 19 20 39  41      
18    0   4.5 20 20 18 38  36      
19    0   4.5 20 20 17 37  34      
20    0   4.4 20 20 16 35  32      
21    0   4.4 20 20 15 35  30      
22    0   4.4 19 19 15 34  29      
23    0   4.3 18 18 14 33  28      
24    0   4.2 19 19 13 32  25      
25    0   4.1 19 19 12 31  24      
26    0   4.0 19 19 11 30  22      
27    0   4.0 19 19 10 29  21      
28    0   3.9 19 19 10 29  19      
29    0   3.9 19 19 9 28  18      
30    0   4.0 18 18 10 28  21      
31     0   4.2 19 19 9 28  17      

Totals 0 0 0     605 605 878 1484   1739        

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

109 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               

  (1) (2) (1)+(2)    (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)  
(5) X 
1.98       

      Source Stream Daily Flows          Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 

  
Matilija 
Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      
D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO Feb-

11 (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0   4.3 20 20 8 27  15      
2    0   4.2 20 20 6 26  13      
3    0   4.2 20 20 6 26  12      
4    0   4.2 20 20 6 26  11      
5    0   4.1 20 20 6 26  11      
6    0   4.1 20 20 5 25  10      
7    0   4.0 20 20 4 24  9      
8    0   4.0 20 20 5 24  9      
9    0   4.0 19 19 4 23  8      
10    0   4.0 19 19 4 23  8      
11    0   4.0 19 19 4 23  8      
12    0   3.9 19 19 3 22  6      
13    0   3.9 19 19 3 22  6      
14    0   3.9 19 19 3 22  6      
15    0   4.0 19 19 3 22  6      
16    0   4.2 21 21 16 38  32      
17    0   4.4 20 20 28 48  55      
18    0   4.5 21 21 30 51  60      
19    0   6.1 34 34 23 57  45      
20    0   8.0 49 49 22 71  44      
21    0   8.0 49 49 11 60  22      
22    0   7.9 48 48 3 51  6      
23    0   8.1 50 50 0 50  0      
24    0   7.6 47 47 0 47  0      
25    0   7.7 47 47 12 59  23      
26    0   7.9 50 50 84 133  166      
27    0   8.0 50 50 38 88  74      
28    0   8.0 50 50 25 75  49      

Totals 0 0 0     832 832 360  1193   714       

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

110 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)     (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)   (5) X 1.98       
      Source Stream Daily Flows           Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO Mar-
11 (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0   8.0 50 50 19 69  39      
2    0   8.0 50 50 18 68  36      
3    0   8.0 50 50 22 72  43      
4    0   8.0 50 50 18 68  35      
5    0   8.0 49 49 13 62  26      
6    0   8.1 50 50 9 59  18      
7    0   8.1 50 50 8 58  16      
8    0   7.5 45 45 12 57  23      
9    0   6.0 36 36 17 54  34      
10    0   5.0 31 31 18 49  35      
11    0   5.0 32 32 16 48  32      
12    0   5.0 32 32 15 47  29      
13    0   5.0 32 32 13 45  26      
14    0   5.0 32 32 11 44  22      
15    0   5.0 33 33 10 42  19      
16    0   5.0 33 33 9 41  18      
17    0   5.0 32 32 7 40  14      
18    0   5.1 33 33 7 40  13      
19    0   5.2 34 34 10 44  20      
20    0   5.2 50 999 108 1107  214      
21    0   8.6 50 999 382 1381  757      
22    0   8.3 50 325 399 724  789      
23    0   7.5 50 170 314 484  622      
24    0   7.6 50 130 286 416  566      
25    0   7.2 50 364 419 783  829      
26    0   7.7 50 74 444 518  879      
27    0   7.3 50 72 363 436  720      
28    0   6.9 50 65 345 410  683      
29    0   6.5 50 59 298 357  591      
30    0   6.1 50 58 262 320  518      
31     0   6.6 50 51 244 295  483      

Totals 0 0 0     1354 4121 4116  8237   8151        
               
   Flow Exceeds 999 cfs            

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

111 

 

Ventura River Flow Assessment 
Water Year 2010 - 2011 

               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)    (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)  (5) X 1.98       
      Source Stream Daily Flows          Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO Apr-
11 (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0   6.5 39 39 224 263  444      
2    0   5.5 33 33 208 241  412      
3    0   5.3 32 32 184 216  364      
4    0   5.1 31 31 162 193  321      
5    0   5.0 30 30 147 177  291      
6    0   5.0 31 31 136 166  269      
7    0   5.0 31 31 127 157  251      
8    0   5.0 33 33 118 151  234      
9    0   5.0 31 31 110 142  218      

10    0   5.0 31 31 102 133  201      
11    0   5.0 31 31 95 126  187      
12    0   4.9 32 32 89 120  176      
13    0   4.6 31 31 85 116  169      
14    0   4.5 30 30 80 111  159      
15    0   4.7 31 31 76 107  151      
16    0   4.9 30 30 72 102  142      
17    0   4.9 28 28 71 99  140      
18    0   4.8 31 31 70 101  139      
19    0   4.6 31 31 66 98  131      
20    0   4.6 31 31 67 98  132      
21    0   4.6 31 31 62 93  124      
22    0   4.5 30 30 61 91  120      
23    0   4.5 32 32 58 90  115      
24    0   4.6 30 30 57 88  114      
25    0   4.5 30 30 53 83  106      
26    0   4.6 31 31 48 79  96      
27    0   4.6 30 30 47 77  92      
28    0   4.6 30 30 44 74  86      
29    0   4.6 30 30 41 71  81      
30    0   4.6 30 30 41 71  81      

Totals 0 0 0     931 931 2802  3733   5548       

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

112 

 
Ventura River Flow Assessment 

Water Year 2010 - 2011 
               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)     (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)   (5) X 1.98       
      Source Stream Daily Flows           Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO May-
11 (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1     0   4.6 29 29 42 71  83      
2     0   4.5 30 30 37 67  73      
3     0   4.6 32 32 32 64  64      
4     0   4.6 32 32 30 62  60      
5     0   4.6 32 32 30 61  59      
6     0   4.5 32 32 29 61  58      
7     0   4.5 32 32 32 64  63      
8     0   4.6 32 32 35 67  70      
9     0   4.6 32 32 33 65  66      
10     0   4.6 32 32 31 63  62      
11     0   4.5 31 31 30 61  59      
12     0   4.5 32 32 27 59  53      
13     0   4.4 32 32 24 56  48      
14     0   4.5 32 32 27 59  53      
15     0   4.2 31 31 29 61  58      
16     0   4.5 32 32 27 59  54      
17     0   4.5 33 33 35 68  69      
18     0   4.5 32 32 40 72  79      
19     0   4.3 30 30 30 60  60      
20     0   4.3 31 31 24 55  47      
21     0   4.3 31 31 23 54  45      
22     0   4.3 30 30 23 54  46      
23     0   4.2 31 31 20 51  40      
24     0   4.3 32 32 18 50  35      
25     0   4.3 32 32 16 48  31      
26     0   4.3 32 32 14 45  27      
27     0   4.3 32 32 9 41  17      
28    0   4.3 32 32 6 39  13      
29    0   4.3 31 31 8 40  17      
30    0   4.4 30 30 11 41  22      
31     0   4.3 31 31 8 40  17      

Totals 0 0 0     976 976 781  1757   1546        

 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

113 

 

Ventura River Flow Assessment 
Water Year 2010 - 2011 

               
  (1) (2) (1)+(2)     (3) (4) (5) (4)+(5)   (5) X 1.98       
      Source Stream Daily Flows           Robles Facility Daily Flows     Field Measurement 
  Matilija Ck North Fork Sum of Creek   Forebay  Fishway VRNMO Diversion Total Inflow  Robles      

D/S Dam Matilija Ck. Flows   Avg. Depth Ladder Weir Canal    Diversion  Matilija Creek VRNMO Jun-
11 (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)   (ft) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd) (cfsd)  (AF)  (cfsd) (cfsd) 
1    0   4.3 32 32 6 38  12      
2    0   4.3 32 32 5 37  11      
3    0   4.3 32 32 3 35  6      
4    0   4.3 33 33 0 33  0      
5    0   4.5 33 33 5 38  10      
6    0   4.4 33 33 18 51  36      
7    0   4.3 33 33 9 41  17      
8    0   4.3 32 32 7 39  13      
9    0   4.2 32 32 5 37  10      
10    0   4.1 32 32 1 33  2      
11    0   4.2 32 32 4 36  7      
12    0   4.3 31 31 7 38  13      
13    0   4.2 31 31 5 36  9      
14    0   4.0 31 31 1 32  2      
15    0   3.8 30 30 0 30  0      
16    0   4.0 30 30 0 30  0      
17    0   4.2 32 32 0 32  0      
18    0   4.1 32 32 0 32  0      
19    0   4.1 31 31 0 31  0      
20    0   4.0 30 30 0 30  0      
21    0   3.5 27 27 0 27  0      
22    0   3.5 27 27 0 27  0      
23    0   3.6 27 27 0 27  0      
24    0   3.3 26 26 0 26  0      
25    0   3.2 26 26 0 26  0      
26    0   3.1 25 25 0 25  0      
27    0   3.0 25 25 0 25  0      
28    0   2.9 24 24 0 24  0      
29    0   3.1 25 25 0 25  0      
30    0   3.1 26 26 0 26  0      

Totals 0 0 0     893 893 75 969   149        

 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

114

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

Appendix 36.  Correspondences among Biological Committee participants regarding the 
2011 progress report and 2012 study plan.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

115

 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

116

 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

117

 

 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

118

 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

119

 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

120

 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

121

 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

122

 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

123

 
 
 
 



 2011 Robles Fish Passage Facility Progress Report 
Casitas Municipal Water District, Oak View, CA. 

124

 
 
 



 
 

FACT SHEET 
 

for the 
 
 

 
Ventura River Water Diversions/Pumping Impairments 

 
 

Protection of surface and ground waters in California is the responsibility of the State Water 
Resources Control Board (located in Sacramento) and the nine Regional Water Quality Control 
Boards spread throughout the State.  The area covered by the Los Angeles Regional Water 
Quality Control Board (LA Water Board) includes coastal Ventura and Los Angeles Counties.  
While these Boards enforce State regulations such as the California Water Code, they also have 
the authority and responsibility to enforce the federal Clean Water Act.  The latter requires 
biennial assessments of the country’s waters and their ability to support certain beneficial uses 
such as water contact recreation, commercial fishing, and use by aquatic life.  During an 
assessment in 1996, beneficial uses 
relating to maintenance of the 
endangered Southern California 
steelhead trout population in the 
Ventura River Reaches 3 (Weldon 
Canyon to confluence with Coyote 
Creek @Casitas Vista/Santa Ana Rd) 
and 4 (Coyote Creek to Camino Cielo 
Rd) were determined to be impaired 
by the LA Water Board based on the 
information available at the time.  
Water quality impairments are 
generally addressed through 
establishment of Total Maximum 
Daily Loads (TMDLs), which 
document sources of the pollutants of 
concern and the amount of pollutant 
reduction needed in order to fully 
support beneficial uses.  Several 
environmental organizations 
challenged USEPA (as the federal 
agency charged with implementing 
the Clean Water Act) over the pace at 
which TMDLs were being developed 
in the Los Angeles Region. In 1999, a 
consent decree between USEPA and 
the environmental organizations led 
to  a detailed schedule for completion of all listed impairments.  USEPA must either establish or 
approve State-adopted consent decree TMDLs in the Los Angeles Region on or before certain 
dates; in the case of the Ventura River water diversion/pumping impairments, the deadline for 
establishing a plan to address the impairment is March 24, 2013. 



2 

 

 

Development of TMDLs is the usual approach taken to address impaired waters since generally 
impairments are caused by chemicals occurring in excess amounts and the best way to remove 
the impairment is to establish a plan to reduce the pollutant loads as needed to meet a target 
concentration that does not cause problems.  However, the water diversion/pumping impairments 
are quite unique and could be addressed through another approach that shows “alternate 
programs” are in place or will be in place to resolve the impairments.  If documentation of these 
programs and commitment to their implementation does not occur in a timely manner such that 
the deadline can be met by USEPA, then a TMDL will be developed by USEPA by March 24, 
2013, identifying the steps that must be taken by various parties to resolve the impairments.   

The LA Water Board is proposing to address the impairment in Reach 3 through delisting 
(removing it from the impaired waters list); after review of all available data and information, it 
appears this impairment may have been incorrectly assigned originally.  Regarding the Reach 4 
impairment, the LA Water Board sees the alternative programs approach as an opportunity for 
development of an array of solutions with the close involvement of watershed stakeholders.  The 
goal would be to identify solutions that reduce anthropogenic impacts from diversions and 
pumping to steelhead trout over-summering habitat, particularly pools.  The LA Water Board 
would act as a facilitator in the process since its only direct authority in this matter is over 
assessing attainment of beneficial uses and the subsequent listing or delisting of impaired waters.  
While only surface waters can be designated as impaired under the Clean Water Act, it is clear in 
this watershed that surface and ground waters are closely interconnected.  Surface water 
diversions can affect the amount of water available to pumpers while pumpers can remove 
enough water such that flowing water or pools where steelhead trout may live during the summer 
months may be depleted.  However, the issues of concern to the survival of steelhead trout also 
apply to the availability of water for human consumption.  Thus, the oversight and appropriate 
management of the resource as a whole by federal, State and local agencies and stakeholders can 
benefit both humans and fish.   

A Memorandum of Agreement (MOA) or similar document would be needed by no later than 
fall 2012 among implementing agencies/parties in order to establish the degree of commitment 
needed to serve as an alternative to a USEPA established TMDL.  Stakeholders are encouraged 
to participate in relevant meetings and other activities publicized by the Ventura River 
Watershed Council www.venturawatershed.org or its affiliated agencies and work 
collaboratively toward effective solutions to address these impairments.  Additional information 
may be obtained from Shirley Birosik, Staff Environmental Scientist, Los Angeles Water Board, 
at (213) 576-6679 and sbirosik@waterboards.ca.gov.  

 

 
 

http://www.venturawatershed.org/
mailto:sbirosik@waterboards.ca.gov


Draft Staff Report 

Ventura River Reach 3 

Water Diversions and Pumping Impairments 

 

The impairment listing for water diversions and pumping is being considered for removal 

from the section 303(d) list, under Section 4 of the Listing Policy, for Ventura River 

Reach 3 (Weldon Canyon to confluence with Coyote Creek @Casitas Vista/Santa Ana 

Rd) because the original listing was based on no data.  No additional data have been 

found to support the listing. 

 

The impairments are described in the 1996 water quality assessment, where they 

originally appeared, as not supporting aquatic life uses.  A specific beneficial use, such as 

cold freshwater habitat or warm freshwater habitat, was not cited although later listing 

cycles associated the impairment with the warm (perhaps incorrectly) freshwater habitat 

beneficial use.  While no specific information was cited in the water quality assessment 

for Reach 3 in support of the listings, information from the draft Steelhead Restoration 

and Management Plan for California of 1995 (prepared by the California Department 

of Fish & Game [DFG] and finalized in 1996) was cited for the same impairments in 

Reach 4, which is immediately upstream of Reach 3.  Reference to the draft management 

plan implies that impairment of the cold freshwater habitat beneficial use was the main 

concern since steelhead trout utilize colder waters.  However, there is no reference to any 

portion of Reach 3 in that document. 

 

General background 

 

The Ventura River is the northernmost major river system within the Los Angeles 

Region; it drains an area of 235 square miles situated within the western Transverse 

Ranges.  Topography in the watershed is rugged and as a result, the surface waters that 

drain the watershed have very steep gradients, ranging from 40 feet per mile at the mouth 

to 150 feet per mile at the headwaters.  Streamflow is highly climate-driven and variable; 

total precipitation over the course of a year, the frequency and intensity of storms, the 

proceeding years’ rainfall regime (drought, normal, or wet), and other general weather 

characteristics (i.e., cooler than usual summers, warmer than usual winters) all contribute 

to any one year’s streamflows, which generally follow a pattern of higher flows in the 

winter/spring and lower flows in summer/fall.  Flow in any particular reach of the river is 

additionally affected by the status of the underlying groundwater basin (whether full, 

filling, or emptying), the occurrence of natural recharge areas where surface flows will 

disappear at times, flow between groundwater basins, and the amount of surface or 

groundwater withdrawals for municipal, domestic, or agricultural uses.  Residents, 

businesses, water utilities, and wildlife in the watershed are entirely reliant on local water 

supplies fed by precipitation; there is no infrastructure in place to import water. 

 

Southern steelhead trout are acclimated to these highly variable conditions.  During 

average to wet water-years, winter storms breach the lagoons often formed at the mouths 

of rivers.  This provides both access and a signal for the anadromous fish to leave the 

ocean and start the journey upstream to spawn.  In a watershed unrestricted by physical 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 3 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

2 

 

barriers to passage such as dams, the fish would normally transit through the mainstem of 

the river over several days and eventually spawn where habitat is generally most suitable, 

in tributaries such as Matilija Creek.  Even in barrier-free watersheds, however, smaller 

than normal winter storms might fail to breach the lagoon leaving the fish to stay in the 

ocean for another year.  Or a large initial storm might breach the lagoon, but not be 

followed by enough subsequent rainfall to maintain streamflows in order for the fish to 

transit through the whole system.  The steelhead runs for years such as those might be 

very small to nonexistent.  In the Ventura River Watershed, during normal to wet years 

before dams were constructed that created physical barriers (i.e., prior to 1948), the 

steelhead run was estimated at 4,000-5,000 individuals.  However, following the 

construction of Matilija Dam (located upstream of Reach 3), which cut off access to 

about half of the prime spawning habitat, and coincident with a drought in the late 1940s, 

steelhead runs dropped to about 2,000-2,500 individuals.  Once the Robles Diversion was 

constructed around 1959, access to good spawning habitat in the North Fork of Matilija 

Creek was also cut off and fewer fish were produced that would eventually return to 

spawn as adults.  The steelhead run dropped to around 100 individuals; these individuals 

had to utilize remaining favorable areas within the mainstem for spawning and rearing.  

Considering the high flows that can occur in the mainstem with larger storms (relative to 

flows in the tributaries), access might be attained but spawning and rearing might prove 

to be impossible at times.  Conversely, during dry years, fish unable to transit back 

downstream to the ocean due to low flows must survive in pools in the mainstem and be 

subjected to elevated temperatures at times, endure competition with other fish for a 

decreasing food supply, and survive exposure to predators.  Spawning might not occur or 

be extremely limited due to lack of water at sites appropriate for spawning during wetter 

years.  While utilization of the mainstem by steelhead trout for their entire life cycle may 

work during some years, there will be many other years when this will not be feasible due 

to the natural characteristics of the watershed, as previously described.   

 

Review of additional documents 

 

Additional documents were reviewed to provide information on recovery needs and the 

history of steelhead trout in the Ventura River prior to the construction of dams.  Other 

documents were reviewed to ascertain whether the aforementioned impairments 

nonetheless exist in Reach 3.   

 

Regarding recovery needs,  Southern California Steelhead Recovery Plan states that 

steelhead in southern California comprise a “distinct population segment” (DPS) of the 

species Oncorhynchus mykiss that is ecologically and reproductively discrete from the 

remainder of the species along the West Coast. Therefore, under the Federal Endangered 

Species Act of 1973 (ESA), this DPS qualifies for protection as an individual species. In 

1997, the Southern California Steelhead DPS was first listed as an “endangered” species, 

or a species that is in danger of extinction throughout all or a significant portion of its 

range.  The critical recovery actions for the Ventura River as a whole include (1) 

implementing operating criteria to ensure the pattern and magnitude of water releases 

from the dams mimic the natural or pre-dam pattern and magnitude of streamflow and (2) 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 3 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

3 

 

physically modifying the dams to allow unimpeded migration of steelhead to upstream 

spawning and rearing habitats.  Additionally, identification, protection, and where 

necessary, restoration of estuarine and freshwater rearing habitats are seen as critical 

recovery actions.  Other recovery actions listed include: conduct hydrological analysis 

(groundwater), and develop and implement a groundwater monitoring program to address 

threats from groundwater extractions; and develop and implement a water management 

plan to address threats from dams and surface water diversions. However, there is no 

specific reference to any portion of Reach 3 in the document. 

 

The Ventura River Watershed Technical Investigation from 2003 states that with 

regards to potential enhancement, the mainstem Ventura River is a lower priority than the 

upper watershed tributaries and San Antonio Creek. The mainstem includes both 

perennial and non-perennial reaches and portions are used for steelhead rearing while 

other areas are primarily used as migratory habitat. The primary limiting factors within 

the mainstem perennial reaches are the amount of habitat with unsuitable structure (e.g. 

reduced canopy cover, lack of pool habitat) and water quality (e.g. temperature and 

dissolved oxygen). 

 

The draft History and Status of Steelhead in California Coastal Drainages South of 

San Francisco Bay contains historical information about the Ventura River steelhead 

population.  The Ventura River supported large and consistent runs of steelhead up until 

the late 1940s when prolonged drought and the construction of Matilija Dam on Matilija 

Creek decimated the population.  Even during the early to mid 1930s, the river below the 

mouth of Matilija Creek, where diversions greatly reduced streamflow, was considered to 

be of no value except during the winter when steelhead used the river as a migration 

corridor to reach the abundant spawning grounds upstream, especially in Matilija Creek.  

By the mid-1970s, run size was estimated to be an average of 100 individuals and is 

essentially the same at present. 

 

References about flow conditions within Reach 3 

 

While studies and reports have been prepared concerning stretches of the river involving 

the Foster Park subsurface dam and the Robles Diversion Dam (both in Reach 4), much 

less information is available for Reach 3.  This is downstream of the Foster Park 

diversion and the City of Ventura’s municipal wells but upstream of the discharge from 

the Ojai Valley Wastewater Treatment Plant.   It also overlays a different groundwater 

basin.  

 

Five references specifically commenting on water use and flow conditions within Reach 

3 were found.  Reach 3 overlies the beginning of the Lower Ventura River Groundwater 

Basin (Lower Subbasin), which receives flow from the Upper Ventura River 

Groundwater Basin (Upper Subbasin); consequently, the initial stretch of Reach 3 may 

flow at times but again this is highly dependent on the many factors previously described 

affecting flow.  The 2010 study and report, Groundwater Budget and Approach to a 

Groundwater Management Plan Upper and Lower Ventura River Basin, found the 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 3 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

4 

 

Upper Subbasin has a net annual gain of 1,466 ac-ft/yr of water during the period studied, 

1997-2007.   Groundwater flows out of the Upper Subbasin and into the Lower Subbasin 

at an estimated 535 ac-ft/yr.  There was a net discharge of water from groundwater to the 

surface in the Lower Subbasin during the period studied and was estimated at 1,254 ac-

ft/yr.  The long-term hydrographs of wells within the Upper Subbasin indicate stable 

groundwater levels with 5- to 10-year rise and decline cycles.  The study found no 

diversions within Reach 3 and only one domestic well.  An earlier study listed as many as 

five surface water diversions in this reach (Ventura River Steelhead Restoration and 

Recovery Plan, 1997) which itself was based on information in a report from 1981.  The 

Steelhead Recovery Plan also states that the Upper Subbasin is a very shallow, 

unconfined aquifer consisting of alluvium about 60 feet deep. The total storage capacity 

of the basin is about 14,000 AF, and it essentially empties during a 1 to 3 year critical dry 

year period.  However, it will refill within a period of weeks during flood conditions. The 

groundwater generally occurs under unconfined conditions, with the dominant source of 

recharge being direct infiltration of precipitation and percolation from local streambeds. 

Areas of naturally shallow bedrock underlie portions of the valley, creating conditions 

that prevent groundwater from being lost to deep percolation and causing water levels to 

remain or rise near the surface (such as at Foster Park where the natural situation is 

enhanced with the subsurface dam).  Naturally, the status of both surface water flows and 

the groundwater basin yield in Reach 4 has an effect on available water in Reach 3. 

 

The 1978 Conjunctive Use Report, by the environmental consulting company EDAW, 

states that maintaining dry season flows, or flow between storms, below Foster Park 

would be harder since the water would no longer be available for the domestic water 

supply.  The report also states that downstream from Foster Park there are two water 

diverters that pump water directly from the Ventura River for irrigation of citrus crops.  

Surface flows down to the treatment plant are formed by flows that get past Foster Park 

and by some rising groundwater downstream of Foster Park.   Although Reach 3 overlies 

a different groundwater basin (the Lower Ventura River Valley Groundwater Basin), 

some groundwater from the Upper Ventura River Groundwater Basin will at times reach 

the lower basin, either through subsurface flow or rising surface flow.  

 

The Conjunctive Use Report comments on seasonal differences in flow; it states the 

stretch of the river from Foster Park (the downstream end of Reach 4) to the Pacific 

Ocean has a winter base flow of 2-10 cubic feet per second (cfs) consisting of Oak View 

(now Ojai Valley) treatment plant effluent (just downstream of Reach 3) plus rising 

groundwater at Foster Park.  The typical summer base flow is listed as 2-6 cfs with no 

surface flow at Foster Park; summer flow in the stretch of the river from Foster Park to 

the ocean is dependent on the average daily discharge of about 2.5 cfs from the 

wastewater treatment plant.  The report states it is estimated that 75,000 to 100,000 gpd 

are lost through the gap at the east end of the subsurface dam at Foster Park and surfaces 

in Reach 3. By contrast, another section of the report states that the reach of the river 

below Foster Park to the wastewater treatment plant has essentially no flow.  However, a 

graphical representation of surface and subsurface flows of the river in the document 

indicates that surface flows resume a short distance downstream of Foster Park.   



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 3 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

5 

 

 

The Ventura River Steelhead Restoration and Recovery Plan (1997) references the 

flow gage at Foster Park; it is described as potentially underestimating low flows since it 

is located on the west bank, downstream of the Casitas Vista (Foster Park) bridge and 

away from some of the natural low flow channels.  Streamflow at this gage (USGS 

11118500 gage near Foster Park) represents net runoff flowing towards the ocean below 

Foster Park as a residual of the cumulative upstream water development and the City of 

San Buenaventura’s diversions; there is no other gaging physically in Reach 3.  Statistics 

of monthly mean data for the USGS 11118500 for water years 1930-1957 characterize 

the period after Matilija Dam was built but before Robles Dam went into operation.  The 

lowest minimum flows were 0 cfs for all months except March 1951 when 0.3 cfs was 

recorded.  Mean flows for any month during those years ranged from 2.51 cfs in 

September to 237 cfs in March.  Combined records of the observed surface flow in the 

river at the Foster Park gage and the City’s diversions have been reported since water 

year 1932 (USGS 11118501); they are considered more representative of the natural flow 

in the mainstem, at least above Foster Park.  Statistics of monthly mean data for the 

USGS 11118501 for water years 1933-1957, which includes the time period after 

Matilija Dam was built but before Robles Dam went into operation, show the lowest 

minimum flows occurring in December of 1933 (0.14 cfs) with a highest minimum flow 

occurring in March of 1951 (2.71 cfs).    Mean flows for any month during those years 

ranged from 8.12 cfs in October to 266 cfs in March.  Flow statistics are also available 

for the time period 1960-2007, which includes the time period during which both Robles 

and Casitas Dams went into operation.  Flow means, maxima, and minima were 

somewhat higher in the latter time period although the within year variability is similar 

and highly dependent on water year type (dry, normal, wet).  Ultimately, the flow records 

show a highly variable river system with flows greatly affected by water year type and 

seemingly less affected by diversions over the long term. 

 

The 1997 Ventura River Steelhead Survey describes the section of river from Foster 

Park to the Ojai Valley Sanitary District (encompassing Reach 3) as having moderate 

riparian cover with perennial flows and relatively few pools although one was large.  

And, historically the reach maintained year-round trout habitat as a result of the 

contribution of surface flows from the Casitas Springs reach (“live reach” in Regional 

Board Reach 4), and a shallow rising groundwater table.  

 

The National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA) Fisheries’ 2003 

Biological Opinion letter to the U.S. Bureau of Reclamation (USBR) concerning the 

planned Robles Diversion fishway states that the reach of the lower river currently 

maintaining a natural perennial surface flow extends from above San Antonio Creek 

(within Reach 4) all the way to the Pacific Ocean (including Reach 3).   

 

None of the documents comment directly on whether flows in Reach 3 have any impact 

on steelhead survival, migration, or reproduction (most studies and reports are 

concentrating on impacts from specific structures or activities rather than the river or 

watershed as a whole – studies are generally limited in time and thus may cover 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 3 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

6 

 

conditions only during a wet year(s) or only during a dry year(s)).  And, since the Foster 

Park subsurface dam was constructed between 1906 and 1908, well before any 

environmental review process was in place, there is no known quantitative documentation 

of what flows were in Reach 3 before the dam was constructed and diversions began.  

However, the 2004 Ventura River Ecosystem Restoration Feasibility Study cites a 

1946 (pre-Matilija Dam) CDFG report that states the Matilija Creek system supported 

2,000 to 2,500 fish in normal years, which was half the total run in the Ventura River 

system.  This implies thousands of fish were supported by the river system during a time 

period when the Foster Park Diversion was already in operation for several decades, 

which additionally implies that flows in Reach 3 were sufficient on average.  The 

feasibility study cites the completion of Matilija Dam in 1948 and the completion of the 

Robles Diversion and Casitas Dams (in Reach 4) in 1958 as the major factors in the 

decline of steelhead trout due to cutting off access to greater than 50% of their historical 

spawning habitat; the most precipitous decline began in the late 1950s.   

 

Historical conditions 

 

A 2011 historical ecology study of coastal Ventura County explored the historical 

characteristics (morphology, hydrology, and vegetation) of the Ventura River prior to 

major urban and agricultural modifications utilizing maps and other documents from as 

far back as the 1800s.  The study reported that documentation of flow conditions on the 

Ventura River consistently depicts three reaches with distinct summer flow regimes 

within the area studied (Matilija Hot Springs to the ocean).  Relevant to current-day 

Reaches 3 and 4, the study found flow was perennial from Matilija Hot Springs to around 

Cozy Dell Canyon (in the vicinity of the current-day Robles Diversion).  Below there the 

river became intermittent until Oak View and the river’s confluence with San Antonio 

Creek.  Perennial flow resumed from just above San Antonio Creek confluence down to 

the ocean.  However, the precise extent and location of summer water would have 

fluctuated in response to annual variations in rainfall and runoff (the report mentions 

some historical documents describing the river as an abundant source of water, while 

others describing it as an arid stream).  Thus, historical documentation supports that the 

upper part of the Regional Board’s Reach 4 was intermittent prior to any major water 

diversions or pumping, as it often is today, while the lower part of Reach 4, along with 

Reach 3, were perennial. 

 

Conclusions 

 

There were no data or information cited to support the original impairment listing of 

Reach 3 for diversions/pumping.  A review of available studies and reports relating to the 

river and, in particular, Reach 3 flows and how they might impact use by steelhead trout, 

does not indicate an impairment in this reach.  Instead, the studies and reports reveal a 

river with highly variable flow tied closely to short-term precipitation and longer-term 

cycles of wet and dry periods.  This is especially supported by the 2011 historical ecology 

study, which includes narratives from various explorers and residents who described 

alternately either a raging river or a dry stream while referring to the same stretch.  Major 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 3 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

7 

 

floods and droughts both occurred during the 1800s so this is not surprising.  More recent 

observations of flow in studies describing conditions during the 1970s through 2000s also 

alternate in a similar fashion depending on the water year type and occurrence during 

longer wet or dry periods.  

 

References 

 

Beller, EE, RM Grossinger, MN Salomon, SJ Dark, ED Stein, BK Orr, PW Downs, TR 

Longcore, GC Coffman, AA Whipple, RA Askevold, B Stanford, JR Beagle, 2011. 

Historical ecology of the lower Santa Clara River, Ventura River, and Oxnard Plain: an 

analysis of terrestrial, riverine, and coastal habitats. Prepared for the State Coastal 

Conservancy. A report of SFEI’s Historical Ecology Program, SFEI Publication #641, 

San Francisco Estuary Institute, Oakland, CA. 

 

Capelli, M, 1997.  Ventura River Steelhead Survey.  Prepared for California Department 

of Fish and Game. 

 

Daniel B Stephens & Associates, Inc., 2010.  Groundwater Budget and Approach to a 

Groundwater Management Plan Upper and Lower Ventura River Basin.  Prepared for 

Ventura County Watershed Protection District. 

 

EDAW, Inc., 1978.  Report on the Environmental Impacts of the Proposed Agreement 

Between Casitas Municipal Water District and the City of San Buenaventura for 

Conjunctive Use of the Ventura River – Casitas Reservoir System. 

 

Entrix, Inc, 2003.  Ventura River Watershed Technical Investigation, Summary Report 

and Recommendations.  Prepared for City of San Buenaventura. 

 

Entrix, Inc. and Woodward Clyde Consultants, 1997.  Ventura River Steelhead 

Restoration and Recovery Plan.  Prepared for the Ventura River HCP Group. 

 

McEwan, D, and T Jackson, 1996.  Steelhead Restoration and Management Plan for 

California.  California Department of Fish and Game. 

 

NMFS, 2012.  Southern California Steelhead Recovery Plan. 

 

NMFS, 2003.  Biological Opinion for the Proposed Robles Diversion Fish Passage 

Facility Project. 

 

Tetra Tech, 2009.  Natural Condition Report, Ventura River Watershed Hydrology 

Model.  Prepared for the Ventura County Watershed Protection District. 

 

Titus, RG, DC Erman, and WM Snider.  History and status of steelhead in California 

coastal drainages south of San Francisco Bay.  In preparation. 

 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 3 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

8 

 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2004.  Matilija Dam Ecosystem Restoration Feasibility 

Study. 

 

U.S. Bureau of Reclamation, 2007.  Hydrology, Hydraulics, and Sediment Studies for the 

Foster Park Well Design – Draft Report, Matilija Dam Ecosystem Restoration Project. 

 

 



1 

 

DRAFT Staff Report 

Ventura River Reach 4 

Water Diversions and Pumping Impairments 

 

Impairments from water diversions and pumping  in Ventura River Reach 4 (Coyote 

Creek to Camino Cielo Rd) are being considered for removal from the Clean Water Act 

(CWA) 303(d) list (TMDL required list) and placement on the CWA 303(d) list (being 

addressed by action other than TMDL) under Sections 2.2 and 4.11 of the Listing Policy. 

 

The impairments are described in the 1996 water quality assessment, where they 

originally appeared, as not supporting aquatic life uses.  A specific beneficial use, such as 

cold freshwater habitat or warm freshwater habitat was not cited although later listing 

cycles associated the impairment with cold freshwater habitat.  The draft  Steelhead 

Restoration and Management Plan for California of 1995 (prepared by the California 

Department of Fish & Game [DFG] and finalized in 1996) was cited as the data source 

with specific reference to Robles Diversion bypass flows and lack of fish passage.  The 

Foster Park subsurface diversion located at the downstream end of Reach 4 is not 

mentioned in the document, nor is there reference to any specific pumping activities.  

Reference to the management plan implies that impairment of the cold freshwater habitat 

beneficial use was the main concern since steelhead trout utilize colder waters.   

 

General background 

 

The Ventura River is the northernmost major river system within the Los Angeles 

Region; it drains an area of 235 square miles situated within the western Transverse 

Ranges.  Topography in the watershed is rugged and as a result, the surface waters that 

drain the watershed have very steep gradients, ranging from 40 feet per mile at the mouth 

to 150 feet per mile at the headwaters.  Streamflow is highly climate-driven and variable; 

total precipitation over the course of a year, the frequency and intensity of storms, the 

proceeding years’ rainfall regime (drought, normal, or wet), and other general weather 

characteristics (i.e., cooler than usual summers, warmer than usual winters) all contribute 

to any one year’s streamflows, which generally follow a pattern of higher flows in the 

winter/spring and lower flows in summer/fall.  Flow in any particular reach of the river is 

additionally affected by the status of the underlying groundwater basin (whether full, 

filling, or emptying), the occurrence of natural recharge areas where surface flows will 

disappear at times, flow between groundwater basins, and the amount of surface or 

groundwater withdrawals for municipal, domestic, or agricultural uses.  Residents, 

businesses, water utilities, and wildlife in the watershed are reliant on local water 

ultimately derived from precipitation; there is no infrastructure in place to import water. 

 

Southern steelhead trout are acclimated to these highly variable conditions.  During 

average to wet water-years, winter storms breach the lagoons often formed at the mouths 

of rivers.  This provides both access and a signal for the anadramous fish to leave the 

ocean and start the journey upstream to spawn.  In a watershed unrestricted by physical 

barriers to passage such as dams, the fish would normally transit through the mainstem of 

the river over several days and eventually spawn where habitat is generally most suitable, 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 4 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

2 

 

in tributaries such as Matilija Creek.  Even in barrier-free watersheds, however, smaller 

than normal winter storms might fail to breach the lagoon leaving the fish to stay in the 

ocean for another year.  Or a large initial storm might breach it but not be followed by 

enough subsequent rainfall to maintain streamflows in order for the fish to transit through 

the whole system.  The steelhead runs for years such as those might be very small to 

nonexistent.  In the Ventura River Watershed, during normal to wet years before dams 

were constructed that posed physical barriers (prior to 1948), the steelhead run was 

estimated at 4,000 – 5,000 individuals.  However, following the construction of Matilija 

Dam (located upstream of Reach 4), which cut off access to about half of the prime 

spawning habitat (in Matilija Creek), steelhead runs dropped to about 2,000 – 2,500 

individuals.  Once the Robles Diversion was constructed about 1959, access to good 

spawning habitat in the North Fork Matilija Creek was also cut off and fewer fish were 

produced that would eventually return to spawn as adults.  The steelhead run dropped to 

around 100 individuals, which then had to utilize remaining favorable areas mostly 

within the mainstem for spawning and rearing.  Considering the high flows that can occur 

in the mainstem with larger storms (relative to flows in the tributaries), access might be 

attained but spawning and rearing might prove to be impossible at times.  Conversely, 

during dry years, fish unable to transit back downstream to the ocean due to low flows 

must survive in pools in the mainstem and be subjected to elevated temperatures at times, 

endure competition with other fish for a decreasing food supply, and survive exposure to 

predators.  Spawning might not occur or be extremely limited due to lack of water at sites 

appropriate for spawning during wetter years.  While utilizing the mainstem by steelhead 

trout for their entire life cycle may work during some years, there will be many other 

years when this will not be feasible due to the natural characteristics of the watershed as 

previously described.   

 

Historical conditions 

 

A 2011 historical ecology study of coastal Ventura County explored the historical 

characteristics (morphology, hydrology, and vegetation) of the Ventura River prior to 

major urban and agricultural modifications utilizing maps and other documents from as 

far back as the 1800s.  The study reported that documentation of flow conditions on the 

Ventura River consistently depicts three reaches with distinct summer flow regimes 

within the area studied (Matilija Hot Springs to the ocean).  Relevant to the current-day 

Reach 4, the study found flow was perennial from Matilija Hot Springs to around Cozy 

Dell Canyon (in the vicinity of the current-day Robles Diversion).  Below there the river 

became intermittent until Oak View and the river’s confluence with San Antonio Creek.  

Perennial flow resumed from just above San Antonio Creek confluence down to the 

ocean.  However, the precise extent and location of summer water would have fluctuated 

in response to annual variations in rainfall and runoff (the report mentions some historical 

documents describing the river as an abundant source of water, while others describe it as 

an arid stream).  Thus, historical documentation supports that the upper part of the 

Regional Board’s Reach 4 was intermittent prior to any major water diversions or 

pumping, as it often is today, while the lower part of Reach 4 was perennial. 

 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 4 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

3 

 

 

Actions to Address Impairments (other than TMDLs) 

 

The Steelhead Restoration and Management Plan for California, the document used 

to establish the original impairment listings, identifies a number of recommended actions 

relating to Reach 4 including: 

 

• A fishway should be constructed at the Robles Diversion, and   

• DFG should negotiate improved bypass flows at the Robles Diversion.  The 

negligible bypass flow from the Robles Diversion often causes a complete dewatering 

of the middle reach of the Ventura River.  

• DFG should initiate discussions regarding the removal or modification of Matilija 

Dam to allow passage to headwater spawning and rearing areas. This would restore 

over 50% of the original spawning and rearing habitat in the Ventura River system. 

 

Various documents were reviewed to ascertain whether the impairments are being 

addressed by actions other than a TMDL.  They reveal a number of activities have 

occurred since 1996 relating to these impairments, including actions recommended by the 

management plan: 

 

• The Ventura River Steelhead Restoration and Recovery Plan was developed in 

1997.  The Plan identified a range of potential conservation actions to promote 

recovery and restoration of steelhead trout including, 1) passage measures to facilitate 

upstream and downstream migration, 2) non-flow related measures to improve 

habitat, 3) flow-related measures to improve habitat, and 4) population augmentation 

through supplementation of fish to increase steelhead populations. 

• Fish passage facilities were constructed at Robles Diversion in 2005 and the bypass 

flow pattern has been modified per NOAA Fisheries’ Biological Opinion (BO) of 

2003. 

• An Ecosystem Restoration Feasibility Study (2004) was conducted for the river; 

removal of Matilija Dam was recommended in order to restore the Matilija Creek and 

Ventura River ecosystem . 

• Development of a Habitat Conservation Plan (HCP) began in 1999.  NOAA Fisheries 

listed anadromous steelhead in the Southern California Evolutionarily Significant 

Unit (ESU), which includes the Ventura River, as endangered in August 1997 under 

the Endangered Species Act (ESA).  Consequently, any project or action that may 

affect steelhead or their habitats requires consultation with NOAA Fisheries to obtain 

an incidental “take” permit.  Since operation and maintenance (O & M) of water 

diversions, river and stream channels managed for flood control purposes, 

transportation facilities and sewage treatment plants may affect steelhead in the 

Ventura River, project operators must consult with NOAA Fisheries to obtain 

permits. Other endangered species are under the jurisdiction of U.S. Fish & Wildlife 

Service (USFWS).  To comply with the ESA, the O & M agencies are engaging in 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 4 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

4 

 

consultation with NMFS and USFWS under Section 10 and an HCP will serve as the 

basis for any incidental take permit. 

 

Additional Recommended Actions to Address Impairments 

 

• Support early development of a groundwater management plan by local water 

agencies. 

• Investigate (with State Board Water Rights) whether wells are pumping from 

percolating groundwater or subterranean streams.  Refer subterranean pumpers for 

water rights permitting and licensing. 

• Encourage enforcement by National Marine Fisheries Service of incidental take of 

steelhead trout in violation of the Endangered Species Act. 

 

Conclusions 

 

The Steelhead Restoration and Management Plan for California identified a number of 

potential actions that could occur in aid of steelhead trout recovery within Reach 4. The 

two recommended actions that directly impact Reach 4 have been completed; namely, the 

construction of a fish passage at the Robles Diversion and modification of bypass flows 

at Robles per NOAA Fisheries’ BO. Other recommended actions that indirectly affect the 

use of Reach 4 by steelhead trout are still underway.  A barrier such as Matilija Dam, 

physically located upstream in another reach, impacts the steelhead run in the Ventura 

River Reach 4 through forcing the fish to spend more of their lifespan in a portion of the 

mainstem which has intermittent flows, has less high quality spawning and rearing 

habitat, and where they are subject to higher temperatures and complete loss of water at 

times.  Efforts are underway to remove Matilija Dam. Once removal is accomplished, 

steelhead trout will be able to migrate upstream to tributaries with higher quality 

spawning and rearing habitat, as they did prior to 1948, rather than rely upon areas within 

the mainstem, such as Reach 4, for spawning and rearing. Reach 4 can then be utilized 

primarily for transit by steelhead trout between the ocean and upstream spawning habitat, 

as it was historically.   

 

The above actions primarily address activities affecting surface water (although an HCP 

can also encompass groundwater pumping activities).  In the Ventura River Watershed, 

ground and surface waters are closely interconnected.  Additional actions are 

recommended to address any contributions to the problem by groundwater withdrawals 

that may not be covered by the previously mentioned actions.   The local water agencies 

have stated their intention to eventually complete a groundwater management plan 

although they feel various studies need to be completed first.  The Regional Board will 

support early development of such a plan through letters of support for grants being 

pursued for needed studies.  The water agencies are encouraged to begin the process of 

forming a groundwater management agency as soon as possible and lay the foundation 

for plan development.  Additionally, while it is clear many wells are pumping from 

percolating groundwater, it is possible, based on anecdotal evidence provided by National 



Draft Staff Report        August 10, 2012 

Ventura River Reach 4 

CRWQCB – Los Angeles Region 

 

 

5 

 

Marine Fisheries Service, that some wells are pumping from subterranean streams which 

requires permitting and licensing by the State Board’s Division of Water Rights.  An 

investigation into this is needed, followed by appropriate action.  Finally, in lieu of a final 

HCP being available, and the fact that only public agencies would eventually be party to 

it, not private operators of diversions or wells, National Marine Fisheries Service should 

be encouraged to document incidental take of steelhead trout and pursue enforcement for 

violations of the Endangered Species Act.  

 

The actions completed in Reach 4, those underway in the watershed to remedy the 

impairment, and those additional actions recommended be pursued, qualify the Reach 4 

listings for water diversions and pumping to be moved to the “being addressed by action 

other than TMDL” list from the “TMDL required” list. 

 

References 

 

Beller, EE, RM Grossinger, MN Salomon, SJ Dark, ED Stein, BK Orr, PW Downs, TR 

Longcore, GC Coffman, AA Whipple, RA Askevold, B Stanford, JR Beagle, 2011. 

Historical ecology of the lower Santa Clara River, Ventura River, and Oxnard Plain: an 

analysis of terrestrial, riverine, and coastal habitats. Prepared for the State Coastal 

Conservancy. A report of SFEI’s Historical Ecology Program, SFEI Publication #641, 

San Francisco Estuary Institute, Oakland, CA. 

 

Entrix, Inc. and Woodward Clyde Consultants, 1997.  Ventura River Steelhead 

Restoration and Recovery Plan.  Prepared for the Ventura River HCP Group. 

 

McEwan, D, and T Jackson, 1996.  Steelhead Restoration and Management Plan for 

California.  California Department of Fish and Game. 

 

NMFS, 2003.  Biological Opinion for the Proposed Robles Diversion Fish Passage 

Facility Project.  National Marine Fisheries Service. 

 

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 2004.  Matilija Dam Ecosystem Restoration Feasibility 

Study. 



Casitas Municipal Water District

Monthly Cost Analysis

2012/2013

09/05/2012

Marzula & Operation Fisheries Project Name Cost of the

Marzula  of Robles Fish Passage Fish Passage

11-5-21-5049-12 11-5-??-????-14 11-5-28-50??-??

2003/2004 0.00 132,143.20 6,066.93

2004/2005 0.00 298,006.35 39,124.63 8,079,888.06

2005/2006 274,270.75 144,052.92 93,406.52 0.00

2006/2007 194,409.73 110,707.78 188,651.75 114,790.04

2007/2008 21,111.90 117,299.80 272,644.56 0.00

2008/2009 1,207.75 88,201.00 307,739.00 0.00

2009/2010 216,797.47 124,874.54 342,756.94 0.00

2010/2011 169,932.80 148,506.23 373,535.60 0.00

2011/2012 5,976.46 84,305.75 363,608.72 0.00

Expenditures

July 359.95 3,511.66 24,786.58

August 0.00 10,401.12 27,695.15

September

October

November

December

January

Feburary Less: Grants

CA Coastal Conservancy -1,750,000.00

March CA Dept of Fish & Game -1,500,000.00

CA Dept of Fish & Game -1,000,000.00

April Pacific States Marine -8,988.86

    (Timber Debris Fence)

May Pacific States Marine -18,980.00

    (Vaki Shroud)

June

Total Cost YTD 359.95 13,912.78 52,481.73 Total Cost TD    8,194,678.10

Less: Grant Funding    -4,277,968.86

Total Project Cost 884,066.81 1,262,010.35 2,040,016.38 Total Project Cost   3,916,709.24

Total: Operation of Robles, Fisheries and Fish Passage 7,218,735.97

Prepared by dcollin 09/05/2012 Page 1



        CASITAS RESERVOIR WATER INVENTORY SUMMARY
           2012 CALENDAR YEAR

(acre-feet)

           RESERVOIR               RESERVOIR  INFLOW  RESERVOIR RELEASES
         (last day of previous month) VENTURA CHANGE

RIVER TO MAIN   IN
MONTH ELEV (ft) STORAGE DIRECT DIVERS'N TOTAL PRECIP EVAP   SYSTEM SPILL STORAGE

JAN 548.02 205482 -95 0 -95 309 269 1139 0 -1194

FEB 547.52 204288 -10 0 -10 34 403 1123 0 -1503

MAR 546.89 202785 120 12 132 839 625 1010 0 -663

APR 546.64 202193 67 75 141 630 611 706 0 -547

MAY 546.44 201718 85 0 85 0 974 1331 0 -2220

JUN 545.50 199498 735 0 735 0 1001 2034 0 -2299

JUL 544.52 197199 -65 0 -65 2 1144 1842 0 -3049

AUG 543.21 194150 -45 0 -45 1 1155 2275 0 -3475

SEP 

OCT

NOV

DEC

(JAN) NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA

TOTAL 791 87 878 1814 6181 11460 0 -14949

reservoir capacity = 254,000 a.f. @ 567 ft.

u:\new\engineering\hydrology\casitas reservoir\casitasreservoir2012



CASITAS RESERVOIR WATER INVENTORY SUMMARY
2011/12 WATER YEAR

      (All Volumes in Acre-feet)

           RESERVOIR               RESERVOIR  INFLOW  RESERVOIR RELEASES
(last of previous month) VENTURA CHANGE

RIVER TO MAIN   IN
MONTH ELEV (ft) STORAGE DIRECT DIVERS'N TOTAL PRECIP EVAP   SYSTEM SPILL STORAGE

OCT '11 549.76 209680 -264 0 -264 363 576 1195 0 -1673

NOV '11 549.07 208008 -453 0 -453 576 312 797 0 -986

DEC '11 548.66 207022 -422 0 -422 60 160 1018 0 -1540

JAN '12 548.02 205482 -95 0 -95 309 269 1139 0 -1194

FEB '12 547.52 204288 -10 0 -10 34 403 1123 0 -1503

MAR '12 546.89 202785 120 12 132 839 625 1010 0 -663

APR '12 546.64 202193 67 75 141 630 611 706 0 -547

MAY '12 546.44 201718 85 0 85 0 974 1331 0 -2220

JUN '12 545.50 199498 735 0 735 0 1001 2034 0 -2299

JUL '12 544.52 197199 -65 0 -65 2 1144 1842 0 -3049

AUG '12 543.21 194150 -45 0 -45 1 1155 2275 0 -3475

SEP '12

OCT '12 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A

TOTAL -348 87 -261 2813 7229 14471 0 -19147

reservoir capacity = 254,000 a.f. @ 567 ft.

g:\engr.wks\hydrology\casitasdam\annual\casitasreservoir2012



June 30, 2012 Lake Storage @ 197,199 AF = 77.63% 

Total of Releases to Main Distribution System from Lake Casitas for WaterYear 2010/11 (October 1 thru September 30) = 14,490 Acre Feet

Full Lake storage = 254,002

Lake Casitas Storage Volume Comparison

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

200,000

250,000

300,000

Jan Apr Jul Oct Jan Apr Jul Oct Jan Apr Jul Oct Jan Apr Jul Oct Jan Apr Jul Oct Jan Apr Jul Oct Jan Apr Jul Oct

1986/1998/2006 1987/1999/2007 1988/2000/2008 1989/2001/2009 1990/2002/2010 1991/2003/2011 1992/2004/2012

Calendar Years

L
ak

e 
C

as
it

as
 S

to
ra

g
e 

(A
F

)

1998 to 2004
2006 to 2012
1986 to 1992



 
 

1

CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT 
LAKE CASITAS RECREATION AREA 

 
DATE:  August  21, 2012  
 
TO:  Steve Wickstrum, General Manager 
 
FROM: Carol Belser, Park Services Manager 
   
SUBJECT: Recreation Area Monthly Report for July 2012 
 
Visitation Numbers 
The following is a comparison of visitations for July 2012:   
 

 July 2011 July 2012 June 2012 
Visitor Days 128,936 109,868 77,776 
Camps 11,244 10,046 8,700 
Cars 32,234 27,467 19,444 
Boats 614 337 287 
Kayaks & Canoes 10 8 5 

 
Fiscal Year to Date Visitation 

2011/2012 128,936
2012/2013 109,871
% Change -14.786

 
Administration 
   
Astronomy Night was held on July 7 and the movie, Yogi Bear, was shown July 21. Approximately 30 
and 120 participants attended respectively.   
 
Boating  
There were 13 cables sold for new inspections, 19 boats were re-inspection and a total of 726 boats 
were retagged.  Three failed the first inspection.        
 
Shoreline fishing at night was held July 26, 27 and 28.  Moonlite fishing by boat was held on July 14 
with 9 boats participating.  
  
WON Bass night fishing tournament was held July 28 with 16 boats participating.  
 
Incidents  
There were several incidents requiring calls for outside support for emergency service.  They included 
two domestic disputes, an unconscious person, a fall victim, trouble breathing, a sick child, a fractured 
arm, a missing person, and a physical altercation.  
 
  
 



 
 

2

Revenue Reporting 
The figures below illustrate all Lake Casitas Recreation Area’s revenue collected in the respective 
month (operations, concessions, Water Adventure, etc.) per the District’s Financial Summary 
generated by the Finance Manager.  

$0

$100,000

$200,000

$300,000

$400,000

$500,000

$600,000

$700,000

$800,000

FY 10/11 FY 11/12 FY 12/13

FY 10/11 597,387 475,594 213568 140193 115366 102686 188851 173107 231315 298909 328936 420623

FY 11/12 667535 453210 213194 163821 116,761 106499 191523 229629 243,042 281,733 398,081 746,106

FY 12/13 682,163

July August Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb March April May June

LCRA TOTAL REVENUE

Note: June 2012 revenue included $128,000 
grant reimbursement from BOR and $80,000 
from Boating Waterways for a Patrol Vessel  

 
 
 
 
 
 



   CASITAS MUNICIPAL WATER DISTRICT

TREASURER'S MONTHLY REPORT OF INVESTMENTS

09/05/12

 

Type of Date of Amount of Current Rate of Date of % of Days to

Invest Institution CUSIP Maturity Deposit Mkt Value Interest Deposit Portfolio Maturity

*TB Federal Home Loan Bank 3133XSP930 12/13/13 $743,750 $725,711 3.125% 07/01/10 5.70% 458

*TB Federal Home Loan Bank 3133XWNB10 06/12/15 $729,603 $747,712 2.875% 07/01/10 5.87% 997

*TB Federal Home Loan Bank 3134A4VG60 11/17/15 $801,864 $795,753 4.750% 07/19/10 6.25% 1152

*TB Federal Home Loan MTG Corp 3134G3GT10 10/18/17 $220,000 $220,365 1.250% 01/03/12 1.73% 1843

*TB Federal Home Loan MTG Corp 3135G0ES80 11/15/16 $696,737 $704,159 1.375% 03/12/12 5.53% 1510

*TB Federal National MTG Association 3136FR3N10 09/20/16 $702,422 $700,336 2.125% 09/20/11 5.50% 1455

*TB Federal Home Loan MTG Corp 3137EABA60 11/17/17 $1,211,010 $1,216,060 5.125% 01/03/12 9.55% 1872

*TB Federal Home Loan MTG Corp 3137EABS70 09/27/13 $766,605 $729,148 4.125% 07/01/10 5.73% 382

*TB Federal Home Loan MTG Corp 3137EACD90 07/28/14 $739,907 $735,084 3.000% 07/01/10 5.77% 683

*TB Federal Home Loan MTG Corp 3137EACE70 09/21/12 $723,646 $700,616 2.125% 06/30/10 5.50% 16

*TB Federal Natl MTG Assn 31398AYY20 09/16/14 $739,123 $739,193 3.000% 07/01/10 5.81% 731

*TB US Treasury Inflation Index NTS 912828JE10 07/15/18 $1,055,030 $1,237,485 1.375% 07/06/10 9.72% 2110

*TB US Treasury Notes 912828JW10 12/31/13 $709,352 $711,816 1.500% 04/01/10 5.59% 476

*TB US Treasury Notes 912828LZ10 11/30/14 $718,129 $729,092 2.125% 07/01/10 5.73% 805

*TB US Treasury Notes 912828MB30 12/15/12 $709,707 $701,883 1.125% 06/30/10 5.51% 100

*TB US Treasury Inflation Index NTS 912828MF40 01/15/20 $1,041,021 $1,254,157 1.375% 07/01/10 9.85% 2650

Accrued Interest $59,036 $84,926

Total in Gov't Sec. (11-00-1055-00&1065) $12,366,942 $12,733,497 85.50%

*CD CD - $0 $0 0.000% 0.00%

Total Certificates of Deposit: (11.13506) $0 $0 0.00%

** LAIF as of:  (11-00-1050-00) N/A $443 $443 0.38% Estimated 0.00%

*** COVI as of: (11-00-1060-00) N/A $2,158,783 $2,158,783 0.81% Estimated 14.50%

TOTAL FUNDS INVESTED $14,526,168 $14,892,723 100.00%

Total Funds Invested last report $14,526,168 $14,857,750

Total Funds Invested 1 Yr. Ago $14,535,552 $14,839,628

**** CASH IN BANK (11-00-1000-00) EST. $2,859,097 $2,859,097

CASH IN Western Asset Money Market $3 $3 0.010%

CASH IN PIMMA Money Market $503,389 $503,389

TOTAL CASH & INVESTMENTS $17,888,657 $18,255,212

TOTAL CASH & INVESTMENTS 1 YR AGO $17,995,532 $18,299,608

*CD CD - Certificate of Deposit

*TB TB - Federal Treasury Bonds or Bills 

** Local Agency Investment Fund 

*** County of Ventura Investment Fund

Estimated interest rate, actual not due at present time.

**** Cash in bank

No investments were made pursuant to subdivision (i) of Section 53601, Section 53601.1 

and subdivision (i) Section 53635 of the Government Code.

All investments were made in accordance with the Treasurer's annual statement of 

investment policy.


	09-12-12 Agenda.pdf
	08-06-12 min
	Accept intake 9 rehab
	STREAMEM.2012-13
	joint funding agreement 2012-13
	Streamgageresol12-13
	Authorize PO for installation
	bill list
	Executive Minutes 09 05 2012
	Rec Minutes 09 04 12
	Water Res Minutes 08 20 2012
	Fin Minutes 08 16 12
	B&TRenovationBoardMemoRcmnd-090512
	Grant staff recommendation memo 09042012
	grant standard agreement std 213
	equipment grant resolution 09052012
	PestManagementPlan-BoardRcmndMemo-090512
	IMP DRAFT.Final.8.4.2011
	Pest.Management.Plan.Appendix.A
	Pest.Management.Plan.Appendix.B
	Pest.Management.Plan.Appendix.C
	Pest.Management.Plan.Appendix.D1
	Pest.Management.Plan.Appendix.D2
	Pest.Management.Plan.Exhibit.1.Cover
	Pest.Management.Plan.Exhibit.1.Map
	Pest.Management.Plan.Exhibit.2.CoverandMap
	LCIF Treasurer's Report 9-5-2012
	LCIF-MemoToBoard-TroutFunds-090512
	Bus Ord Revision 09 06 12
	BUS ADMIN ord rev-8 14 2012 Draft
	2011 Robles progress report (final)
	Fact Sheet Vent_River_Pumping 8-1-12 RWQWCB
	RWQCB Staff rpt Vent River Reach 3 8-15-12
	RWQCB Staff rpt Vent River Reach 4 8-15-12
	Board Report - Montly Costs 20012-13
	CalendarYearThru08-2012
	WaterYearThru08-2012
	DroughtPeriodThru062012
	LCRA-MonthRpt-Jul.2012
	Investment Report 09-05-2012

